

Year 2023

Thesis N° 285

## The assessment of sagittal balance in scoliosis

### surgery

### THESIS

PRESENTED AND PUBLICLY DEFENDED ON 11/07/2023

ΒY

#### Ms. ABOULMAKARIM Mahjouba

Born on 06 March 1996 in BENI MELLAL

### TO OBTAIN THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF MEDICINE KEYWORDS

Sagittal balance, scoliosis, spinopelvic parameters, posterior spinal fusion, outcome, quality of life, SRS-22r.

### JURY

- Mr. S. AIT BENALI Professor of Neurosurgery
- Mr. M. LAGHMARI Professor of Neurosurgery
- Mr. H. GHANNANE Professor of Neurosurgery
- Mr. T. SALAMA Professor of Pediatric Surgery

CHAIRMAN

SUPERVISOR

**MEMBERS OF THE** JURY



### HIPPOCRATIC OATH

At the time of being admitted as a member of the medical profession: I solemnly pledge to dedicate my life to the service of humanity; the health and wellbeing of my patient will be my first consideration;I will respect the autonomy and dignity of my patient; I will maintain the utmost respect for human life; I will not permit considerations of age, disease or disability, greed, ethnic origin, gender, nationality, political affiliation, race, sexual orientation, social standing or any other factor to intervene between myduty and my patient; I will respect the secrets that are confided in me, even after the patienthas died; I will practice my profession with conscience and dignity and inaccordance with good medical practices; I will foster the honor and noble traditions of the medical profession; I will give to my teachers, colleagues, and students the respect and gratitude that is their due I will share my medical knowledge for the benefit of the patient and the advancement of healthcare; I will attend to my health, well-being, and abilities in order toprovide care of the highest standard; I will not use my medical knowledge to violate human rights and civilliberties, even under threat; I make these promises solemnly, freely and upon my honour.

Declaration of Geneva, 1948

## LIST OF PROFESSORS

#### UNIVERSITE CADI AYYAD

#### FACULTE DE MEDECINE ET DE PHARMACIE MARRAKECH

**Doyens Honoraires** 

: Pr. Badie Azzaman MEHADJI

: Pr. Abdelhaq ALAOUI YAZIDI

#### ADMINISTRATION

Doyen
Vice doyen à la Recherche et la Coopération
Vice doyen aux Affaires Pédagogiques
Vice doyen chargé de la Pharmacie
Secrétaire Générale

- : Pr. Mohammed BOUSKRAOUI
- : Pr. Mohamed AMINE
- : Pr. Redouane EL FEZZAZI
- : Pr. Said ZOUHAIR
- : Mr. Azzeddine EL HOUDAIGUI

#### LISTE NOMINATIVE DU PERSONNEL ENSEIGNANTS CHERCHEURS PERMANANT

N°	Nom et Prénom	Cadre	Spécialité
01	BOUSKRAOUI Mohammed	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
02	CHOULLI Mohamed Khaled	P.E.S	Neuro pharmacologie
03	KHATOURI Ali	P.E.S	Cardiologie
04	NIAMANE Radouane	P.E.S	Rhumatologie
05	AIT BENALI Said	P.E.S	Neurochirurgie
06	KRATI Khadija	P.E.S	Gastro-entérologie
07	SOUMMANI Abderraouf	P.E.S	Gynécologie–obstétrique
08	RAJI Abdelaziz	P.E.S	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
09	KISSANI Najib	P.E.S	Neurologie
10	SARF Ismail	P.E.S	Urologie
11	MOUTAOUAKIL Abdeljalil	P.E.S	Ophtalmologie
12	AMAL Said	P.E.S	Dermatologie
13	ESSAADOUNI Lamiaa	P.E.S	Médecine interne

14	MANSOURI Nadia	P.E.S	Stomatologie et chirurgie maxillo faciale
15	MOUTAJ Redouane	P.E.S	Parasitologie
16	AMMAR Haddou	P.E.S	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
17	ZOUHAIR Said	P.E.S	Microbiologie
18	CHAKOUR Mohammed	P.E.S	Hématologie biologique
19	EL FEZZAZI Redouane	P.E.S	Chirurgie pédiatrique
20	YOUNOUS Said	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation
21	BENELKHAIAT BENOMAR Ridouan	P.E.S	Chirurgie générale
22	ASMOUKI Hamid	P.E.S	Gynécologie–obstétrique
23	BOUMZEBRA Drissi	P.E.S	Chirurgie Cardio-vasculaire
24	CHELLAK Saliha	P.E.S	Biochimie-chimie
25	SAMKAOUI Mohamed Abdenasser	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation
26	LOUZI Abdelouahed	P.E.S	Chirurgie-générale
27	AIT-SAB Imane	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
28	GHANNANE Houssine	P.E.S	Neurochirurgie
29	ABOULFALAH Abderrahim	P.E.S	Gynécologie–obstétrique
30	OULAD SAIAD Mohamed	P.E.S	Chirurgie pédiatrique
31	DAHAMI Zakaria	P.E.S	Urologie
32	EL HATTAOUI Mustapha	P.E.S	Cardiologie
33	ELFIKRI Abdelghani	P.E.S	Radiologie
34	KAMILI El Ouafi El Aouni	P.E.S	Chirurgie pédiatrique
35	MAOULAININE Fadl mrabih rabou	P.E.S	Pédiatrie (Néonatologie)
36	MATRANE Aboubakr	P.E.S	Médecine nucléaire
37	AIT AMEUR Mustapha	P.E.S	Hématologie biologique
38	AMINE Mohamed	P.E.S	Epidémiologie clinique
39	EL ADIB Ahmed Rhassane	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation

40	MANOUDI Fatiha	P.E.S	Psychiatrie
41	CHERIF IDRISSI EL GANOUNI Najat	P.E.S	Radiologie
42	BOURROUS Monir	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
43	ADMOU Brahim	P.E.S	Immunologie
44	TASSI Noura	P.E.S	Maladies infectieuses
45	NEJMI Hicham	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation
46	LAOUAD Inass	P.E.S	Néphrologie
47	EL HOUDZI Jamila	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
48	FOURAIJI Karima	P.E.S	Chirurgie pédiatrique
49	ARSALANE Lamiae	P.E.S	Microbiologie-virologie
50	BOUKHIRA Abderrahman	P.E.S	Biochimie-chimie
51	KHALLOUKI Mohammed	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation
52	BSISS Mohammed Aziz	P.E.S	Biophysique
53	EL OMRANI Abdelhamid	P.E.S	Radiothérapie
54	SORAA Nabila	P.E.S	Microbiologie-virologie
55	KHOUCHANI Mouna	P.E.S	Radiothérapie
56	JALAL Hicham	P.E.S	Radiologie
57	OUALI IDRISSI Mariem	P.E.S	Radiologie
58	ZAHLANE Mouna	P.E.S	Médecine interne
59	BENJILALI Laila	P.E.S	Médecine interne
60	NARJIS Youssef	P.E.S	Chirurgie générale
61	RABBANI Khalid	P.E.S	Chirurgie générale
62	HAJJI Ibtissam	P.E.S	Ophtalmologie
63	EL ANSARI Nawal	P.E.S	Endocrinologie et maladies métaboliques
64	ABOU EL HASSAN Taoufik	P.E.S	Anésthésie-réanimation
65	SAMLANI Zouhour	P.E.S	Gastro-entérologie

66	LAGHMARI Mehdi	P.E.S	Neurochirurgie
67	ABOUSSAIR Nisrine	P.E.S	Génétique
68	BENCHAMKHA Yassine	P.E.S	Chirurgie réparatrice et plastique
69	CHAFIK Rachid	P.E.S	Traumato-orthopédie
70	MADHAR Si Mohamed	P.E.S	Traumato-orthopédie
71	EL HAOURY Hanane	P.E.S	Traumato-orthopédie
72	ABKARI Imad	P.E.S	Traumato-orthopédie
73	EL BOUIHI Mohamed	P.E.S	Stomatologie et chirurgie maxillo faciale
74	LAKMICHI Mohamed Amine	P.E.S	Urologie
75	AGHOUTANE El Mouhtadi	P.E.S	Chirurgie pédiatrique
76	HOCAR Ouafa	P.E.S	Dermatologie
77	EL KARIMI Saloua	P.E.S	Cardiologie
78	EL BOUCHTI Imane	P.E.S	Rhumatologie
79	AMRO Lamyae	P.E.S	Pneumo-phtisiologie
80	ZYANI Mohammad	P.E.S	Médecine interne
81	GHOUNDALE Omar	P.E.S	Urologie
82	QACIF Hassan	P.E.S	Médecine interne
83	BEN DRISS Laila	P.E.S	Cardiologie
84	MOUFID Kamal	P.E.S	Urologie
85	QAMOUSS Youssef	P.E.S	Anésthésie-réanimation
86	EL BARNI Rachid	P.E.S	Chirurgie générale
87	KRIET Mohamed	P.E.S	Ophtalmologie
88	BOUCHENTOUF Rachid	P.E.S	Pneumo-phtisiologie
89	ABOUCHADI Abdeljalil	P.E.S	Stomatologie et chirurgie maxillo faciale
90	BASRAOUI Dounia	P.E.S	Radiologie
91	RAIS Hanane	P.E.S	Anatomie Pathologique

92	BELKHOU Ahlam	P.E.S	Rhumatologie
93	ZAOUI Sanaa	P.E.S	Pharmacologie
94	MSOUGAR Yassine	P.E.S	Chirurgie thoracique
95	EL MGHARI TABIB Ghizlane	P.E.S	Endocrinologie et maladies métaboliques
96	DRAISS Ghizlane	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
97	EL IDRISSI SLITINE Nadia	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
98	RADA Noureddine	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
99	BOURRAHOUAT Aicha	P.E.S	Pédiatrie
100	MOUAFFAK Youssef	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation
101	ZIADI Amra	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation
102	ANIBA Khalid	P.E.S	Neurochirurgie
103	TAZI Mohamed Illias	P.E.S	Hématologie clinique
104	ROCHDI Youssef	P.E.S	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
105	FADILI Wafaa	P.E.S	Néphrologie
106	ADALI Imane	P.E.S	Psychiatrie
107	ZAHLANE Kawtar	P.E.S	Microbiologie-virologie
108	LOUHAB Nisrine	P.E.S	Neurologie
109	HAROU Karam	P.E.S	Gynécologie-obstétrique
110	BASSIR Ahlam	P.E.S	Gynécologie obstétrique
111	BOUKHANNI Lahcen	P.E.S	Gynécologie obstétrique
112	FAKHIR Bouchra	P.E.S	Gynécologie–obstétrique
113	BENHIMA Mohamed Amine	P.E.S	Traumatologie-orthopédie
114	HACHIMI Abdelhamid	P.E.S	Réanimation médicale
115	EL KHAYARI Mina	P.E.S	Réanimation médicale
116	AISSAOUI Younes	P.E.S	Anésthésie-réanimation
117	BAIZRI Hicham	P.E.S	Endocrinologie et maladies métaboliques

118	ATMANE El Mehdi	P.E.S	Radiologie
119	EL AMRANI Moulay Driss	P.E.S	Anatomie
120	BELBARAKA Rhizlane	P.E.S	Oncologie médicale
121	ALJ Soumaya	P.E.S	Radiologie
122	OUBAHA Sofia	P.E.S	Physiologie
123	EL HAOUATI Rachid	P.E.S	Chirurgie Cardio-vasculaire
124	BENALI Abdeslam	P.E.S	Psychiatrie
125	MLIHA TOUATI Mohammed	P.E.S	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
126	MARGAD Omar	P.E.S	Traumatologie-orthopédie
127	KADDOURI Said	P.E.S	Médecine interne
128	ZEMRAOUI Nadir	P.E.S	Néphrologie
129	EL KHADER Ahmed	P.E.S	Chirurgie générale
130	LAKOUICHMI Mohammed	P.E.S	Stomatologie et chirurgie maxillo faciale
131	DAROUASSI Youssef	P.E.S	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
132	BENJELLOUN HARZIMI Amine	P.E.S	Pneumo-phtisiologie
133	FAKHRI Anass	P.E.S	Histologie–embyologiecytogénétique
134	SALAMA Tarik	P.E.S	Chirurgie pédiatrique
135	CHRAA Mohamed	P.E.S	Physiologie
136	ZARROUKI Youssef	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation
137	AIT BATAHAR Salma	P.E.S	Pneumo–phtisiologie
138	ADARMOUCH Latifa	P.E.S	Médecine communautaire (médecine
			préventive, santé publique et hygiène)
139	BELBACHIR Anass	P.E.S	Anatomie pathologique
140	HAZMIRI Fatima Ezzahra	P.E.S	Histologie–embyologie cytogénétique
141	EL KAMOUNI Youssef	P.E.S	Microbiologie-virologie
142	SERGHINI Issam	P.E.S	Anesthésie-réanimation

143	EL MEZOUARI El Mostafa	P.E.S	Parasitologie mycologie
144	ABIR Badreddine	P.E.S	Stomatologie et chirurgie maxillo faciale
145	GHAZI Mirieme	P.E.S	Rhumatologie
146	ZIDANE Moulay Abdelfettah	P.E.S	Chirurgie thoracique
147	LAHKIM Mohammed	P.E.S	Chirurgie générale
148	MOUHSINE Abdelilah	P.E.S	Radiologie
149	TOURABI Khalid	P.E.S	Chirurgie réparatrice et plastique
150	NADER Youssef	Pr Ag	Traumatologie-orthopédie
151	SEDDIKI Rachid	Pr Ag	Anesthésie-réanimation
152	ARABI Hafid	Pr Ag	Médecine physique et réadaptation fonctionnelle
153	BELHADJ Ayoub	Pr Ag	Anesthésie-réanimation
154	BOUZERDA Abdelmajid	Pr Ag	Cardiologie
155	ARSALANE Adil	Pr Ag	Chirurgie thoracique
156	ABDELFETTAH Youness	Pr Ag	Rééducation et réhabilitation fonctionnelle
157	REBAHI Houssam	Pr Ag	Anesthésie-réanimation
158	BENNAOUI Fatiha	Pr Ag	Pédiatrie
159	ZOUIZRA Zahira	Pr Ag	Chirurgie Cardio-vasculaire
160	SEBBANI Majda	Pr Ag	Médecine Communautaire (Médecine
			préventive, santé publique et hygiène
161	ABDOU Abdessamad	Pr Ag	Chirurgie Cardio-vasculaire
162	HAMMOUNE Nabil	Pr Ag	Radiologie
163	ESSADI Ismail	Pr Ag	Oncologie médicale
164	MESSAOUDI Redouane	Pr Ag	Ophtalmologie
165	ALJALIL Abdelfattah	Pr Ag	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
166	LAFFINTI Mahmoud Amine	Pr Ag	Psychiatrie
167	RHARRASSI Issam	Pr Ag	Anatomie-patologique

168	ASSERRAJI Mohammed	Pr Ag	Néphrologie
169	JANAH Hicham	Pr Ag	Pneumo-phtisiologie
170	NASSIM SABAH Taoufik	Pr Ag	Chirurgie réparatrice et plastique
171	ELBAZ Meriem	Pr Ag	Pédiatrie
172	BELGHMAIDI Sarah	Pr Ag	Ophtalmologie
173	FENANE Hicham	Pr Ag	Chirurgie thoracique
174	GEBRATI Lhoucine	Pr Hab	Chimie
175	FDIL Naima	Pr Hab	Chimie de coordination bio-organique
176	LOQMAN Souad	Pr Hab	Microbiologie et toxicolgie
71 77			environnementale
/ 1 / /	BAALLAL HASSAN	Pr Ag	Neurochirurgie
178	BELFQUIH Hatim	Pr Ag	Neurochirurgie
179	MILOUDI Mohcine	Pr Ag	Microbiologie-virologie
180	AKKA Rachid	Pr Ag	Gastro-entérologie
181	BABA Hicham	Pr Ag	Chirurgie générale
182	MAOUJOUD Omar	Pr Ag	Néphrologie
183	SIRBOU Rachid	Pr Ag	Médecine d'urgence et de catastrophe
184	DAMI Abdallah	Pr Ag	Médecine Légale
185	AZIZ Zakaria	Pr Ag	Stomatologie et chirurgie maxillo faciale
186	ELOUARDI Youssef	Pr Ag	Anesthésie-réanimation
187	LAHLIMI Fatima Ezzahra	Pr Ag	Hématologie clinique
188	EL FAKIRI Karima	Pr Ag	Pédiatrie
189	NASSIH Houda	Pr Ag	Pédiatrie
190	LAHMINI Widad	Pr Ag	Pédiatrie
191	BENANTAR Lamia	Pr Ag	Neurochirurgie
192	EL FADLI Mohammed	Pr Ag	Oncologie médicale
193	AIT ERRAMI Adil	Pr Ag	Gastro-entérologie

-			
194	CHETTATI Mariam	Pr Ag	Néphrologie
195	SAYAGH Sanae	Pr Ag	Hématologie
196	BOUTAKIOUTE Badr	Pr Ag	Radiologie
197	EL FILALI Oualid	Pr Ag	Chirurgie Vasculaire périphérique
198	EL- AKHIRI Mohammed	Pr Ag	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
199	HAJJI Fouad	Pr Ag	Urologie
200	OUMERZOUK Jawad	Pr Ag	Neurologie
201	JALLAL Hamid	Pr Ag	Cardiologie
202	ZBITOU Mohamed Anas	Pr Ag	Cardiologie
203	RAISSI Abderrahim	Pr Ag	Hématologie clinique
204	BELLASRI Salah	Pr Ag	Radiologie
205	DOUIREK Fouzia	Pr Ass	Anesthésie-réanimation
206	EL HAKKOUNI Awatif	Pr Ass	Parasitologie mycologie
207	BELARBI Marouane	Pr Ass	Néphrologie
208	AMINE Abdellah	Pr Ass	Cardiologie
209	CHETOUI Abdelkhalek	Pr Ass	Cardiologie
210	WARDA Karima	Pr Ass	Microbiologie
211	EL AMIRI My Ahmed	Pr Ass	Chimie de Coordination bio-organnique
212	CHAHBI Zakaria	Pr Ass	Maladies infectieuses
213	MEFTAH Azzelarab	Pr Ass	Endocrinologie et maladies métaboliques
214	ROUKHSI Redouane	Pr Ass	Radiologie
215	EL GAMRANI Younes	Pr Ass	Gastro-entérologie
216	ARROB Adil	Pr Ass	Chirurgie réparatrice et plastique
217	SALLAHI Hicham	Pr Ass	Traumatologie-orthopédie
218	ACHKOUN Abdessalam	Pr Ass	Anatomie
219	DARFAOUI Mouna	Pr Ass	Radiothérapie

220	EL-QADIRY Rabiy	Pr Ass	Pédiatrie
221	ELJAMILI Mohammed	Pr Ass	Cardiologie
222	HAMRI Asma	Pr Ass	Chirurgie Générale
223	ELATIQI Oumkeltoum	Pr Ass	Chirurgie réparatrice et plastique
224	BENZALIM Meriam	Pr Ass	Radiologie
225	ABOULMAKARIM Siham	Pr Ass	Biochimie
226	LAMRANI HANCH Asmae	Pr Ass	Microbiologie-virologie
227	HAJHOUJI Farouk	Pr Ass	Neurochirurgie
228	EL KHASSOUI Amine	Pr Ass	Chirurgie pédiatrique
229	SBAAI Mohammed	Pr Ass	Parasitologie-mycologie
230	FASSI FIHRI Mohamed jawad	Pr Ass	Chirurgie générale
231	BENCHAFAI Ilias	Pr Ass	Oto-rhino-laryngologie
232	SLIOUI Badr	Pr Ass	Radiologie
233	EL JADI Hamza	Pr Ass	Endocrinologie et maladies métaboliques
234	AZAMI Mohamed Amine	Pr Ass	Anatomie pathologique
235	YAHYAOUI Hicham	Pr Ass	Hématologie
236	ABALLA Najoua	Pr Ass	Chirurgie pédiatrique
237	MOUGUI Ahmed	Pr Ass	Rhumatologie
238	SAHRAOUI Houssam Eddine	Pr Ass	Anesthésie-réanimation
239	AABBASSI Bouchra	Pr Ass	Pédopsychiatrie
240	SBAI Asma	Pr Ass	Informatique
241	HAZIME Raja	Pr Ass	Immunologie
242	CHEGGOUR Mouna	Pr Ass	Biochimie
243	RHEZALI Manal	Pr Ass	Anesthésie-réanimation
244	ZOUITA Btissam	Pr Ass	Radiologie
245	MOULINE Souhail	Pr Ass	Microbiologie-virologie

246	AZIZI Mounia	Pr Ass	Néphrologie
247	BENYASS Youssef	Pr Ass	Traumato-orthopédie
248	BOUHAMIDI Ahmed	Pr Ass	Dermatologie
249	YANISSE Siham	Pr Ass	Pharmacie galénique
250	DOULHOUSNE Hassan	Pr Ass	Radiologie
251	KHALLIKANE Said	Pr Ass	Anesthésie-réanimation
252	BENAMEUR Yassir	Pr Ass	Médecine nucléaire
253	ZIRAOUI Oualid	Pr Ass	Chimie thérapeutique
254	IDALENE Malika	Pr Ass	Maladies infectieuses
255	LACHHAB Zineb	Pr Ass	Pharmacognosie
256	ABOUDOURIB Maryem	Pr Ass	Dermatologie
257	AHBALA Tariq	Pr Ass	Chirurgie générale
258	LALAOUI Abdessamad	Pr Ass	Pédiatrie
259	ESSAFTI Meryem	Pr Ass	Anesthésie-réanimation
260	RACHIDI Hind	Pr Ass	Anatomie pathologique
261	FIKRI Oussama	Pr Ass	Pneumo-phtisiologie
262	EL HAMDAOUI Omar	Pr Ass	Toxicologie
263	EL HAJJAMI Ayoub	Pr Ass	Radiologie
264	BOUMEDIANE El Mehdi	Pr Ass	Traumato-orthopédie
265	RAFI Sana	Pr Ass	Endocrinologie et maladies métaboliques
266	JEBRANE IIham	Pr Ass	Pharmacologie
267	LAKHDAR Youssef	Pr Ass	Oto-rhino-larvngologie
268	LGHABI Majida	Pr Ass	Médecine du Travail
269	AIT LHAJ El Houssaine	Pr Ass	Ophtalmologie
270	RAMRAOUI Mohammed-Es-said	Pr Ass	Chirurgie générale
271	EL MOUHAFID Faisal	Pr Ass	Chirurgie générale

#### LISTE ARRETEE LE 22/06/2023

## DEDICATIONS

#### In loving memory of my dear father,

I dedicate my degree to you, for you were my guiding light, my unwavering support, and my greatest inspiration. Though you are no longer here with me, the depths of my love for you transcend time and space. Your memory lives on in my heart, and my love for you remains eternal.

You were the embodiment of compassion, selflessness, and constant support. Your words of wisdom, love, and encouragement propelled me forward, pushing me to overcome obstacles and reach for the stars. Through your example, you instilled in me the values of empathy, perseverance, and the pursuit of knowledge.

As I embark on this new chapter, I carry your memory within me. This degree is not only a testament to my work and dedication but also a tribute to your unwavering belief in my abilities and the profound impact you had on my life. Though I deeply wish you were here to witness this achievement, I know that you are watching over me, filled with pride and joy, guiding my every step. I am forever grateful for the unconditional love, sacrifices, and guidance you provided, both in life and in memory.

Your memory will forever be intertwined with my academic journey, reminding me of the strength and determination you exemplified throughout your life.

Thank you for being my source of strength and my eternal inspiration. This achievement is dedicated to you with profound love and gratitude.

I love you, dad.

#### To my amazing mother,

Words cannot express the depth of my gratitude and admiration for you. Throughout my life, you have been my unwavering pillar of strength and my source of unconditional love and support.

In moments of uncertainty, you have been my rock, providing wisdom, guidance, and a shoulder to lean on. Your sacrifices and selflessness have been the foundation upon which I have built my dreams. You have always put my needs before your own, and for that, I am eternally grateful.

As I stand at the culmination of my degree, I dedicate it to you, my sweet mother. I carry your love, support, and encouragement in my heart as I pursue my dreams, knowing that you will always be by my side. This accomplishment is as much yours as it is mine, for without you, I would not be the person I am today.

Je t'aime ma petite maman.

#### To my extraordinary sister, my ride or die,

*Throughout my journey, you have been my constant source of inspiration. Your presence in my life has brought immeasurable joy and strength.* 

You have consistently shown me the true meaning of love, compassion, and resilience. I am forever grateful for the countless ways you have uplifted me, encouraged me, and believed in me. You have not only been my sister but also my mentor, confidante, and my best friend.

Thank you for being my role model, greatest teacher and my guiding light. This degree is a testament to the love, guidance, and influence you have had on my life. With immense love and deep appreciation, I dedicate this achievement to you, may our bond continue to grow stronger, and may we continue to inspire and uplift each other on this remarkable journey called life.

I love you, sunshine.

Lastly, I want to extend my heartfelt appreciation to my beloved family and friends who have provided unwavering support throughout this journey. Your presence and encouragement have been instrumental in this accomplishment.

I am also deeply grateful to the esteemed professors whose guidance and expertise have shaped my knowledge and skills. Each and every one of you has made a profound impact on my life, and I am eternally grateful.

To all those whom I inadvertently failed to mention, but who hold a special place in my heart, and to all those who have directly or indirectly contributed to the accomplishment of this work, I express my sincere appreciation.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

# *This thesis is the culmination of the mentorship from a number of individuals. I wish to thank all whose assistance was a milestone in the completion of this work.*

#### To Professor AIT BENALI Said, Thesis Chairperson Head of the Neurosurgery Department

 You granted us the tremendous honor by agreeing to chair our thesis committee. We sincerely appreciate your time, commitment, and contributions to the evaluation of our work. Thank you for your esteemed presence and guidance throughout this process.
This work serves as a testament to express our profound appreciation and deep admiration for your exceptional scientific and human qualities.

#### To my supervísor, Professor LAGHMARI Mehdí, Professor of Neurosurgery

I would like to express my sincere and special regards for your invaluable guidance, support, and expertise throughout the research and writing process. Your dedication, encouragement, and insightful feedback have been instrumental in shaping the outcome of this thesis. I am truly grateful for your mentorship and for believing in my capabilities. Thank you for your unwavering commitment and for sharing your knowledge and expertise with me.

#### To Professor, GHANNANE Houssine, Thesis jury member Professor of Neurosurgery

Your gracious acceptance to serve as a distinguished member of this esteemed committee fills us with profound gratitude. We are deeply honored by your presence and your genuine interest in our thesis topic. Your vast knowledge and expertise will undoubtedly enrich our work. Please find here the expression of my utmost respect and admiration.

#### To Professor, SALAMA Tarík, Thesís jury member Professor of Pedíatríc Surgery

Thank you for the great honor you bestow upon us by accepting to be part of this esteemed committee. Your willingness to contribute your time, expertise, and valuable insights is truly appreciated. Please accept my sincerest expression of high esteem, utmost consideration, and deep respect.

## TABLES AND FIGURES

### List of tables

Table I	: Characteristics of the study population by age.
Table II	: Risser stage of the studied population.
Table III	: Coronal plane curve characteristics of the studied population.
Table IV	: Mean values of the CVA in the subgroups.
Table V	: The mean preoperative spinopelvic parameters of all subjects.
Table VI	: Surgical data of the studied population.
Table VII	: Average Follow-up period of the cohort.
Table VIII	: Pre-operative, immediate post-operative and last follow-up values.
Table IX	: Cobb angle assessment for the total patient sample.
Table X	: Comparison of coronal parameters change between the two treatment
	groups at early postoperative and final follow-up.
Table XI	: Comparisons of Coronal Balance Between the balanced and imbalanced
	groups.
Table XII	: Summary of changes in sagittal parameters by subgroups.
Table XIII	: Comparison of thoracic kyphosis restoration between the two groups.
Table XIV	: Mean preoperative, early post-operative and at final follow-up values of
	the pelvic parameters.
Table XV	: Comparison of sagittal vertical axis change between pedicle screw (PS)
	and sublaminar band (SB) patients.
Table XVI	: Comparison of pelvic incidence minus lumbar lordosis change between
	pedicle screw (PS) and sublaminar band (SB) patients.
Table XVII	: SRS-22 Questionnaire scores before and after surgical correction.
Table XVIII	: Correlation between different domains of SRS-22 questionnaire after
	surgical correction.
Table XIX	: Correlation between the last follow up radiographic measurements and
	patient-reported outcomes after surgery.
Table XX	: Chronological classification of AIS
Table XXI	: Location of apex of the curve
Table XXII	: King Classification: 5 Sub-Groups According to the Primary Curve and
	Compensatory Curve.

## List of figures

Figure 1 : Flowchart of the selection process of the patients in the study Figure 2 : Preoperative and post-operative radiographs and clinical photographs of a 17-year-old female patient with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS) : Radiographic representation of spinal parameter using whole spine AP Figure 3 and lateral x-rays. Figure 4 : Sacro-pelvic parameters including sacral slope (SS); pelvic tilt (PT); pelvic incidence (PI). Figure 5 : Distribution of studied population by age at the time of surgery. Figure 6 : Distribution of studied population by gender. Figure 7 : Aetiology distribution within the study population. Figure 8 : Distribution of the study population by chief complaints Figure 9 : Percentage distribution of studied population by the angle of trunk rotation : Distribution of curve patterns as per Lenke classification in patients. Figure 10 Figure 11 : Distribution of Lenke classification subtypes in the studied patients. Figure 12 : Distribution of the global coronal balance in the studied population Figure 13 : The pre-operative distribution of Thoracic Kyphosis (TK) in the studied population. Figure 14 : The pre-operative distribution of Lumbar Lordosis (LL) for the entire cohort. Figure 15 : The preoperative distribution of Pelvic Incidence in the cohort. Figure 16 : The preoperative distribution of Sacral Slope in the cohort. : The preoperative distribution of Pelvic Tilt in patients. Figure 17 : Distribution of the global sagittal balance in the studied population. Figure 18 Figure 19 : The distribution of patients by the PI-LL value. Figure 20 : Intraoperative picture showing implant placement and deformity correction. Figure 21 : Upper instrumented vertebra (UIV) and lower instrumented vertebra (LIV) distribution in patients. Figure 22 : Pie chart demonstrating perioperative complications following the operative procedure. Figure 23 : Primary Cobb angle correction for the entire patient cohort. Figure 24 : Postoperative coronal correction of the cobb angle at the PT curve between the two groups. Figure 25 : Postoperative coronal correction of the cobb angle at the MT curve between the two groups. Figure 26 : Postoperative coronal correction of the cobb angle at the TLL curve between the two groups. Figure 27 : Coronal balance variation between the Preoperative balanced and imbalanced groups. Figure 28 : Variations in sagittal parameters in the entire cohort.

Figure 29 : Thoracic kyphosis improvement in patients. Figure 30 : Chart showing comparison of Thoracic kyphosis change between pedicle screw (PS) and sublaminar band (SB) patients. Figure 31 : Pelvic Incidence distribution in the studied population before and after surgery. Figure 32 : Pelvic Tilt distribution in the studied population before and after surgery. : Sacral Slope distribution in the studied population before and after Figure 33 surgery. Figure 34 : Sagittal vertical axis variation in patients before and after surgery. Figure 35 : Sagittal Balance restoration of the entire cohort. Figure 36 : Post-operative improvement of the PI-LL mismatch in studied population. : PI-LL mismatch distribution across the entire cohort before and after Figure 37 surgery. Figure 38 : Clinical outcomes of Scoliosis Research Society-22r score after surgery. Figure 39 : Vertebral column with spinal curvatures. Figure 40 : Vertebral motion segment. Figure 41 : Development of primary and secondary curves. Figure 42 : Development of spinal curvatures. : Standard imaging of a patient with scoliosis: 2D AP (frontal) and lateral x-Figure 43 ray views. : Images from a CT examination for detailed skeletal assessment. Frontal Figure 44 plane (left), 3D reconstruction (middle left), axial plane (middle right) and sagittal plane (right). Figure 45 : Simultaneous lateral and frontal EOS radiographs. (A) of the spine. (B) of the whole body. (C) 3D bone construction of the spine in frontal and lateral views. Figure 46 : The Cobb angle measurement method. : The Ponseti-Friedman classification of scoliosis. Figure 47 Figure 48 : King's classification of scoliosis, based on a single coronal X-ray image. Figure 49 : Lenke classification system of curve type. : Abelin-Genevois classification. Figure 50 : Surgical treatment of scoliosis using all-pedicle screw instrumentation. Figure 51 Figure 52 : Surgical treatment of scoliosis with posteromedial translation using sublaminar bands. Figure 53 : Spinal curvatures compensatory patterns. Figure 54 : Pelvic parameters. PI, pelvic incidence; PT, pelvic tilt; SS sacral slope. Figure 55 : Geometrical construction of the pelvic parameters described by Dubal-Beaupère. PI=PT+SS. Figure 56 : Difference in Pelvic tilt range regarding the value of pelvic incidence (PI). : Schematic representation of the thoracic kyphosis (TK) angle. Figure 57.A Figure 57.B : Schematic representation of the lumbar lordosis (LL) angle. Figure 58 : "Geometric" sagittal construction of the spine according to Berthonnaud in upright stance. Figure 59 : Schematic representation of the sagittal vertical axis (SVA).

- Figure 60 : Sagittal classification of back type in healthy subjects according to Roussouly et al.
- Figure 61 : The modified Roussouly classification
- **Figure 62** : Postoperative radiographs of 17-year-old girl with severe hypokyphosis treated with hybrid instrumentation using sublaminar bands.

## ABBREVIATIONS

## List of abbreviations

AE	· Annulus fibrosis
	: Adoloscont Idionathic Scoliosic
	: Autorescent hubpathic scolosis
	: Anterior spinal fusion
	: Andertor spinal rusion
	: C7 plumb line
	: Cervical lordosis
CR	: Correction ratio
	: Central sacral vertical line
CT	: Computed tomography
	: Coronal vertical axis
FRI	: Estimated blood loss
FCHO	· Echocardiography
FKG	· Electrocardiogram
FH	· Femoral heads
FSU	: Functional spinal unit
GCB	: Global coronal balance
GSB	: Global sagittal balance
HRQoL	: Health-related quality of life
ICU	: Intensive care unit
IVD	: Intervertebral disc
LIV	: Lower instrumented vertebrae
LL	: Lumbar lordosis
MEP	: Motor evoke potential
MFS	: Marfan syndrome
MRI	: Magnetic resonance imaging
МТ	: Main thoracic
ORT	: Operative time
PFT	: Pulmonary Function Testing
PI-LL	: Pelvic incidence minus lumbar lordosis
PI	: Pelvic incidence
PJK	: Proximal junctional kyphosis
PMT	: Posteromedial translation
PROMs	: Patient reported outcome measures
PS	: Pedicle screw
PSF	: Posterior spinal fusion
РТ	: Pelvic tilt
PT	: Proximal thoracic
RBC	: Red blood cells
SB	: Sublaminar bands
SRS-22r	: Scoliosis Research Society Questionnaire version 22 revised.

SRS	: Scoliosis Research Society
SS	: Sacral slope
SSEP	: Somatosensory evoked potential
SSI	: Surgical site infection
SVA	: Sagittal vertical axis
ТК	: Thoracic kyphosis
TL/L	: Thoracolumbar/ lumbar
UIV	: Upper instrumented vertebrae
2D, 3D	: Two-dimensional, three-dimensional

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

MATERIALS AND METHODS	4	
I. Aim	5	
II. Study Design		
III. Study Population	5	
IV. Methods	6	
1. Clinical Evaluation and Surgical Data	6	
2. Surgical Procedure		
3. Radiological Measurements and Analysis	9	
4. Functional Outcomes and Complications Assessment		
V. Statistical Analysis		
VI. Informed Consent		
RESULTS	13	
I.Demographic Data		
1. Age at surgery		
2. Gender	15	
3. Aetiology	15	
II. Clinical Data	16	
1. Clinical Features	16	
2. Physical Examination		
III. Preoperative Radiographic Evaluation		
1. Risser Classification	1.8	
2. Coronal Radiographic Parameters	19	
3. Sagittal Radiographic Parameters	22	

DISCUSSION	
Part I: Review	53
I. The Normal Spine	53
1. Spinal Alignment	53
2. Spinal Column: Anatomy and Structure	54
3. Development of Spinal Morphology	55
II. Scoliosis	57
1. Definitions	57
2. Radiographic Evaluation	58

IV. Operative Management271. Preoperative Assessment272. Perioperative Assessment283. Post-operative Assessment31V. Surgery Outcomes331. Radiographic Outcome332. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROM)48

3. Classifications	<u>60</u>
4. Management of Scoliosis	67
III. Sagittal Balance of the Spine	<u></u>
1. Pelvic Parameters	
2. Spinal Parameters	<u></u>
3. Global Sagittal Balance	<u></u>
4. Spino-pelvic morphotypes and Sagittal Balance of the Spine in Normal	Asymptomatic
Subjects: The Roussouly Classification	80
Part II: General Discussion and Conclusions	83
I. Analysis of changes on spinal parameters	<u></u>
1. In the coronal plane	<u></u>
2. In the sagittal plane	<u>84</u>
3. Influence of instrumentation on initial coronal and sagittal radiologica	l correction:
Posteromedial translation using sublaminar bands versus rod-derotati	on with pedicle
II Analysis of changes on sacro-nelvic narameters	<u>88</u>
III. Reciprocal sagittal interactions	00 00
IV Complications	<u>90</u>
V. Patient-reported outcome measures (PROM) following surgery	
VI. Strengths and limitations of the study	94
CONCLUSIONS	
ABSTRACTS	98
APPENDICES	105
BIBLIOGRAPHY	120

## INTRODUCTION

Human bipedalism is exclusive, stable, and ergonomic. Unlike other vertebrates, the human spine comprises successive, opposing curves which allow the trunk to maintain an erect position (1). In order to maintain this balanced posture, an optimal combination of spinal, spinopelvic, and lower limb joint alignments is required. Certain conditions can compromise the natural curvature of the spine and lead to suboptimal sagittal alignment, one of such is scoliosis.

Scoliosis is a complex three-dimensional (3D) deformity of the spine, classically defined as a lateral curvature of the spine of more than 10° in the coronal plane, associated with vertebral rotation in the axial plane. It is also known that scoliosis is usually associated with a loss of thoracic kyphosis (2-4). The surgical management of scoliosis remains controversial, particularly regarding the optimal posterior fusion strategy (5,6). However, there appears to be a consensus on the necessity to stabilize the deformity and restore the coronal and sagittal balance of the trunk.

The importance of sagittal spinopelvic organization in spinal deformity and the necessity of its restoration after surgical treatment are now well recognized in the literature (7). Parameters that allow the assessment of sagittal balance are commonly used. Geometrical parameters, described by Duval-Beaupère (8,9), characterize pelvic shape and orientation, including pelvic incidence (PI), pelvis tilt (PT), and sacral slope (SS). These parameters are interrelated by the formula: PI = PT + SS. Several parameters, such as lumbar lordosis (LL) and thoracic kyphosis (TK), are used to describe the different curvatures of the spine. In terms of the global orientation of the spine, C7 positioning is generally accepted for its stability over the pelvis and femoral heads in the balanced asymptomatic population (10).

Sagittal malalignment has been shown to affect the clinical outcomes and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) of patients with all types of scoliosis, ranging from mild to severe. Therefore, identifying and maintaining correct sagittal alignment, establishing a normative range, and determining the necessary degree of correction in spinal deformity patients proves to be crucial for developing treatments that can achieve and sustain significant benefit.

This study was therefore conducted to analyze the impact of posterior instrumented

fusion on sagittal balance and spinopelvic parameters in the setting of scoliosis and to evaluate the clinical-functional outcomes of surgical correction, validated by patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs), to determine utility in clinical decision-making.
## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## I. <u>Aim</u>

The purpose of our study was to assess pre- and post-operative spinopelvic sagittal alignment and evaluate the sagittal plane reciprocal changes following posterior spinal fusion in the setting of scoliosis. Furthermore, this study aimed to investigate the correlation between the restoration of spinal balance and improvement of functional outcomes using patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs).

## II. Study Design

A retrospective single-center analysis of the spinopelvic and global sagittal parameters of patients who underwent posterior spinal instrumented fusion surgery for spinal deformity at the Neurosurgery department in Mohammed VI University Hospital of Marrakech within the period from January 2016 until December 2022 was carried out.

## III. Study Population

As inclusion criteria, all patients affected by spinal deformity and who received anteroposterior (AP) and lateral standing radiographs as part of routine clinical assessment prior to scoliosis correction and with a minimum clinical and radiologic follow-up of 12 months following surgery at our department were selected (n=17).

Exclusion criteria were: (1) patients with incomplete medical records; (2) unsuitable examinations (low radiographic density, incomplete inclusion of the pelvis, and poor clarity of the spinopelvic parameters); or (3) inadequate follow-up.

A total of 10 patients (8 female and 2 male), treated by posterior arthrodesis, satisfied the inclusion criteria and were included in our study. Figure 1 shows the flowchart of patient selection.



Figure 1: Flowchart of the selection process of the patients in the study

## IV. Methods

## 1. Clinical Evaluation and Surgical Data

Prior to surgical correction, all patients underwent a comprehensive evaluation, which consisted of a patient health history, physical and neurological examinations. Specific attention was given to assessing any disturbances of motor strength in the upper and lower extremities, exploration of sensation of the extremities and trunk, including cold and warm sensation, tendon reflexes and pathological pyramidal signs (levels of cutaneous abdominal reflexes, Babinski phenomenon, or increased muscle tone). (please refer to Appendix 1 for the Patient Information Form)

Pulmonary Function Testing (PFT) and Echocardiography (ECHO) to assess cardiopulmonary function and the presence of congenital cardiac malformations, respectively, were performed on each patient.

The operative information and surgical results, including operative time (ORT), estimated blood loss (EBL), and fusion status were reviewed.

#### 2. <u>Surgical Procedure</u>

All patients underwent posterior-only approach correction and instrumentation (Figure 2). The primary aim of the surgery was to obtain a solid fusion and a balanced spine in the coronal and sagittal planes in all patients.

Under general anesthesia, patients were placed prone on a Jackson table with intraoperative Neurophysiological monitoring (motor evoke potential [MEP] and somatosensory evoked potential [SSEP]. The posterior elements of the predecided fusion levels of the spine were exposed by subperiosteal paraspinal muscle stripping. Instrumentation using either all pedicle-screw (PS) or hybrid construct combining pedicle screws and sublaminar bands (SB) was implemented. The correction was performed using two 5.5-mm diameter titanium rods, contoured according to the desired sagittal alignment, and was attained through manipulation of the screws and derotation of the rod or by posteromedial translation. Additional correction was obtained by means of compression of the curve on its convexity, relaxation of the concavity, or modeling of the rod. The surgery was finished with a tight closure of the layers with placement of a subfascial drain.



Figure 2: 17-year-old female patient with an adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS) who underwent posterior spinal instrumentation and fusion. (A, B) Preoperative anteroposterior (AP) and lateral x-rays. (C, D) Post-operative AP and lateral x-rays. (E, F) Clinical photographs preoperatively. (G) Clinical photographs at follow-up. After surgical correction a satisfactory coronal and sagittal spinal balance were restored.

## 3. Radiological Measurements and Analysis

For each patient, Computed Tomography (CT) scans, as well as full spine standing anteroposterior (AP) and lateral x-rays were acquired with a standardized radiographic protocol. Acquisitions were performed pre-operatively, early post-operatively, and at most recent follow-up. The radiographic parameters were conducted using validated software (Surgimap® version 2.3.2.1) (11,12) (Figures 3 and 4).



**Figure 3**: Radiographic representation of spinal parameter using whole spine AP and lateral xrays: C7 plumb-line (C7PL); thoracic Cobb angle (TC); lumbar Cobb angle (LC); global coronal balance (GCB); central sacral vertical line (CSVL); thoracic kyphosis (TK); lumber lordosis (LL); sagittal vertical axis (SVA). In (A), the assessment of coronal balance. Line A (GCB) stood for the width between the central sacral vertical line (Line C, CSVL) and the mid-C7 vertebra plumb line. (B,C) Showed the parameters of TC, TC, LC, TK, LL, SVA.



Figure 4: Sacro-pelvic parameters: sacral slope (SS); pelvic tilt (PT); pelvic incidence (PI).

The parameters recorded in the coronal plane included:

- 1. The Risser sign was used to denote the degree of skeletal maturity (Appendix 2).
- 2. Cobb angle of proximal thoracic (PT), main thoracic (MT), and thoracolumbar/lumbar (TL/L) curve.
- 3. Global coronal balance (GCB) was measured as the distance between the vertical line through the centre of C7 (C7 plumb line) and the midpoint of the S1 endplate (CSVL). A negative value indicated that the C7PL was right to the CSVL. Coronal imbalance is defined while this distance (CVA) exceeds 20mm.
- 4. Correction ratio: [(Preoperative Cobb angle- Postoperative Cobb angle)/Preoperative Cobb angle] x 100.
- The main measurements evaluated on the lateral radiographs for the study of sagittal alignment include the following:

- Thoracic kyphosis (TK): The angle between the upper endplate of T4 and the lower endplate of T12. Thoracic hypo-kyphosis was defined by a pre-operative sagittal T4-T12 Cobb angle of less than 20 degrees.
- Lumbar lordosis (LL): The angle between the upper endplate of L1 and S1. Normal lumbar lordosis is defined by an average lumbosacral angle of 40° – 60°
- 7. Pelvic incidence (PI): The angle between the perpendicular to the sacral plate at its midpoint and the line connecting the point to the middle axis of the femoral heads.
- 8. Pelvic tilt (PT): The angle between the line connecting the midpoint of the sacral plate to the axis of the femoral heads, and the gravity line.
- 9. Sacral Slope (SS): The angle between the sacral plate and the horizontal plane.
- 10. Pelvic incidence minus lumbar lordosis (PI-LL): Sagittal alignment is considered optimum when spino-pelvic mismatch (PI-LL) is less than 10° (LL= PI  $\pm 10^{\circ}$ ).
- 11. Global sagittal balance (GSB) was measured as the horizontal distance between the C7 plumb line and the posterior superior corner of the sacrum. A negative value indicated that the C7 plumb line was posterior to the sacrum posterior corner. Sagittal imbalance is defined while this distance (SVA) *exceeds 40mm*.

## 4. Functional Outcomes and Complications Assessment

#### - Scoliosis Research Society-22 revised questionnaire, SRS-22r

Scoliosis-specific questionnaire was selected to evaluate the Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) of patients after the spinal fusion surgery. The questionnaire was completed by patients through an in-person interview process. Patients were assessed preoperatively, before hospital discharge and at the latest follow-up. The translated Arabic version of the SRS-22 revised questionnaire developed by the Scoliosis Research Society was applied in our study (13). It consists of five domains covered by 22 questions. Function, pain, self- image and mental health all have five questions each. The last domain, overall satisfaction, has only two questions.

The scoring scale ranges from 5 as best to 1 as worst. Results are expressed as the mean (total sum of the domain divided by the number of items answered) for each domain (see Appendix 3 for the SRS-22r questionnaire).

Perioperative and post-operative complications were also recorded during the follow-up period.

## V. Statistical Analysis

The data regarding the patients' history, basic clinical examination, laboratory investigations, imaging results, and outcome measures were coded and entered using Microsoft Excel Software. Collected data was processed using SPSS version 19 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The quantitative data was expressed as means, while the qualitative data was expressed as numbers and percentages (%). Correlations between the different parameters were assessed through Pearson's correlation coefficient. Significance level was set at p-value < 0.05. Results were presented in tables and graphs.

## VI. Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects, and their parents prior to participating in this study.

# RESULTS

## I. Demographic Data

## 1. Age at surgery

The mean age at the time of surgery for the entire cohort was 17.1 years, ranging from 15 to 23 years. The age group most affected was the 11–18 age range, with a frequency of 90%.

Table I: Characteristics of the study population by age.

	Age
Mean	17.1
Minimum	15
Maximum	23



Figure 5: Distribution of studied population by age at the time of surgery.

## 2. <u>Gender</u>

Ten patients were identified of whom 2 were male (20%) and 8 female (80%).

Analysis of distribution based on age and gender shows female predominance. The female-to-male ratio is 4 :1.



Figure 6: Distribution of studied population by gender.

## 3. <u>Aetiology</u>

The idiopathic form accounts for the majority of cases of scoliosis among our study population, comprising 80% (n=8), while syndromic scoliosis associated with Marfan syndrome represents 20% (n=2).



MFS, Marfan syndrome.

#### Figure 7: Aetiology distribution within the study population.

## II. <u>Clinical Data</u>

## 1. Clinical Features

## 1.1. Chief Complaint

The main clinical manifestations for all patients were as follows:

- Cosmetic deformity (80%):
  - Rib prominence: This was the primary symptom observed in our series.
  - Shoulder asymmetry.
  - Rib gibbosity and waist asymmetry.
  - Back pain and stiffness (20%).



Figure 8: Distribution of the study population by chief complaints

## 1.2. Past Medical History

- Two cases have been diagnosed with Marfan's syndrome (MFS) and their scoliosis was attributed to the underlying disease.
- Overall, 80% of our patients had no relevant medical history.
- None of the patients had similar case of scoliosis in their family.

## 2. Physical Examination

All patients underwent a systematic physical examination in addition to a thorough neurologic evaluation, and all symptoms were recorded.

- None of the patients in our studied population had lower-limb length discrepancy.
- All cases were neurologically intact.
- All cases screened positive in the Adam's forward bending test, with an average trunk rotation angle of 12° (ranging from 8° to 18°) preoperatively.



Figure 9: Percentage distribution of studied population by the angle of trunk rotation

## III. Preoperative Radiographic Evaluation

## 1. Risser Classification

The distribution of skeletal maturity was as follows: four cases were classified as Risser IV, and six cases were classified as Risser V. The mean Risser stage for the entire cohort was 4.7.

Risser stage	Number
0, I, II, III	0
IV	4
V	6

Table II: Risser stage of the studied population.

## 2. Coronal Radiographic Parameters

## 2.1. <u>Curve Magnitude (Coronal COBB)</u>

Curves were classified into proximal thoracic (PT), main thoracic (MT), and thoracolumbar/lumbar (TL/L), depending on the location of the apex of the curve and their Cobb angles were measured according to the Cobb method.

The mean preoperative Cobb angle for the PT, MT, and TLL curves in the upright position were 28.1°, 53.7°, and 39.1°, respectively.

#### Table III: Coronal plane curve characteristics of the studied population.

Curve	Mean Cobb angle (°)
Proximal thoracic (PT)	28.1
Main thoracic (MT)	53.7
Thoracolumbar/ Lumbar (TL/L)	39.1

## 2.2. Curve Pattern

According to Lenke's classification, the most frequent patterns encountered were as follows: type I with 3 cases, followed by types II and V with 2 cases each. Types III, IV and VI each had 1 case. (Figures 10 and 11).



Figure 10: Distribution of curve patterns as per Lenke classification in patients.



Figure 11: Distribution of Lenke classification subtypes in the studied patients.

#### 2.3. Global Coronal Balance (GCB)

The mean preoperative CVA distance for the entire cohort was 9.4 mm ranging from -9 mm to 24 mm. In patients without imbalance, the mean CVA was 4.4 mm, while in patients with imbalance, it was 23.3 mm.

Of the 10 patients:

- 30% exhibited preoperative coronal decompensation.
- 10% had satisfactory coronal alignment ( $\leq$  20 mm away from midline).
- 60% had excellent coronal alignment ( $\leq$  10 mm away from midline).

Coronal Alignment Subgroups	Number	CVA; mean (mm)
Overall	10	9.4
Balanced subgroup	7	4.4
Imbalanced subgroup	3	23.3

#### Table IV: Mean values of the CVA in the subgroups.

CVA; Coronal vertical axis.



CVA; Coronal vertical axis.

Figure 12: Distribution of the global coronal balance in the studied population

## 3. Sagittal Radiographic Parameters

## 3.1. Spinopelvic Parameters

The mean preoperative values of the measured spinopelvic parameters for the entire cohort were as follows:

Parameters	Mean (°)
Thoracic Kyphosis (TK)	19
Lumbar Lordosis (LL)	50
Pelvic Incidence (PI)	54.5
Pelvic tilt (PT)	14.5
Sacral Slope (SS)	40

## Table I: The mean preoperative spinopelvic parameters of all subjects.

## a. Sagittal Curvatures

- Preoperatively, the mean value of thoracic kyphosis was 19°. Thoracic hypokyphosis was showed in 8 patients, 1 patient had normal thoracic kyphosis, and one patient was hyperkyphotic (Figure 13).
- Lumbar lordosis was averaging 50°. Four patients had preoperative normal lordosis, five were hypolordotic, and hyperlordosis was found in only one case (Figure 14).



Figure 13: The pre-operative distribution of Thoracic Kyphosis (TK) in the studied population.



Figure 14: The pre-operative distribution of Lumbar Lordosis (LL) for the entire cohort.

#### **b.** Pelvic Parameters



Before surgery, mean PI was 54.5°, with corresponding mean SS and PT values of  $40^{\circ}$  and 14.5°, respectively.





Figure 16: The preoperative distribution of Sacral Slope in the cohort.



Figure 17: The preoperative distribution of Pelvic Tilt in patients.

## 3.2. Spinopelvic Alignment

#### a. Global Sagittal Balance (GSB)

The mean preoperative SVA across the study population was 13.8 mm, ranging from -29 mm to 60 mm.

Of all cases, positive sagittal imbalance has been found in only one case (10%), preoperatively.



SVA; Sagittal vertical axis.



#### b. Pelvic Incidence minus Lumbar lordosis (PI-LL)

To assess spinal alignment, the relationship between pelvic incidence and lumbar lordosis was evaluated by calculating PI-LL, the discrepancy between PI and LL.

The mean pre-operative PI-LL value was 8.3°. In all, three patients presented a PI-LL mismatch (PI-LL  $> 10^{\circ}$ ) and had a lumbar lordosis not correctly correlated to their pelvic incidence of which one patient suffered a severe mismatch (PI-LL  $> 20^{\circ}$ ).



Figure 19: The distribution of patients by the PI-LL value.

## IV. Operative Management

## 1. Preoperative Assessment

Due to the potential for significant pulmonary, cardiac, and neurologic comorbidities associated with advanced scoliosis, a thorough preoperative evaluation was performed to assess the patient's neurological status, and the extent of dysfunction in organ systems.

Based on the severity of the curve and the level of respiratory impairment and other organ involvement, the following preoperative laboratory studies were performed for our patients:

- Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was performed to assess the spinal canal and neural elements. All patients underwent preoperative whole spine MRI scans, which were found to be normal.

- Computed tomography (CT) with 3D reconstruction.
- Chest x-ray.
- Electrocardiogram (EKG).
- Echocardiogram.
- Pulmonary Function Testing (PFT).
- Arterial blood gases.
- Complete blood count.
- Coagulation studies: Platelet count, Prothrombin time and activity.
- Electrolyte panel.
- Liver and renal functions test.
- Urine analysis with bacteriological culture.

#### 2. Perioperative Assessment

#### 2.1. Surgical Procedure

Arthrodesis was performed by posterior approach only. Patients were placed in the prone position after general anesthesia was induced. After a standard midline incision, subperiosteal dissection of the posterior soft tissues was performed. Instrumentation with polyaxial screws or hybrid construct combining pedicle screws and sublaminar bands was implemented. Two titanium rods were then connected to the claws and pedicular screws to obtain a rigid frame. Reduction maneuvers were performed by rod derotation/ posteromedial translation and screws manipulation, with or without in situ bending of rods. Intraoperative monitoring of spinal cord function was conducted using MEPs and SSEP. Before completing the surgery, a subfascial drain was inserted.



Figure 20: Intraoperative picture showing implant placement and deformity correction.

## 2.2. Surgical Data

- The operative time averaged 235 minutes. The mean ICU stay was 2.5 days. Total hospital stay averaged 11 days.

- Estimated blood loss (EBL) at surgery averaged 840.3 ml, and the volume of red blood cells (RBC) transfused was 663.7 ml.
- The number of instrumented vertebrae averaged 11.7

Parameters	Data of the entire cohort; mean		
Surgical time (min)	235		
Blood loss (mL)	840.3		
Number of fused vertebra	11.7		
ICU stay (days)	2.5		
Hospital stay (days)	11		

#### Table III: Surgical data of the studied population.

ICU, Intensive Care Unit.

#### 2.3. Fusion Levels

- The averaged fusion length was 11.7 segments.
- The upper instrumented vertebrae (UIV) ranged from T1 to T10, including T1 and T2 in one case each, T3 in three cases, T4 and T5 in two cases each, and T10 in one case.
- The lower instrumented vertebrae (LIV) ranged from T12 to L4, including T12 in two cases, L1 in one case, L3 in two cases, and L4 in five patients.





## 3. Post-operative Assessment

## 3.1. Follow-up

The length of the postoperative follow-up ranged from 12 months to three years and seven months. The average duration of the follow-up period was 38.5 months.

	Follow–up periods (months)		
Mean	38.5		
Minimum	12		
Maximum	43		

## Tableau III: Average Follow-up period of the cohort.

#### 3.2. <u>Complications</u>

Complications were evaluated regarding their time of onset and devided into: intraoperative, perioperative (< 4 weeks), and post-operative (> 4 weeks).

- A perioperative complication was identified in one case of syndromic scoliosis (Marfan's syndrome) where the patient developed deep surgical site infection (SSI) on day 20 post-operative and was treated successfully with early debridement within 32 hours of presentation and administration of parenteral antibiotics according to bacteriological culture and antimicrobial sensitivity tests until complete clearing up of the infection with clinical and laboratory parameters. The implant was successfully retained
- Throughout the post-operative period and during the final follow-up, there were no cases of neurological deficit, pseudoarthrosis, proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK), or implant failure. No revision surgery has been performed to date.



Figure 22: Pie chart demonstrating perioperative complications following the operative procedure.

## V. Surgery Outcomes:

## 1. Radiographic Outcome

Table VIII summarizes the preoperative, early post-operative, and final follow-up results for the entire cohort.

	Preoperative ; mean	Early post-	Final follow-	p-value	
		Coronal plane			
PT curve (°)	28.1	13	13.4	<0.01*,**	
MT curve (°)	53.7	17.2	19	<0.01*,**	
TLL curve (°)	39.1	14.5	16.4	<0.01*,**	
CVA (mm)	9.4	6.5	3.3	0.85* / <b>0.02**</b>	
Sagittal plane					
ТК (°)	19	24.5	26.3	<0.01*,**	
LL (°)	50	50.7	55.6	0.53* / <b>0.09**</b>	
PI (°)	54.5	54.4	54.2	0.62*,**	
PT (°)	14.5	15.9	14	0.02* /0.81**	
SS (°)	40	38.3	40.2	<b>0.03*</b> / 0.47**	
SVA (mm)	13.8	12	5	0.74*/ <b>0.02**</b>	
PI-LL (°)	8.3	6	3.2	0.66*/ <b>0.03**</b>	

Table IV: Pre-operative,	immediate	post-operative and	last follow-up values.
· · · · ·			

Bold indicates statistical significance at p < 0.05; \*, Before surgery vs Early postoperative; \*\*, Before surgery vs Last follow-up.

## 1.1. Coronal Parameters

#### a. Curve Correction

In the early post-operative period, in the entire cohort:

- The mean coronal Cobb angles of the PT, MT, and TLL curves were decreased from 28.1°, 53.7°, and 39.1° to 13°, 17.2°, and 14.5°, respectively, representing an average correction rates of 53.7%, 68%, and 63%, respectively, with a significant correction of the deformity (p < 0.001).

At the final follow-up:

- The Cobb angle of the PT, MT, and TLL curves was significantly conserved compared to the post-operative measurements, with achieved correction of 52.3%, 64.6%, and 58%, respectively. Complete data is reported in Table IX and in Figure 23.

		•			
	Preoperative	Earl	y post-operative	Final follow-up	
Coronal	Mean (°)	Mean (°) Correction rate (%)		Mean	Correction rate
plane				(°)	(%)
PT curve	28.1	13	53.7	13.4	52.3
MT curve	53.7	17.2	68	19	64.6
TLL curve	39.1	14.5	63	16.4	58

Table IX: Cobb angle assessment for the total patient sample.

PT, proximal thoracic; MT, main thoracic; TLL, thoracolumbar/lumbar.





To comprehensively evaluate the degree of correction achieved in our cohort, a subanalysis was performed according to the reduction technique used. Patients were divided into 2 groups: The PS group consisted of patients in whom an all-pedicle screw construct was utilized, Preoperative (°)

Final follow-up (°)

Preoperative (°)

Final follow-up (°)

Early post-operative (°)

Early post-operative (°)

Correction rate (%)

Correction rate (%)

Correction rate (%)

Correction rate (%)

whereas the SB group included patients treated with hybrid instrumentation using sublaminar bands (Table X).

postoperative and final follow-up.					
Variables	PS group (n=7) SB group (n=3) p-value				
PT curve					
Preoperative (°)	25.8	28.4	0.26		
Early post-operative (°)	12.6	14.7	0.37		
Correction rate (%) 51.2 48.2 0.08					
Final follow–up (°)	13	15.4	0.42		
Correction rate (%)	49.6	45.7	0.63		

MT curve

**TLL curve** 

54

18.3

66.1

22

59.2

39.5

15.4

61

17.8

55

0.58

0.04

0.02

0.02

< 0.01

0.70

0.02

0.02

0.04

< 0.01

52.3

13.4

74.4

15.6

70.2

38.6

11.2

71

12.5

67.6

## Table X: Comparison of coronal parameters change between the two treatment groups at early postoperative and final follow-up.

Bold indicates significance level: p < 0.05. PT, proximal thoracic; MT, main thoracic; TLL, thoracolumbar/lumbar; n, number of patients.

At the time of their first erect radiographs, patients in the PS group had better correction of the Cobb angle of the MT, and TLL curves compared to the SB group (mean 74.4% and 71%, respectively versus mean 66.1% and 61%, respectively) (Table X).

At the final follow-up, loss of correction was greater in the SB patients compared to the PS patients (mean  $-3.7^{\circ}$  and  $-2.4^{\circ}$ , respectively versus mean  $-2.2^{\circ}$  and  $-1.3^{\circ}$ , respectively) (Figures 24–26).









Figure 25: Postoperative coronal correction of the cobb angle at the MT curve between the two groups.





#### b. Global Coronal Balance (GCB)

Regarding CVA, the preoperative mean displacement of 9.4 mm observed in the entire cohort improved to 3.3 mm at the final follow-up.

To further study the restoration of coronal balance, subgroup analysis was performed according to whether the preoperative CVA exceeded 20mm. As shown in Table XI, both groups showed improvements in coronal balance following surgery, with the CVA being larger in the imbalanced subgroup than that in the balanced one.

Post-operatively, the coronal alignment was maintained in the patients with preoperative coronal balance and was restored to normal in all the patients in the imbalanced subgroup with further improvement in the subsequent follow-up visits (Figure 27).

	Preoperative	Early post-operative		Final follow-up	
CVA (mm)	Mean	Mean	p-value	Mean	p-value
			(pre– post)		(post– FFU)
Total cohort (n=10)	9.4	6.5	0.85	3.3	0.21
Pre-operative imbalanced subgroup (n=3)	23.3	13.2	<0.01	8.7	<0.01
Pre-operative balanced subgroup (n=7)	4.4	2.8	0.14	2.3	0.26

Table VI: Compa	<u>arisons of Corona</u>	l Balance Between	the balanced and	<b>imbalanced</b>	groups.

p-value was calculated between preoperative measurement and follow-up evaluations. Statistical significance at p-value<0.05.



FFU, final follow-up.

Figure 27: Coronal balance variation between the Preoperative balanced and imbalanced groups.

#### 1.2. Sagittal Parameters

#### a. Sagittal Curvatures

After surgery, in the entire cohort:

- The degree of thoracic kyphosis had a tendency to increase during the follow-up period. The mean preoperative TK was 19°, which increased to 24.5° postoperatively. The difference between preoperative and early post-operative thoracic kyphosis was significant (p-value <0.01). The measurements at the final follow-up did not show further significant differences (26.3° versus 24.5°, p-value = 0.15).

Concerning lumbar lordosis, there was no significant difference between the pre- and early post-operative measurements (50° versus 50.7°, p-value = 0.53), but further significant modifications were observed during the following visits. At the final follow-up, LL increased significantly from early post-operative measurements (average delta value of 5°, p-value = 0.04).

Results on the entire population are summarized in Figure 28 and Table XII.





Figure 28: Variations in sagittal parameters in the entire cohort.

To further evaluate the variations of TK and LL before and after surgery, a sub-group analysis was performed based on the preoperative TK (Table XII):

- At final follow-up, patients with a preoperative hypokyphosis, exhibited, on average, a significant increase in TK of 10.7°, with a reciprocal increase in LL of 4.3°. For patients with
a preoperative hyperkyphosis, both TK and LL were significantly decreased from 46.5° to 36° and from 54.4° to 51°, respectively. Conversely, patients with normal preoperative kyphosis, the instrumentation has maintained a normal TK and secondary a normal LL.

		Preoperative	Post-	operative	FFU		
Study Subjects	Parameters (°)	Mean	Mean	p-value (Pre- post)	Mean	p-value (Post-FFU)	
Total cohort	ТК	19	24.5	<0.01	26.3	0.15	
(n=10)	LL	50	50.7	0.83	55.6	0.04	
Hypokyphosis (TK < 20°) (n=8)	ТК	12.3	21	<0.01	23	0.06	
	LL	43.4	44.5	0.39	47.7	0.02	
Normokyphosis	ТК	28.8	30	0.27	30.4	0.65	
(20° < TK < 40°) (n=1)	LL	50.8	51.4	0.12	52.3	0.27	
Hyperkyphosis	ТК	46.5	38.2	<0.01	36	0.14	
$(1K > 40^{\circ})$ (n=1)	LL	54.4	50.2	0.37	51	0.52	

Table VIII: Summary of changes in sagittal parameters by subgroups.

TK, thoracic kyphosis; LL, lumbar lordosis; p-value was calculated between preoperative measurement and follow-up evaluations. Statistical significance at p-value<0.05.

At the final follow up, 8 patients achieved an optimal outcome with thoracic kyphosis within the physiological range while 2 were under-corrected (Figure 29).



Data expressed as mean; TK, thoracic kyphosis.

Figure 29: Thoracic kyphosis improvement in patients.

To assess the influence of the type of instrumentation on the restoration of thoracic kyphosis, we performed a comparative analysis between the two groups of patients (Table XIII).

- Preoperatively, 8 patients had a hypokyphosis, with 5 in the PS group and 3 in the SB group.
- At final follow-up, there was a significantly greater improvement in TK in the SB patients compared to the PS patients (+13.2° versus +6.7°; p < 0.01) (Figure 30). No significant difference was observed in LL values between the two groups (p = 0.36).

	Variables	PS group (n=7)	SB group (n=3)	p-value		
	Number of cases	5/7	3/3	-		
		Thoracic kyphosi	s (°)			
	Preoperative	13.8	12	0.37		
Hypokyphosis	Early post-operative	18.3	23.4	0.02		
subgroup	Final follow-up	20.5	25.2	0.01		
TK < 20°	Lumbar lordosis (°)					
(n=8)	Preoperative	44	42.3	0.82		
	Early post-operative	44.7	43.5	0.51		
	Final follow-up	46.6	49	0.36		

Table VIIII: Comparison of thoracic kyphosis restoration between the two groups.

Data expressed as mean; Bold indicates significance level at p < 0.05.





#### **b.** Pelvic Parameters

In the early post-operative:

- The mean preoperative PI was 54.5° and did not change post-operatively.
- There was a significant increase of PT coupled to a decrease of SS with a mean  $\Delta$ PT and  $\Delta$ SS of 1.4° and -1.7°, respectively. However, these changes were transitory and were normalized to pre-operative values at the last follow-up.

At the final follow-up:

- PI, PT, and SS remained unchanged between pre-operative and last follow-up.

## Table XIV: Mean preoperative, early post-operative and at final follow-up values of the pelvic parameters.

Pelvic parameters Preoperative		Early post-operative	Final follow-up	
PI (°)	54.5	54.4	54.2	
PT (°)	14.5	15.9	14	
SS (°)	40	38.3	40.2	

PI, pelvic incidence; PT, pelvic tilt; SS, sacral slope



Figure 31: Pelvic Incidence distribution in the studied population before and after surgery.



Figure 32: Pelvic Tilt distribution in the studied population before and after surgery.



Figure 33: Sacral Slope distribution in the studied population before and after surgery.

#### 1.3. Spinopelvic Alignment

#### a. Global Sagittal Balance (GSB)

The mean preoperative SVA was 13.8 mm for all patients, and post-operatively, the mean SVA was 12 mm, which did not show any statistical significance (p-value = 0.74). At the final follow-up, mean SVA has been improved and was shifted posteriorly to 5 mm. When compared to baseline measurements, this value was significantly lower (13.8 mm versus 5 mm, p-value = 0.02) (Figure 34).

Following surgery, the majority of patients (8 out of 10) had maintained their preoperative sagittal balance, and one patient showed improvement while sagittal decompensation was developed in only one patient. However, at the final follow-up, sagittal imbalance was normalized to an ideal range in all the patients (Figure 35).



SVA, sagittal vertical axis.

Figure 34: Sagittal vertical axis variation in patients before and after surgery.



Figure 35: Sagittal Balance restoration of the entire cohort.

When comparing the effectiveness of PS and SB instrumentations in terms of sagittal balance restoration, no significant difference is SVA was found between the two groups at the early post-operative assessment (mean 10.4 mm versus mean 9.3 mm; p = 0.56) and at the final follow-up (mean 4.7 mm versus mean 6 mm; p = 0.72) (Table XV).

<u>Table XV: Comparison of sagittal vertical axis change between pedicle screw (PS) and sublaminar</u> <u>band (SB) patients.</u>

Sagittal vertical axis (SVA)	PS group (n=7)	SB group (n=3)	p-value
Preoperative (mm)	12.8	10.6	0.47
Early post-operative (mm)	10.4	9.3	0.56
Final follow-up (mm)	4.7	6	0.72

Data expressed as mean; Statistical significance at p-value<0.05.

#### b. PI-LL

In the early post-operative, the mean PI-LL was 6°. Two patients were still presenting mismatch with a lumbar lordosis not correctly correlated to their pelvic incidence (Figure 36).

At the final follow-up, there was a significant improvement in the mean PI-LL, which decreased to 3.2°, and the number of patients with LL in accordance with their PI was significantly higher (90%) (Figure 37).



Figure 36: Post-operative improvement of the PI-LL mismatch in studied population.



Figure 37: PI-LL mismatch distribution across the entire cohort before and after surgery.

Although PI-LL values were significantly improved at the last follow-up in the PS and SB groups, the results showed no significant differences between the two groups (Table XVI).

#### <u>Table XVI: Comparison of pelvic incidence minus lumbar lordosis change between pedicle screw</u> (PS) and sublaminar band (SB) patients.

PI – LL (mm)	PS group (n=7)	SB group (n=3)	p-value
Preoperative	8	9.2	0.43
Early post-operative	7.3	8	0.96
Final follow-up	5.4	2.5	0.11

Data expressed as mean; Statistical significance at p-value<0.05.

#### 2. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROM)

After surgery, all patients showed a significant improvement in both the global score and the five domains of the Scoliosis Research Society-22 revised questionnaire (SRS-22r). These improvements were maintained in subsequent evaluations (p < 0.001) (Figure 38).



Figure 38: Clinical outcomes of Scoliosis Research Society-22r score after surgery.

The total SRS score, satisfaction, and self-image, exhibited a meaningful dimension from preoperative at all post-operative intervals, becoming more relevant with the most significant variation (Table XVII).

SRS-22 Domains	Preoperative ;mean	Final follow-up ;mean	Mean difference	p-value
Function / activity	4.13	4.62	0.49	<0.01
Pain	3.82	4.38	0.56	<0.01
Self-image	3.23	4.37	1.14	<0.01
Mental health	3.86	4.15	0.29	<0.01
Management satisfaction	3.51	4.59	1.08	<0.01
Total score	3.7	4.42	0.72	<0.01

Table XVII: SRS-22 Questionnaire scores before and after surgical correction.

SRS-22, Scoliosis Research Society. Statistical significance at p < 0.05.

The correlation analysis of different subdomains of the SRS-22r questionnaire after surgery revealed the following findings (Table XVIII):

- Function and self-image scores showed a positive correlation with the mental health domain (r = 0.69, p < 0.01 and r = 0.54, p < 0.01, respectively).
- Satisfaction with management was highly correlated with self-image (r = 0.71, p = 0.02) and pain (r = 0.51, p = 0.01).
- The global SRS-22r score revealed a positive and significant correlation with all subdomains: function (r = 0.77, p = 0.04), pain (r = 0.49, p = 0.03), self-image (r = 0.61, p = 0.02), mental health (r = 0.52, p = 0.05), and management satisfaction (r = 0.54, p = 0.01).

#### Table XVIII: Correlation between different domains of SRS-22 questionnaire after surgical correction.

Demonsterne	Postoperative SRS-22 questionnaire domains						
Parameters	Function/activity	Pain	Self-image	Mental health	Satisfaction		
		Pa	in				
r	0.02	_	-	_	_		
p-value	0.83	_	-	_	_		
		Self–i	mage				
r	0.19	-0.05	-	_	_		
p-value	0.27	0.75	-	_	_		
		Mental	health				
r	0.69	-0.02	0.54	_	_		
p-value	<0.01	0.93	<0.01	_	_		
		Satisfa	action				
r	0.38	0.51	0.71	0.28	_		
p-value	0.07	0.01	0.02	0.17	_		
total score							
r	0.77	0.49	0.61	0.52	0.54		
p-value	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.01		

r: correlation coefficient. Statistical significance at p<0.05.

The post-operative Cobb angle showed a significant correlation with the mean total SRS-22r score (p = 0.04). Among the five domains of SRS-22r, self-image/appearance (p = 0.02), and satisfaction with management (p = 0.01), were significantly correlated with residual deformity after posterior spinal surgery. There was no significant correlation between the amount of deformity correction after posterior spinal surgery and the mean total SRS-22r score (p = 0.16). However, self-image/appearance (p = 0.03) and satisfaction with management (p = 0.01) showed significant correlations with the amount of deformity correction (Table XIX).

There were no statistically significant differences in SRS-22r scores (all p-value > 0.45) when comparing patients with and without post-operative complications.

	Radiographic Parameters								
SRS-22r and its domains	post-op Cobb's angle (p- value)	Cobb correction (p-value)	TK (p- value)	LL (p- value)	Pl (p- value)	PT (p- value)	SS (p– value)	SVA (p- value)	CVA (p- value)
Total score	0.04	0.16	0.29	0.32	0.48	0.37	0.74	0.37	0.26
Function	0.96	0.68	0.59	0.58	0.72	0.59	0.35	0.49	0.33
Pain	0.66	0.45	0.70	0.19	0.38	0.24	0.47	0.35	0.24
Self-image/ appearance	0.02	0.03	0.57	0.70	0.81	0.59	0.32	0.76	0.93
Mental health	0.07	0.92	0.81	0.92	0.77	0.60	0.81	0.53	0.61
Satisfaction with management	0.01	0.01	0.35	0.53	0.98	0.52	0.42	0.89	0.75

Table XIX: Correlation between the last follow up radiographic measurements and patientreported outcomes after surgery.

TK, thoracic kyphosis; LL, lumbar lordosis; PI, pelvic incidence; PT, pelvic tilt; SS, sacral slope; Statistical significance at P-value<0.05.

# DISCUSSION

## Part I: Review

## I. The Normal Spine

#### 1. Spinal Alignment

Spinal alignment is the integration of anatomical regions that provide shape, position, form and function between the spine, pelvis and hips (14,15). The ability to maintain a vertical posture in humans is a result of bipedal locomotion that involves simultaneous extension of the vertebral column, pelvis, hips and lower extremities. The vertebral column viewed from the side, is comprised of a number of curvatures, the cranial cervical and caudal lumbar lordotic curves that are separated by the kyphotic thoracic curve (16). These curvatures are intrinsically related and assist with maintenance of spinal sagittal alignment (14,15).

The degrees of curvatures vary between individuals and have been shown to influence the form and function of the pelvis and hip joints (14). Spinal alignment may not be a static entity but rather the result of a dynamic evolution to mechanical loads. Spinal curvatures have also been categorized by morphological and positional measurements that help to determine the pelvic parameters (17).

A well-balanced spino-pelvic-hip complex assists humans to maintain an upright posture, forward gaze and to minimize energy expenditure (8,15,16,18). In order to achieve a well-balanced spino-pelvic sagittal alignment, the pelvic girdle must facilitate the lumbar lordosis curvature with hip joint extension (8,15,16,18-21). Therefore, the pelvic girdle becomes a mobile platform through which the spinal column communicates with the lower extremity.

#### 2. Spinal Column: Anatomy and Structure

The vertebral column (Figure 39) has several curvatures in the sagittal plane, cranial and caudal lordotic curves that are separated by the thoracic kyphotic curve (16). The curvatures must be capable of ensuring two mechanical requirements, rigidity and plasticity (22). Extending from the base of the skull to the pelvis, the column consists of a series of vertebral bodies that increase in size from the cervical to the lumbar region. Seven vertebrae (labelled C1 – C7) are found in the cervical region, compared with twelve vertebrae in the thoracic region (T1 – T12), and five vertebrae in the lumbar region (from L1 – L5). The sacral region has five vertebrae (S1 – S5) and is fused. Intervertebral discs form the anterior pillar of the vertebral column whilst paired facet joints, and a vertebral arch form the posterior pillar and separate the vertebral bodies (23)

The vertebral motion segment (vertebra-disc-vertebra) (Figure 40) or functional spinal unit (FSU) consists of a superior and adjacent inferior vertebra with their intervening disc, facet joints and ligamentous attachments. The intervertebral disc (IVD) is comprised of the central nucleus pulposus (NP), the circumferential annulus fibrosis (AF) and two hyaline cartilage endplates (EP) that connect to the superior and inferior vertebral bodies (24,25). The different tensile properties of the IVD enable it to withstand and transfer heavy spinal loads and to accommodate spinal motion (26). The shape and orientation of the facet joints, largely determines the range and type of movement possible between two vertebrae (23). Moreover, the vertebral column is capable of flexion, extension, lateral flexion and rotation however; movement within the column varies between regions. The anterior pillar has a static role whilst the posterior pillar has a dynamic role. There appears to be a functional link between the anterior and posterior pillars aiding in the absorption of compression from both passive and active stresses. Plasticity of the spinal column is achieved through the multiple components of the anterior and posterior pillars that are interlinked by the complex attachments of ligaments and muscles (22).



Figure 39: Vertebral column with spinal curvatures.

Figure 40: Vertebral motion segment.

#### 3. Development of Spinal Morphology

From embryology, it is known that the normal human spine possesses one primary (thoracic curvature) and two secondary (cervical and lumbar) curves. The thoracic kyphosis (TK) curve is termed primary because it is initially developed while still in an embryo as the secondary curves are not present at birth and develop during infancy (27); with normal neuromuscular development, CL develops by 3 months and LL by 1 year. Development of the cervical lordotic curve occurs as a result of an infant beginning to hold the head upright, whilst the lumbar lordosis (LL) curvature develops as a result of an infant being able to sit upright and walk (Figures 41 & 42). Therefore, the ability to maintain a vertical posture and bipedal locomotion in humans involves simultaneous extension of the vertebral column, hips, thighs and legs (20).



Figure 41: Development of primary and secondary curves.



Figure 392: Development of spinal curvatures.

#### II. <u>Scoliosis</u>

#### 1. Definitions

Scoliosis, a term derived from the Greek word meaning "crooked or curved", was first used regarding spinal deformities by Hippocrates (28,29), and used by one of his successors, Galen of Pergamon to describe an abnormal lateral deviation of the spine causing a curve in the coronal plane of ten degrees or greater as defined by the Scoliosis Research Society (SRS) (30-34). However, the deformity of scoliosis is much more complex affecting the spine in all three planes. In the frontal plane, there are lateral curves with vertebrae deviating from the midline. A relative anterior overgrowth of the vertebral bodies changes the sagittal alignment of the spine, resulting in a hypokyphosis and/or hyper-lordosis (35-37). Each vertebra within the deformity is not just laterally deviated and tilted, it is also rotated in the axial plane. This means that the scoliotic spine is deformed in all three planes.

Scoliosis is categorized regarding the underlying cause of the deformity and can be categorized into three major types: congenital, syndromic, and idiopathic. Congenital scoliosis represents a spinal malformation caused by a distorted formation and segmentation of the vertebrae (38), while syndromic scoliosis is associated with a disorder of the neuromuscular, skeletal, or connective tissue systems (e.g. Neurofibromatosis and Marfan syndrome) or other important medical condition (39). Idiopathic scoliosis, however, as the name implies, has no known cause, but it is most certainly multi-factorial, including genetics, heritage, biomechanical aspects, as well as hormonal factors (40-46). The clinical symptoms of patients with scoliosis are typically characterized by disfigurement of the torso with waist or shoulder asymmetry, rib rotation, and trunk imbalance yet sometimes back pain may be reported (47,48). Although scoliosis mostly manifests as a solitary deformity, further investigations might reveal other significant subclinical signs and exclude possible underlying pathology (49-51).

As scoliosis is a three-dimensional (3D) rotational deformity of the spine and trunk, the coronal and sagittal plane deformities are coupled (52). Thus, variations in the coronal plane may translate into sagittal plane changes (53–55). Due to the complex anatomical structure and movement mode of the human body, the sagittal profile changes in each segment of the spine are different. Mac-Thiong et al. evaluated sagittal alignment in patients with scoliosis and reported that thoracic scoliosis is usually associated with thoracic hypokyphosis, whereas thoracolumbar and lumbar curves most often preserve TK and tend to increase LL, confirming the impact of the curve type on sagittal parameters (56). Thus, the management of spinal pathologies is indissociable from understanding and maintaining or restoring individual sagittal alignment so as to ensure physiological distribution of stresses and limit onset of complications or decompensation in adulthood which negatively affects the quality of life (57–59).

#### 2. Radiographic Evaluation

Despite widespread recognition that scoliosis is a 3D deformity, the evaluation of scoliosis has, historically, been based on frontal and sagittal examinations from standing radiographs using Cobb's angle, the gold standard for assessing the severity of scoliosis (Figure 43) (60). The images are two-dimensional (2D) and provide a good overview of the deformity as well as an opportunity to follow curve progression over time. However, because of the limited information regarding the complexity of the deformation as obtained by 2D images, the need for 3D assessment and diagnostics has been highlighted (61,62).

Three-dimensional images and reconstructions have been made available through the development of new technologies such as biplanar radiographs (EOS), computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (63,64).

Computed Tomography (CT) imaging produces true three dimensional (3D) representations of the spine and can thus better appreciate the vertebral rotation and sagittal deformity as it provides excellent spatial resolution of the bone structures, but for routine

application the radiation exposure is too high (Figure 44). However, Recent advances have substantially reduced radiation exposure relative to standard technique which is particularly appealing in the peadiatric population (65). Low-dose biplanar stereoradiography (EOS Imaging) has appeared in the last decade. With the help of 3D reconstructions (Figure 45), EOS 2D/3D imaging can also obtain relatively accurate information about the axial plane of spinal deformity with minimal vertical distortion (66), low doses of radiation, and no magnification, providing revolutionary novel possibilities in spine surgery (67–69). Nevertheless, if a scoliosis has been identified and 'red flags' such as back pain, signs of neurological abnormalities, or abnormal curve types are present then Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) may be required to assess for any underlying pathology (70–72).



Figure 43: Standard imaging of a patient with scoliosis: 2D AP (frontal) and lateral x-ray views.



Figure 44: Images from a CT examination for detailed skeletal assessment. Frontal plane (left), 3D reconstruction (middle left), axial plane (middle right) and sagittal plane (right).



**Figure 45:** Simultaneous lateral and frontal EOS radiographs. (A) of the spine. (B) of the whole body. (C) 3D bone construction of the spine in frontal and lateral views.

### 3. Classifications

#### 3.1. Chronological: Time of Onset

Based on the age of onset of the deformity, it can be subdivided into : *infantile (IIS)* (0 – 2 years), *juvenile (JIS)* (3 – 9 years), *adolescent (AIS)* (10 – 18 years) and a*dult* (>18 years) (73,74). This classification is most widely used by clinicians. Today the terms early onset and late onset,

with early onset higher end range and late onset lower end range being at the age of 10, are commonly used (75).

	Age of onset (years)
Infantile	0-2
Juvenile	3-9
Adolescent	10-18
Adult	18+

#### Table XX: Chronological classification of AIS.

#### 3.2. Curve Location:

This is defined on the basis of the location of the apical vertebra and is classified as *cervical* (apex between C2 and C6), *cervicothoracic* (C7-T1), *thoracic* (T2-T11), *thoracolumbar* (T12-L1), *lumbar* (L2-L4), or *lumbosacral* (L5 and below) (76).

Curve	Арех		
Occipitocervical	Occiput to C2		
Cervical Coronal	C2-C3 disc to C6-C7 disc		
Cervicothoracic junction	C7-T1		
Proximal thoracic	T1–T2 disc to T5 disc		
Main thoracic	T5-T6 disc to T11-T12 disc		
Thoracolumbar	T12-L1		
Lumbar	L1–L2 disc through L4–L5 disc		
Lumbosacral	L5-S1		

#### Table XXI: Location of apex of the curve.

#### 3.3. <u>Angular: Curve Magnitude</u>

The Cobb angle of a scoliotic curve (the angle between the most cranially and caudally tilted vertebrae) is one of the decisive factors in managing scoliosis, and it is directly correlated to all follow-up and treatment decisions (Figure 46) (60,77). Various classifications have been proposed according to these angular measurements. Although none has widespread validity, there is an agreement on some thresholds (33,77-81) :

- Curvature under 10° is considered a normal variation, the diagnosis of scoliosis should not be made.
- Mild scoliosis: Cobb angle in the range of 10 to 20 degrees.
- Moderate scoliosis: Cobb angle ranges from 21 to 35 degrees.
- Moderete to severe scoliosis: Cobb angle measurment of between 36 and 40 degrees.
- Severe scoliosis: Cobb angle in the range of 41 to 50 degrees.
- Severe to very severe scoliosis: Cobb angle ranges from 51 to 55 degrees.
- Very severe scoliosis: Cobb angle greater than 56 degrees.

From these thresholds , and considering the measurement error of this measuring method is approximately 5° when measured manually (82–87), but somewhat less with computer assisted measurement (88), clinical decisions are made (79).



Figure 46: The Cobb angle measurement method.

#### 3.4. <u>Topographic: Curve Type</u>

Most frequently used classifications of scoliosis are based on the anatomical location of the curves in the frontal plane, and is generally used to describe the patient sample and plan a therapy. Ponseti (89) was the first to describe scoliosis according to the location of the deformity. According to him, there are four major patterns; thoracic, lumbar, thoraco-lumbar and double (Figure 47). However, this classification system could not capture the true complexity of the deformity with curve type and location alone. Until, King et al. (90) developed a classification system in 1983 based on the experience of the surgical treatment, where five types of thoracic curves were defined, and while this classification system was heavily used to guide treatment options for many years, it could not be used to describe scoliosis as a threedimentional deformity (91) (Figure 48 & Table XXII). With the aim to help predict treatment when planning surgery a new classification system was proposed by *Lenke et al.* in 2001 (92) including six types of curves (numbered 1 through 6), three lumbar modifiers (A, B, or C) that are based on deviation of the apical lumbar vertebra and, for the first time in any classification system for scoliosis, the sagittal profile was also included with three sagittal plane modifiers (, N, or +) to classify the curve type (93,94) (Figure 49). Since its presentation, it has been endorsed by the SRS and widely used by surgeons to guide the surgical spinal fusion procedures.

Most recently, Abelin–Genevois et al. described a new sagittal classification system complementary to the Lenke classification. This classification describes four specific patterns of the presentation of the sagittal spinal profile on lateral radiographs: normal kyphosis (pattern 1), hypokyphosis (pattern 2a), hypokyphosis in combination with thoracolumbar kyphosis (pattern 2b), cervicothoracic kyphosis (pattern 3) (Figure 50) (95).

Furthermore, Researchers have recently provided simple and clinically oriented threedimensional morphological (3D) classifications of scoliosis (96-100) However the most useful one in clinical practice, is far from being defined (101).



Figure 47: The Ponseti-Friedman classification of scoliosis.



Figure 48: King's classification of scoliosis, based on a single coronal X-ray image. In type 1, one thoracic and one lumbar curve are present, with the latter being larger and less flexible; both curves cross the midline. In type 2, the thoracic curve is equal or larger than the lumbar curve. In type3, there is only a thoracic curve in which the lowest level does not cross the midline. In type 4, a single long thoracolumbar curve starting at L4 is present. Type 5 shows a double thoracic curve; T1 is involved in the upper curve.

King Classification						
Туре	Primary Curve	Secondary Curve	Lateral Bending			
I	Lumbar, crossing the midline	Thoracic, crossing the midline	Lumbar curve is larger			
Π	Thoracic, crossing the midline	Lumbar, crossing the midline	Thoracic curve is larger			
III	Thoracic	Lumbar, not crossing the midline	_			
IV	Long Thoracic	Where L5 is centered over the sacrum	-			
V	Double Thoracic T1 is tilted to the upper thoracic Curve	_	_			

## Table XXII: King Classification: 5 Sub-Groups According to the Primary Curve and Compensatory Curve.

	-	_		
Туре	Proximal thoracic	Main thoracic	Thoracolumbar/ lumbar	Curve type
1	Nonstructural	Structural (major*)	Nonstructural	Main thoracic (MT)
2	Structural	Structural (major*)	Nonstructural	Double thoracic (DT)
3	Nonstructural	Structural (major*)	Structural	Double major (DM)
4	Structural	Structural (major*)	Structural	Triple major (TM)
5	Nonstructural	Nonstructural	Structural (major*)	Thoracolumbar/Lumbar (TL/L)
6	Nonstructural	Structural	Structural (major*)	Thoracolumbar/Lumbar-main Thoracic (TL/L–MT)

> T2 body-T11/12 disc T12 body–L1 body L1/2 disc–L4 body

\*Major = largest cobb measurement (always structural)

#### Structural criteria (Minor curves)

	Proximal thoracic	<ul> <li>Side-bending Cobb ≥25°</li> <li>T2–T5 kyphosis ≥ +20°</li> </ul>	Location of Apex (SRS definition)		
	Main thoracic	<ul> <li>Side-bending Cobb ≥25°</li> <li>T12–L2 kyphosis ≥ + 20°</li> </ul>	Curve Thoracic	Apex T2 body- T12 body L1/2 disc-	
	Thoracolumbar/ lumbar	<ul> <li>Side-bending Cobb ≥25°</li> <li>T12–L2 kyphosis ≥ + 20°</li> </ul>	thoracolumbar lumbar		

Minor = all other curves with structural criteria applied.

		Modifiers			
Lumbar spine modifier	CSVL to lumbar apex		Thoracic sagittal profile (T5–T12)		CSVL to lumbar apex
A	CSVL between Pedicles		-	Нуро	<10°
В	CSVL touches Apical body(ies)		N	Normal	10°-40°
С	CSVL completely medial	A B C	+	Hyper	>40°

Classification: Curve type (1–6) + Lumbar modifier (A, B, C) + Thoracic sagittal modifier (–, N, +) (i.e., 2A+) SRS = Scoliosis Research Society; CSVL = Center Saeral Vertical Line

Figure 49: Lenke classification system of curve type.



Figure 50: Abelin-Genevois classification.

#### 4. Management of Scoliosis

Scoliosis is a complex three-dimensional deformity that can progress if untreated, causing chronic back pain and significant pulmonary impairment (102-108).

Surgery is typically indicated if the Cobb angle exceeds a threshold of 45°-50° at completion of growth and even more when a risk of progression remains; however, additional factors including age, curve progression, and symptoms such as pulmonary compromise are further indications for operative treatment (33,46,109-111). Although the indications and strategies vary, depending on the age of the patient and the deformity encountered, the ultimate goal of surgical intervention is to maximize deformity correction, retain spinal flexibility, and minimise complications, while achieving global coronal and sagittal spinal balance (112-114). As

40-46% of all AIS patients are hypokyphotic, special attention should be paid to restoring sagittal balance in these patients, with studies supporting that failure to restore thoracic kyphosis (TK) may predispose to proximal or distal junctional kyphosis, as well as late complications predisposing to future decompensation (3,95,115-117).

The current most commonly used surgical techniques aim at achieving a correction of the deformity in all three planes, creating a balanced spine, and maintaining this correction by arthrodesis. To do so, patients can undergo anterior spinal fusion (ASF), posterior spinal fusion (PSF), or a combined anterior and posterior approach. Instrumented correction techniques in scoliosis surgery have been reported with numerous systems, from Harrington's distraction principles to segmental realignment using a variety of techniques including translation with apical sublaminar wires or a rod rotation maneuver with Cotrel-Dubousset instrumentation, segmental approximation by cantilever maneuvers, and direct vertebral body derotation using pedicle screws (118-123).

Posterior instrumentation has proven effective and is the most commonly used method of correction for most patients (124). While a number of implants are available to achieve these goals (125–129), all–pedicle screw instrumentation (Figure 51) is the gold standard as it provides excellent coronal and axial correction with reliable vertebral derotation. However, some authors have raised concerns about the changes in the sagittal plane of the spine, as they allege that derotation has a lordogenic effect on the curves, especially in the thoracic region (130–134), this latter not observed with hybrid instrumentation using sublaminar bands in matched patients (6,135). Moreover, several recent studies have demonstrated that the use of hybrid instrumentation (Figure 52) provides a good correction of the curvature in the frontal plane but also a better restoration of sagittal balance of the spine while being associated with lower risk of complications (136–138).

Although the optimal posterior fusion strategy is still controversial (5,6,139,140), the necessity to restore an overall satisfactory spinal balance in the sagittal plane while correcting the preoperative hypokyphosis, is more widely recognised and appears to be crucial goal in the

- 68 -

management of scoliosis, whatever the surgical strategy or implant system applied to obtain a solid arthrodesis (92,130,141-143).



Figure 51: Surgical treatment of scoliosis using all-pedicle screw instrumentation. (A and B) Preoperative posteroanterior (PA) and lateral standing radiographs of a girl with right idiopathic scoliosis Lenke type 2. (C and D) Postoperative standing radiograph of the patient after posterior instrumentation. Satisfactory correction and a well-balanced spine are seen in both the sagittal and coronal planes.



Figure 52: Surgical treatment of scoliosis with posteromedial translation using sublaminar bands. (A and B) Preoperative PA and lateral standing radiographs. (C and D) Postoperative standing radiograph of the patient after posterior instrumentation.

### III. Sagittal Balance of the Spine

The spine and the body function within a cone of equilibrium with the focus of maintaining sagittal and coronal alignment with minimum energy expenditure (144). This happens with a harmonious relationship involving cervical lordosis, thoracic kyphosis, lumbar lordosis, and pelvic anatomy. These curvatures work in collaboration with the pelvis to allow equal distribution of forces across the spinal column. It is the disruption of this equilibrium by certain pathological processes or, as in most instances, ageing that results in spinal malalignment. To maintain sagittal balance against changes in the spine, the body reacts through various compensatory changes. Lordosis diminishes as the pelvis tilts backward; conversely, when lordosis increases, the pelvis tilts forward and seeks to maintain balance curvatures in the spine work together to adjust the orientation of the pelvis (Figure 53). However, the compensatory mechanisms may become insufficient (decompensated) and sagittal

imbalance may become evident (145). These changes in the spine are evaluated through spinopelvic parameters (146,147).



Figure 53: Spinal curvatures compensatory patterns. A. Balanced spine with slight pelvic retroversion and C7 plumb line (C7PL) over the sacral endplate behind femoral heads. B. Reduced lumbar lordosis, pelvic retroversion maintains C7 PL behind femoral heads. C. Thoracic kyphosis, hip extension (HE) limits pelvic retroversion. Compensations occur with knee flexion, as C7 PL passes forward to femoral heads.

#### 1. Pelvic Parameters

Pelvic parameters have been shown to place significant emphasis on maintaining spinal sagittal balance (8,9,20). The anatomical relationship between the spine and the pelvis helps with modulating an erect posture through the pelvic girdle balancing lumbar lordosis with hip joint

extension (20). Moreover, it has been suggested that the angle of Pelvic Incidence (PI) is an essential anatomical pelvic parameter that can be used as a means to classify both the morphology and functionality of the pelvis (8,148).

Three pelvic parameters have been defined and compared through pelvic geometry (Figure 54): Pelvic Incidence (PI), Pelvic Tilt (PT), and Sacral Slope (SS). PI is a morphological parameter, constant for each individual, and relates to the angle measured from a perpendicular line to the mid-point of the sacral plate and extended to the center of the femoral head as described by Legaye and Duval-beaupère (8). PT is the angle measured from a perpendicular line starting at the center of the femoral head and extending to the mid-point of the sacral plate and is a positional (functional) parameter. SS is a positional parameter measured from the superior endplate of S1 and a horizontal axis (17,149), and completes the geometric relationship resulting in the equation "PI = PT + SS" (9,150) (Figure 55).



Figure 54: Pelvic parameters. PI, pelvic incidence; PT, pelvic tilt; SS sacral slope.



Figure 55: Geometrical construction of the pelvic parameters described by Dubal-Beaupère. <u>PI=PT+SS.</u>

#### 1.1. Pelvic Incidence (PI)

The first pelvic parameter to be considered as the key factor for sagittal spinal balance is pelvic incidence (PI). This angle remains relatively constant during childhood. Thereafter, it increases significantly during adolescence, reaching its maximum value at adulthood (151). Moreover, the PI angle provides information pertaining to pelvic compensation such as an individual's ability to perform pelvic retroversion in relation to the femoral heads (20). The amplitude of retroversion is correlated to the pelvic incidence (PI) value: the greater the PI, the greater the ability for pelvic retroversion (Figure 56) (152,153). This parameter is closely related to lumbar lordosis in normal adolescents and adults (149,154,155). Legaye et al. (9) and Duval– Beaupère et al. (8) postulated that a high pelvic incidence is associated with a high sacral slope and pronounced lumbar lordosis, while a low pelvic incidence is associated with a lower sacral slope and a reduced lumbar lordosis, leading to the basic concept of an "economic standing position" (156).



Figure 56: Difference in Pelvic tilt range regarding the value of pelvic incidence (PI). Note that in smaller PI, the sacral plateau is higher over the femoral heads (FH) close to the projection of the iliac crest. With higher PI, the sacrum looks smaller; the sacral plateau is in the lower position compared to the iliac crest level and posterior to FH.

#### 1.2. Pelvic Tilt (PT)

PT indicates the rotational positioning of the pelvis around the femoral heads (FH). The mean value of the PT angle is approximately 12° ranging from 5° to 30° (9,157,158). Moreover, this is a compensatory angle and changes with posture. If the pelvis rotates backward (retroversion), PT increases. If the pelvis rotates forward (anteversion), PT decreases.

#### 1.3. Sacral Slope (SS)

SS is a positional angle and may change throughout life, according to sagittal balance requirements. The mean value for the SS angle is approximately 40° ranging from 20° to 65° (159,160). The orientation of SS directly guides the orientation of L5 and the whole spine above. This parameter is the direct link between the pelvis and the lumbar lordosis (LL). In normal situations, SS is always tilted forward with positive increasing values. In pathological situations,

SS may even reach the horizontal line (SS  $= 0^{\circ}$ ). Negative SS values, always indicating pathology, are exceptional.

#### 2. Spinal Parameters

Historically, the human spine was divided into a LL, a TK, and a CL. This segmentation first described by Hippocrates, assigned for each anatomical segment of the spine a particular orientation: convex forward from L5–S1 to T12–L1, convex backward from T1 to T12–L1, and convex forward in the cervical spine. This anatomical segmentation remained even when using full length standing radiographs into more modern times (8).

#### 2.1. Thoracic kyphosis

In the thoracic spine, global kyphosis is measured between the upper endplate of T1 and the lower endplate of T12 (20). The theoretical value in asymptomatic subjects is estimated to be equal to 0.75 times the global lumbar lordosis angle: TK (T1-T12) = 0.75xLL (L1-S1) (161). However, because of the difficulty in visualizing the upper thoracic vertebrae, the classical measurement of TK has been the angle between T4 and T12 (Figure 57.A) (21).


Figure 57: A: Schematic representation of the thoracic kyphosis (TK) angle, which is the measurement of the Cobb angle between the lower endplate of T12 and the upper endplate of T4. B: Schematic representation of the lumbar lordosis (LL) angle, which is the measurement of the Cobb angle between the upper endplate of S1 and the upper endplate of L1.

### 2.2. Lumbar Lordosis

At first, most authors described LL as the angle between the L1 superior endplate and L5 inferior endplate. Little while ago, there has been consensus to extend LL to the S1 plate as depicted in Figure 57.B. However, because the purely anatomical description of the spinal curves is not sufficient in the treatment of biomechanical pathologies, various proposals for a functional segmentation have been conducted, arguing that it is the orientation of the successive vertebrae that defines the curvatures: lordosis represents the area where the successive vertebrae are in extension and kyphosis in flexion. This concept has brought Berthonnaud et al. (15) to describe

a segmentation model of the spine, suggesting the inflection point where lordosis turns into kyphosis, without reference to a specific anatomical landmark (Figure 58). Accordingly, lumbar lordosis is measured between the upper S1 endplate and the inflection point (17). Using this functional segmentation, it is shown that approximately two-thirds of the total lumbar lordosis are located at the ultimate two lumbar levels as previously reported by Jackson (162) and confirmed by Roussouly (163) : L4–S1=0.66×L1–S1.



Figure 58: "Geometric" sagittal construction of the spine according to Berthonnaud in upright stance. SS, sacral slope; LL, lumbar lordosis.

There is a close relationship between the pelvic parameters and lumbar lordosis. Roussouly et al. have shown that lordosis varies according to sacral slope and pelvic incidence, and a high statistical correlation (R=0.86, p<00.1) was found between sacral slope and global lumbar lordosis (164). This indicates that the orientation of the sacral endplate dictates the amount of lumbar lordosis: a flat sacral endplate implies a small angle of lordosis, a more vertical sacral endplate implies a greater angle of lumbar lordosis.

Several predictive formulas for calculating lordosis have been proposed (165,166), but a simplified method of estimation has been more frequently used in the literature and clinical practice:  $LL=PI+10^{\circ}$  was proposed by Schwab et al. in their description of the SRS spinal deformity classification (164,167,168). The concept of pelvic incidence to lumbar lordosis mismatch (PI-LL mismatch) derives from this latter classification system: PI-LL  $\geq 10^{\circ}$  (167).

### 3. Global Sagittal Balance:

LL and TK are not the only parameters that are needed to understand the shape of the normal spine in standing posture. Global alignment and balance need to be assessed as well. It is noteworthy to explain the difference between alignment and balance of the spine, because both notions are very often confused in the medical literature.

Both terms refer to full spine radiographs in standing position. Alignment refers to matching of the different spino-pelvic parameters to their normal theoretical values, whereas balance refers to the ability of the patient to adapt adjacent mobile segments' curves to keep the gravity line as close as possible within in the "polygon of support" ("polygone de sustentation" in French, described by Jean Dubousset) (169,170). This ability is called compensatory adaptation. The balance of a patient is the result of an interplay of spinal column architecture, muscular actions and neurological control. The balance can be normal, compensated or decompensated as shown by C. Barrey and other authors (152,153,171).

Various sagittal balance assessment parameters have been described (144) :

### 3.1. Sagittal Vertical Axis (SVA)

This is the simplest and most frequently used measurement for evaluating global spinal balance (159) (Figure 59). It is the distance between the posterior edge of the sacral plateau and the C7 plumb line projection (172) and is optimum when less than 5 cm (SVA < 5 cm) (162,173). SVA assesses if an individual is in neutral, positive or negative alignment by comparing the head position relative to the sacral promontory (174). Glassman et al. (175) showed that, among 352 patients with positive sagittal alignment, a high sagittal vertical axis correlated with pain and worse scores for health and quality of life.



Figure 59: Schematic representation of the sagittal vertical axis (SVA), which is the horizontal distance between the C7 plumb line and the postero-superior corner of S1.

#### 3.2. Pelvic Incidence minus Lumbar Lordosis (PI-LL)

The PI–LL is often used as a descriptive parameter for the spine alignment (148,168). Schwab et al. (176) found that the PILL correlated significantly with the pelvic tilt and the sagittal vertical axis. It has been suggested that a–PL be low 10° indicates a malalignment. Because the lumbar lordosis value must adapt to the pelvic morphology (evaluated by the pelvic incidence), a lack of correspondence between the two values would represent a condition in which the patient could not find a spinopelvic organization in accordance with their pelvic anatomy. The PI–LL showed a correlation with questionnaires related to health and quality of life (HQoL), simultaneously proving to be a valuable tool for the intraoperative planning of correction of flatback syndrome, being used as the basis for determining the target correction in surgical treatment of sagittal malalignment (177–179).

# 4. <u>Spino-pelvic morphotypes and Sagittal Balance of the Spine in Normal</u> Asymptomatic Subjects: The Roussouly Classification (164)

Based on the concept that the morphology and spatial orientation of the pelvis determine the organization of the spine and its curvatures, Roussouly et al. developed a classification of spinopelvic morphotypes translated by four types of lumbar lordosis according to the angle of SS and PI (Figure 60). **Types 1** and **type 2** are characterized by small pelvic incidence angles (<45°) but especially a small sacral slope, less than 35°. **Type 3** is the most commonly found in this study population and is characterized by a pelvic incidence angle of 50° in average, but mainly by a sacral slope angle value between 35° and 45°. Finally, **type 4** is characterized by an average pelvic incidence angle of 55° or more, but mainly a sacral slope greater than 45°.

In terms of statistical distribution, the most frequent type seen in the normal (non degenerative) asymptomatic population is **type 3** (38% of the total population in Roussouly's study), followed by **type 4** (30%), **type 1** (21%) and finally **type 2** (11%) (164). **Type 3** is also considered as the most well balanced spino-pelvic type, meaning that the amplitude of lumbar

lordosis and thoracic kyphosis are similar and the inflection point (change from lumbar lordosis to thoracic kyphosis) is located at the thoraco-lumbar junction (T12 or L1). **Type 4** is characterized by a sacral slope of 45° or more, a great lordosis and great thoracic kyphosis, a lumbar apex (most prominent vertebra of the lumbar spine on a lateral x-ray) at L3 or higher.

From a biomechanical point of view, in **type 4** the gravity line runs in the area of the posterior elements. **Type 1** and **type 2** have similar pelvic incidence and sacral slope values, but a different spinal curve distribution: **type 1** is characterized by a long thoracolumbar kyphosis, a very short lumbar lordosis limited to 2 or 3 segments with an inflection point in the lower lumbar area and a lumbar apex at L5; **type 2** on the other hand has a more harmonious curve distribution with small angles of lumbar lordosis and thoracic kyphosis, an inflection point in the thoraco- lumbar area and an apex around L4. In **type 2**, the gravity line runs anteriorly in the lumbar spine (disc level), and in **type 1** it runs posteriorly in the lumbar spine (posterior facet joints) (180).



Figure 60: Sagittal classification of back type in healthy subjects according to Roussouly et al.

This classification has been recently updated to include a fifth type added to **type 3** curvature, as depicted in Figure 61, the anteverted **type 3**. This new type is characterized by low-grade PI,  $SS > 35^\circ$ , and is associated with anteverted pelvis (181).



Figure 61: The modified Roussouly classification. Normal human spines could be divided into five different shapes according to sacral slope (SS) and pelvic incidence (PI).

## Part II: General Discussion and Conclusions

Proper alignment of the spine and pelvis, including appropriate physiologic sagittal curves, is essential for efficient and painless maintenance of an erect posture and sagittal balance.

Over the past decade, much emphasis has been placed on the importance of sagittal balance of the spine with prolific evidence highlighting the impact of sagittal malalignment on balance and long-term clinical outcomes as if not properly addressed it can lead to poor functional outcome, progressive degenerative disk disease and in adulthood (21,53,168,175,182-185). Thus, several radiographic parameters have been established for an understanding of the sagittal alignment of both the spine and pelvis (168,176,186). Thoracic kyphosis and lumbar lordosis measurements are used to analyze trunk alignment. More recently, with the introduction of the concepts of pelvic incidence (PI), pelvic version (PV), and sacral slope (SS) and their relationship (PI = PT + SS) by Duval Beaupère (8,9), the role of the pelvis has been widely recognized in the assessment of spinal balance and alignment (187).

Previous studies have reported differences in sagittal alignment and spinopelvic parameters between scoliosis patients before spinal surgery and healthy populations. Thus, restoring normal spinopelvic alignment is of crucial importance in the surgical management of spinal deformity (7).

The primary purpose of the current study was to investigate the change in sagittal alignment and spinopelvic parameters following posterior spinal fusion in patients affected by scoliosis from the preoperative state to different time points after arthrodesis to determine whether the sagittal balance was maintained. Additionally, we aimed to assess the impact of surgery on the clinical outcomes and determine whether an improvement of sagittal balance had an alleviated effect on the health-related quality of life (HRQoL) for these patients.

### I. Analysis of changes on spinal parameters

### 1. In the coronal plane

With respect to pre- and postoperative change in coronal alignment in these patients, it was shown that posterior spinal instrumentation and fusion surgery significantly improved all coronal parameters.

The correction rate of the primary and secondary curves in the study cohort at the final follow-up were 67 % (59% - 71.5%) and 60% (55.2% - 63.4%), respectively, which implied success in surgical correction. These results are comparable with the range of correction rates (60% to 70%) as described in literature for similar instrumentation (119,188-192).

Considering coronal imbalance, a shift of the plumb line toward the central sacral vertical line (CSVL) was observed postoperatively with a further slight improvement noted at the final follow-up of 3.3 mm. Importantly, 100% of the patients with preoperative coronal imbalance achieved restoration of coronal balance after surgery. This indicates an improvement in the coronal alignment of the spine over the pelvis. This result is in agreement with those reported in previous studies (193).

### 2. In the sagittal plane

Preserving or restoring proper sagittal alignment has been demonstrated as essential for achieving good long-term outcomes when performing instrumented fusion surgery to correct spinal deformity (194–197). Due to the relative anterior spinal overgrowth, thoracic alignment is generally characterized as being hypo-kyphotic or even lordotic in many cases of AIS (37,198– 200). Mac-Thiong et al. (56) conducted a study comparing spinopelvic sagittal alignment between patients with AIS and normal individuals and found that AIS patients tend to have higher pelvic incidence (PI) and smaller thoracic kyphosis (TK). Thereafter, Upasani et al. (2) reported that the results of their study were similar to those of Mac-Thiong et al. (56).

Consistent with previous published studies, this cohort exhibited lower thoracic kyphosis (TK) values compared to age-matched controls (19° vs 45.8°), while lumbar lordosis (LL) was relatively similar (50° vs 57°) (166). These results are in line with earlier research and provide further evidence supporting the hypothesis that hypo-kyphosis is involved in the development of thoracic AIS (36,201).

A contemporary LL and TK increase during posterior fusion has been reported (202,203). However, recent studies have shown conflicting findings regarding the perioperative changes in thoracic kyphosis (TK) during posterior fusion. Roussouly et al. (184) not only found a prevalence of lower TK values than average but also a significant decrease in TK coupled to a decrease of LL in the normo-kyphotic group after corrective surgery, while TK was improved in the hypo-kyphotic group. Our findings, however, differ with regards to change in the TK and LL after posterior spinal fusion. Post-operatively, Greater mean changes in TK were observed in the hypo-kyphosis group than those in the total cohort group or the normo-kyphotic group. Our study demonstrated the statistically significant decrease in TK and reciprocal decrease in the LL reported by Roussouly et al. (184) was only seen in patients that were hyper-kyphotic at baseline. Hyper-kyphotic patients had a correction of their hyper-kyphosis from 46.5° to 36° whereas patients who were hypo-kyphotic at baseline showed a 87% and 10% increase of their TK and LL, respectively, while the normo-kyphotic ones at baseline did not have any statistically significant changes in these parameters. A few studies have reported results similar to this study (204,205). Although absolute values are different from our results, Dumpa et al. (204) reported that TK was significantly increased  $(7^{\circ}-16.7^{\circ})$  in the hypo-kyphosis group and was decreased (48.7° to 25.7°) in the hyper-kyphosis group while TK did not change significantly (24.4° - 23.3°) in the normo-kyphosis group when the posterior approach was used. However, contrary to our findings in which LL significantly increased in the hypo-kyphosis group, Dumpa et al. did not find significant changes in the LL in either groups.

Several research have demonstrated a clear correlation between TK and LL in achieving sagittal alignment (151,206,207). In the present study, the restoration of a normal thoracic kyphosis has resulted in changes on adjacent sagittal curvatures. Immediate postoperative measurements showed no alteration in lumbar lordosis, but a significant increase was observed in the following months. This change had remained consistent at most recent follow-up. These findings are in agreement with those obtained by Blondel et al. (203), who also showed that improvement of lumbar lordosis secondary to thoracic kyphosis correction occurred during the following months. It portrays that lumbar lordosis is a parameter that secondarily adjusts to the new sagittal balance induced by the restoration of the thoracic kyphosis.

At final follow-up, the mean TK and LL were 30.4° and 52.3 degrees, respectively, in the normo-kyphosis group, while the mean TK and LL were 23° and 47.7°, respectively, in the hypo-kyphosis group, showing a persistent statistically significant difference between the 2 groups. This falls within the normal range of TK and LL, and indicates that surgical correction in our patients led to a satisfactory restoration of the sagittal profile.

### 3. Influence of instrumentation on initial coronal and sagittal radiological correction: Posteromedial translation using sublaminar bands versus rodderotation with pedicle screws

Many authors have reported excellent frontal and axial correction of scoliosis using allpedicle screw constructs, but their ability to improve hypokyphosis is less satisfactory (130,133,140,208). Surgeons applying posteromedial translation (PMT) with hybrid constructs have consistently achieved good results in terms of both coronal Cobb angle correction and final kyphosis (6,141,209,210).

Our results suggest that these two techniques had different advantages: while pedicle screw instrumentation results in a better coronal correction and maintenance of correction at final follow-up, sublaminar bands achieve a better restoration of sagittal alignment especially in patients with a preoperative hypokyphosis (+13.2° versus +6.7°). These results are matched in

the literature, as many studies have shown that SB instrumentation is effective in restoring TK (136,211-214).

Restoring sagittal spinal balance continues to be one of the most challenging goals of scoliosis surgery. Our findings confirm the ability of hybrid constructs using sublaminar bands to restore a satisfactory thoracic kyphosis for hypokyphotic patients (Figure 62). Overall, the TK angle increased by 13.2°. This effect was not obtained at the expense of a noticeable decrease in coronal curve correction compared to other constructs (60% mean decrease). We ascribe this ability to restore thoracic kyphosis while correcting the coronal deformity to application by the dedicated reduction tool of a posteromedial translation force (215) that pulls the spine backwards to the pre-bend rods (209,216), while eliminating all risk of neurological compromise when inserting the screws into the concavity of the curve. Another advantage of this technique is the limited risk of overcorrection in the coronal plane, given the absence of rod-derotation manoeuvres as described with screw-only constructs (93,217). Ilharreborde et al. (218) reviewed patients with scoliosis treated by hybrid constructs with SB. They were able to restore thoracic kyphosis in 69% of patients; interestingly, 87.5% of patients with lordo-scoliosis showed a significant improvement of thoracic hypokyphosis, bringing values close to normal (16° increase of thoracic kyphosis, on average) (214,218). Similarly, Fletcher et al. (143) have demonstrated that all-pedicle screw constructs were less efficient than hybrid constructs with SB in the restoration of thoracic kyphosis in patients with scoliosis.

From these results, it appears that some guidelines can be proposed. For hypokyphotic patients with a preoperative TK below 20°, it may be better to use hybrid instrumentation with sublaminar bands to allow for proper restoration of the sagittal profile. Consequently, for patients with a preoperative hyperkyphosis, all-pedicle screw instrumentation should be preferred. However, further studies with a larger cohort are needed to confirm these findings.



Figure 62: A 17-year-old girl presented AIS with severe hypokyphosis. Hybrid instrumentation with sublaminar bands allowed correction of the deformity in frontal plane but also the restoration of the thoracic kyphosis. At the last follow-up, the correction in both frontal and sagittal planes is maintained and sagittal alignment is satisfactory.

## II. Analysis of changes on sacro-pelvic parameters

Since the introduction of the important effect of pelvic morphology in the regulation of an adequate sagittal balance by Duval-Beaupère et al., many studies investigated the sagittal spinopelvic parameters in adults but little research has been devoted to examining this relationship on patients with AIS. Some authors have focused on the spinal balance in adolescents with scoliosis (56,142), but its relation to the pelvic configuration is poorly defined in the literature. Although, less is known about the distribution of these parameters in adolescent scoliosis, Mac-Thiong et al. (56) evaluated the spinopelvic sagittal alignment in AIS and found lumbar lordosis was strongly related to pelvic configuration. Likewise, Upasani et al. (2) also found that the sagittal contour of the lumbar spine was in strong association with the pelvic positioning. Moreover, compensatory mechanisms will attempt to maintain sagittal balance in the most energy-efficient way, and as such, a sagittal plane malalignment may be compensated by pelvic rotation or modulation of the sagittal profile of the spine.

In the literature, debate continues regarding deviations in the pelvic parameters between patients with scoliosis who underwent posterior instrumentation surgery and those of the healthy population. Although some authors stated no difference between the two populations (219–221), some authors (14,56) found the PI to be higher in patients with AIS compared to the normal population. Baseline values for sagittal alignment found in our study prior to surgery are consistent with previously published age-matched data and confirm that pelvic alignment is disturbed in scoliosis. When compared to measurements in a control cohort of healthy adolescents reported by Mac-Thiong et al. (14), we found higher values in pelvic incidence (52.5° vs. 46.9°), similar values in sacral slope (40° vs. 39.1°) and higher values in pelvic tilt (12.2° vs. 7.7°).

There are explicit data in the literature regarding variances relevant to some spinopelvic parameters in scoliosis patients following surgical management. For instance, Roussouly et al. (184) found no significant difference for PI (53° vs 53.5°) but reported a significant difference for SS (42° vs 41.1°) and PT (11.1° vs 12.7°) pre– and post–operatively. Similarly, La Maida et al. (222) reported a statistically significant increase in PT following spinal surgery, concluding that the increase in mean PT value after surgery to be a type of compensatory mechanism for sagittal balance of the spine. Furthermore, Tanguay et al. (220) obtained a significant relationship between lumbar lordosis (LL) and pelvic parameters in patients with scoliosis following posterior spinal instrumentation and fusion surgery, however they found no statistically significant difference in PT angles preoperatively or post–operatively. In accordance with the research

- 89 -

reviewed above (220,222), significant decrease in SS (40° vs 38.3°) with a reciprocal increase in PT (14.5° vs 15.9°) indicating increased retroversion of the pelvis following surgery were found in our study, whereas no significant pre- or post-operative differences for PI (54.5° vs 54.2°). The retroversion of the pelvis post-operatively reflects an adaptation of the pelvis to the new sagittal balance. However, these changes are transitory and at final follow-up, pelvic parameters (SS and PT) returned to baseline. Similar results have been obtained by Pesenti et al. (212).

Considering the pre- and post-operative variances relevant to some sacro-pelvic parameters, the results obtained in our study has shown that arthrodesis did not alter pelvic alignment in the long term. However, it activates temporary series of compensatory mechanisms in the pelvis, the primary goal of which is to maintain the balance of the spine. This we believe that appropriate correction of TK and LL after surgery can improve pelvic morphology.

### III. <u>Reciprocal sagittal interactions</u>

The sagittal curvature of the spine and the pelvic balance swing together to maintain a stable posture and horizontal gaze. Restoring an appropriate sagittal profile surgically is not only important to correct the thoracic segment but also has repercussions throughout the spine. In particular, changes in the thoracic spine may impact adjacent lumbar or cervical alignment. The relationship between pelvic parameters and lumbar lordosis, as well as their impact on health-related quality-of-life (HRQoL) measures, has been well established in the adult literature and to some extent in the pediatric population (176,223). However, the link between thoracic profile and lumbar lordosis in the pediatric population has been more variable, with publications both supporting and refuting a relationship (14,56,203,224). Sudo et al. (224) correlated thoracic kyphosis with lumbar lordosis and lordosis with pelvic parameters. Similarly, Newton et al. (134) found a correlation between thoracic kyphosis restoration and lumbar lordosis postoperatively that persisted at 2 years. However, others have not established a relationship between thoracic kyphosis and lumbar lordosis (14,56).

The findings in this study demonstrate that sagittal reciprocal changes occur after posterior fusion when TK is restored. Interestingly, improvement of lumbar lordosis occurred a few months postoperatively, whereas the increase in kyphosis was observed immediately after surgery. This chronological sequence illustrates that lumbar lordosis is a parameter that secondarily adapts to the new sagittal balance induced by the correction of thoracic kyphosis. These results are in line with those of previous studies (203,212). Moreover, LL is significantly better in accordance with the pelvic incidence PI at the final follow–up, which confirms the impact of adjacent curvatures correction on global sagittal alignment.

In the same way, changes have also been noticed on pelvic parameters. Postoperatively, there is a significant increase in PT and a decrease in SS, indicating a temporary retroversion of the pelvis, offsetting the TK increase. This is the consequence of the new postoperative balance. As the SVA remains substantially stable after surgery, the global sagittal balance is still maintained. The initial resistance of the lumbar muscles and ligaments probably forces the patient into pelvic retroversion to keep his balance. Furthermore, during the following months, lumbar lordosis increases with return of pelvic parameters (SS and PT) to baseline. Thus, patients appear to require a period of adjustment to adapt to their new TK (222).

## IV. Complications

Reducing long-term sequelae resulting from spinal deformity surgery is a focus of spinal research by identifying risk factors of complications. However, complications arise in 1.5% to 5.7% of cases of corrective surgery for scoliosis. One of the currently most discussed problems is proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK) a common iatrogenic sagittal complication in scoliosis surgery, with a reported overall incidence as high as 46% (225,232) and a revision rate of about 10% (233). The high variability of PJK incidence rates can be partly explained by the use of different definitions and the poor visibility of the upper thoracic spine on lateral radiographs. The etiology of PJK seems to be multifactorial and has not yet been conclusively clarified.

Numerous aspects, including the surgical technique, different types of implants, and stiffness of rod material, preoperative thoracic hyperkyphosis, further parameters related to the sagittal profile, and certain types of scoliosis according to the Lenke classification, have been discussed to date as risk factors in the literature (227,234,235).

No PJK (236) was observed in our cohort with a mean follow-up of 38.5 months. Our results differ from those reported by Kim et al. (237), who found a PJK incidence of 26% after 5 years in a population of 193 patients and 27% after 2 years in a population of 410 patients (227). This difference can be explained by the fact that the majority of patients in our study, presented with preoperative hypokyphosis. Kim et al. (237) reported a lower rate of PJK for patients with hypokyphotic subpopulations: 10% (4 out of 40 patients) and 14% (10 out of 71 patients) (227). Although the small number of patients included in the study may limit our observations of PJK, it is proposed that restoring sufficient postoperative kyphosis and achieving proper global sagittal alignment following surgery decreases the risk to appear a PJK. These findings are supported by a similar study, conducted by Clement et al. (209).

### V. <u>Patient-reported outcome measures (PROM) following surgery</u>

Historically, assessment of surgical treatment of scoliosis has always been on the basis of the lateral curvature of the spine and on the percent of curve correction obtained with treatment (238,239). Over the past few years, there has been a growing trend toward assessing scoliosis treatment success by focusing on patient-centered information, in addition to traditional radiographic measurements (240-242). However, consensus is lacking on the correlation between radiological outcomes and HRQoL. The SRS-22r questionnaire has gained acceptance as the most commonly used disease-specific outcome questionnaire for scoliosis patients (243-245). For scoliosis patients in Arabic-speaking population, the Arabic version of the SRS-22r questionnaire was developed and evaluated for reliability and validity using international standards. Results showed that the Arabic version of the SRS-22r is reliable and correlates well with a widely used generic health questionnaire (13,246,247).

Regarding the radiological parameters, it was revealed that surgical correction has elicited a significant decrease in Cobb's angle with significant restoration of sagittal spinal alignment without any significant change in the pelvic parameters reflecting the hopeful outcomes of the spinal surgery. In Mariconda et al.'s study (248), there was also a significant decrease in both thoracic and lumbar Cobb's angles with decrease in rib hump after 1-year follow-up from the surgical performance.

In our study, the mean total SRS-22 score was 4.42 which shows significant improvement in overall quality of life from preopratively to the final follow-up. Throughout the five domains of the questionnaire, the "satisfaction with management" of patients after the surgical correction was considerably high reflecting the efficiency of the surgical outcomes and that was shown statistically through the present study results. Similar to our findings, Merola et al. (241) reported that the scores of the five domains demonstrated significant improvement after surgery in the follow-up analysis. These findings are consistent with those of Asher et al. (243) and Alsiddiky et al.'s (249) studies.

Hisam et al. (250), carried out a study on 44 patients with AIS and reported that the patients were highly satisfied with their quality of life after surgery as indicated by the mean value of total SRS score of 4.1 and with all domains except for "self-image" after surgery. Conversely, in the present study regarding the "self-image" domain, there was a significant increase from 3.23 score preoperatively reaching 4.37 score at the final follow-up, showing the highest increase among all the other domains. This outcome is also in agreement with the results of previous studies, which have found "self-image" to be the main factor improved by surgical treatment (241,251-254).

There is literature showing a positive correlation between the radiological outcome and HRQoL (255,256) and those that show no correlation (250,257). D'Andrea et al. (238) found little correlation between radiological assessment and the SRS questionnaire scores in

- 93 -

adolescents. In the present study, the postoperative Cobb's angle was significantly correlated with the mean total SRS-22r score which shows a significant overall improvement in quality of life despite residual deformity after posterior spinal surgery. Also, "self-image" and "satisfaction with management" were significantly correlated with post-operative Cobb's angle as well as the correction rate. Similar to our results, Ghandehari et al. (255) also found that the correction rate can significantly alter the overall score of SRS-30 and that it is positively correlated with patients' "Satisfaction with management". These findings suggest that better radiological outcomes after posterior spinal surgery provide better self-image/appearance and satisfaction to the patient.

Regarding individual domains of the questionnaire, correlation of each of the domains revealed that "satisfaction with management" was mainly attributed to improved "self-image" and absence of "pain". "Mental health" had significant positive correlation with "self-image" and "function". This is also comparable to Ghandehari et al. (255) who showed that "selfimage/appearance" was positively correlated with "satisfaction". Thus "self-image" was found to be the most important factor for better satisfaction and improved mental health after surgery.

The results reported herein show that posterior spinal surgery for scoliosis, can not only provide adequate correction of spinal deformity, but also lead to significant improvements in health-related quality of life (HRQoL), as shown by improvement in all SRS-22r domain scores. Overall, 100% of the patients were satisfied.

### VI. Strengths and limitations of the study

Several limitations should be acknowledged. Firstly, this is a single-center retrospective study of prospectively collected data with a small sample size and a relatively short follow-up period. Secondly, the study relies on radiographical outcomes, which are subject to inconsistencies in positioning, technician experience, and measurement reliability. However, the major strength of this study is the detailed description of the relationship between sagittal balance and pelvic alignment before and after surgery. Moreover, considering the limited number of reports about the evaluation of SRS22r, this study represents a significant contribution in addressing the importance of evaluating the quality of life after surgical intervention to accurately assess our findings precisely.

# CONCLUSIONS

Achieving proper alignment of the spine and pelvis is increasingly recognized as critical in the surgical management of spinal deformity. While the focus in the past has been on correction in the coronal plane, there has been a renewed interest in the sagittal alignment and its impact on functional balance and quality of life in scoliosis over the recent decades (258).

In this study, a comprehensive analysis of global sagittal alignment was conducted in patients with scoliosis, before and at different time-points after posterior spinal surgery. Several important findings were highlighted. Firstly, scoliosis patients were able to maintain their coronal and sagittal balance, but their sagittal balance can improve significantly postoperatively. Patients with thoracic hypokyphosis were able compensate for their particularly low kyphosis with a slightly lower lumbar lordosis, which allows them to keep the proper head-to-pelvis alignment. Secondly, spinopelvic parameters changed between the early post-operative and final follow-up. This confirms that sagittal alignment can continue to change for an extended period of time after surgery (259), and that the short-term follow-up radiographs capture the patient while he is still adapting his compensation mechanisms to keep balance after surgery. The third point of note is that the pelvis appeared to play an important role in these compensation strategies for maintaining a balanced spine. Fourthly, posteromedial translation (PMT) using sublaminar bands allows for a significantly better restoration of the sagittal profile, particularly in patients with hypokyphosis. Lastly, the surgery led to significant improvements in healthrelated quality of life (HRQoL), as shown by improvements in all SRS-22r domain scores of patients from preoperative to the final follow-up.

# ABSTRACTS

# <u>Abstract</u>

Title: THE ASSESSMENT OF SAGITTAL BALANCE IN SCOLIOSIS SURGERY

**Study design:** A retrospective correlation and comparative analysis of prospectively collected case series of patients at a single institution was undertaken.

**Purpose:** This study sought to investigate the impact of posterior arthrodesis on sagittal spinopelvic parameters and evaluate the clinical, radiological and functional outcomes of surgical correction in patients with scoliosis.

**Background:** Restoring three-dimensional (3D) alignment is critical in correcting patients with scoliosis using posterior spinal fusion (PSF).

**Methods:** Ten patients with scoliosis who underwent posterior spinal arthrodesis using either all-pedicle screw (PS) instrumentation or hybrid constructs with sublaminar bands (SB) between 2016 and 2022, with a minimum follow-up period of 12 months, were enrolled in the present study. Spinopelvic radiographic parameters were measured on pre- and post-operative full spine radiographs before surgery, early postoperatively, and at most recent followup. Clinical records, including demographic data, surgical data, and complications, were reviewed. Functional outcomes were assessed using the Scoliosis Research Society (SRS)-22r questionnaire. Clinical records—including demographic data; operating time; hospitalization time; blood loss; number of segments instrumented, fused, and osteotomized; functional improvement; follow-up duration; and complications—were recorded.

**Results:** In this study, 50% of the patients had a structural thoracic curve (type Lenke 1 or 2), and 50% had a structural thoracolumbar/lumbar curve (Lenke 3–6). The average correction of the primary curve in the coronal plane was 67%. The mean preoperative coronal balance (CVA) of 9.4 mm was improved to 3.3 mm at the final follow-up. Analysis of the sagittal contours between the preoperative and last follow-up evaluations demonstrated an improvement in thoracic kyphosis (TK) (19° vs. 26.3°), with 75% of hypokyphotic backs corrected to the

physiological range. Additionally, there was an improvement in lumbar lordosis (LL) (50° vs. 55.6°), while no changes were observed in pelvic incidence (PI), pelvic tilt (PT), and sacral slope (SS). Sagittal balance showed statistically significant improvement, with the mean sagittal vertical axis (SVA) decreasing from 13.8 mm to 5 mm and the mean pelvic incidence minus lumbar lordosis (PI–LL) mismatch decreasing from 8.3° to 3.2°. All patients with preoperative sagittal imbalance recovered after surgery.

No significant preoperative differences were found between the all-pedicle screw (PS) group and the sublaminar band (SB) group. The restoration of thoracic kyphosis (TK) in hypokyphotic subgroups was significantly better in the sublaminar band group compared to the pedicle screw group (from 12° to 25.2° versus 13.8° to 20.5°). Comparison between the groups showed no significant differences regarding pre– and post–operative LL, SVA, and Pl–LL. In the coronal plane, pedicle screws resulted in a significantly better correction than sublaminar bands at the final follow–up. The mean SRS–22r total and domain scores demonstrated significant improvements at the last follow–up (p < 0.01). No neurological deficits or proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK) were encountered during the follow–up period.

**Conclusions:** Posterior spinal fusion in scoliosis patients achieved good correction in the coronal plane and improved overall sagittal spinopelvic balance, which was maintained at the final follow-up. This outcome has been associated with high patient satisfaction and low complication rates. Furthermore, our findings indicate that posteromedial translation using sublaminar bands allows a significantly better restoration of the sagittal profile, particularly in patients with hypokyphosis.

**Keywords:** Sagittal balance, scoliosis, spinopelvic parameters, posterior spinal fusion, outcome, quality of life, SRS-22r.

# <u>RÉSUMÉ</u>

Titre : ANALYSE DE L'ÉQUILIBRE SAGITTAL DANS LA CHIRURGIE DE LA SCOLIOSE.

**Type d'étude :** Il s'agit d'une étude rétrospective, descriptive, analytique, monocentrique avec recueil prospectif de données.

**Objectif** : Le but de notre étude était d'évaluer les résultats cliniques, fonctionnels et radiographiques de patients atteints de scoliose ayant bénéficié d'une prise en charge chirurgicale par arthrodèse.

**Contexte** : La restauration optimale de l'alignement rachidien dans sa tridimensionnalité (3D) est primordiale dans la correction chirurgicale des scolioses par instrumentation postérieure.

**Méthode** : Ont été inclus dans notre étude 10 patients atteints de scoliose ayant subi une arthrodèse vertébrale postérieure entre 2016 et 2022 avec un recul minimal de 12 mois. 7 patients été opérés en utilisant une instrumentation à vis pédiculaires (groupe vis pédiculaire), 3 patients été opérés en utilisant des montages hybrides avec des bandes sous-lamaires (groupe hybride). Les paramètres pelvi-rachidiens et de l'équilibre global ont été mesurés sur les radiographies de rachis entier face et profil effectués en préopératoire, en postopératoire immédiat et au dernier recul. Pour chaque patient ont été recueillis à partir de dossiers médicaux: les données démographiques, cliniques et évolutives dont les complications. Le questionnaire (SRS)-22r a été utilisé pour l'évaluation des résultats fonctionnels.

**Résultats** : Sur l'ensemble des 10 cas de notre étude, la courbure était classée Lenke 1– 2 chez 50% des patients et était classée Lenke 3–6 chez le reste des patients. La correction coronale moyenne de la courbure principale était de 67%. Une amélioration progressive de l'alignement coronal global (CVA) de 9.4 mm en préopératoire à 3.3 mm au dernier recul avait été rapportée. Dans le plan sagittal, la cyphose thoracique avait été améliorée de façon

- 101 -

significative au dernier recul (19° vs. 26.3°) et une normocyphose thoracique avait était restaurée chez 75% des patients présentant une hypocyphose en préopératoire. Au dernier recul, la lordose lombaire avait été augmentée de 50° à 55.6°. Aucune différence significative n'avait été retrouvée pour l'ensemble des paramètres pelviens (incidence pelvienne, version pelvienne, et pente sacrée). Une diminution significative de l'axe vertical sagittal (SVA) était retrouvée (13.8 mm vs. 5 mm) et l'adéquation entre LL et PI était significativement améliorée de 5.1° (8.3° vs. 3.2°). Au dernier recul, tous les patients étaient corrigés sur le plan sagittal et coronal (alignés).

Les deux groupes de patients (groupe vis pédiculaire et groupe hybride) étaient comparables concernant les données radiographiques préopératoires. Au dernier recul, la restauration de la cyphose thoracique dans le sous-groupe des patients hypocyphotiques était significativement plus importante dans le groupe hybride par rapport au groupe vis pédiculaire avec un gain moyen de 13.2° vs. 6.7°. Quant à la LL, SVA, et PI-LL aucune différence significative n'avait été observée entre les 2 groupes. Dans le plan coronal, la correction de la courbure principale au dernier recul était plus importante dans le groupe vis pédiculaire. Le score SRS-22r était significativement amélioré au dernier recul ainsi que l'ensemble de ses sous –score (p < 0.01). Aucun phénomène de cyphose jonctionnelle proximale (PJK) ou de complications neurologiques n'ont été retrouvés durant le suivi.

**Conclusions** : Le traitement chirurgical par arthrodèse postérieure chez les patients scoliotiques semblerait permettre une bonne correction de la déformation dans les deux plans coronal et sagittal, améliorerait la qualité de vie, et entrainerait peu de risques de complications. Ces résultats ont été maintenus au dernier suivi. La correction par translation postéro-médiale, reposant sur l'utilisation de bandes sous-lamaires, a montré un meilleur potentiel de correction dans le plan sagittal sans perte de correction dans le plan coronal.

**Mots clés :** Équilibre sagittal, scoliose, paramètres pelvi-rachidiens, arthrodèse postérieure, qualité de vie, SRS-22r.

# <u>ملخص</u>

**عنوان:** التوازن السهمي للعمود الفقري في جراحة الجَنَف - الميلان الجانبي للعمود الفقري.

**تصميم الدراسة:** دراسة وصفية تحليلية بأثر رجعي لمرضى اعوجاج العمود الفقري.

**الهدف:** يهدف هذا البحث الى دراسة وتقبيم النتائج الجراحية، الإشعاعية والوظيفية للمرضى ذوي اعوجاج العمود الفقري بعد التدخل الجراحي عن طريق تثبيت الفقرات .

البيانات الخلفية: يُمكِّن التدخل الجراحي لاعوجاج العمود الفقري (Scoliosis) عن طريق دمج الفقرات (Arthrodesis) من تقويم وتصحيح آمن ومثالي للعمود الفقري في المستويين الأمامي والسهمي وخلل التوتر المحوري.

**المرضى والطرق:** تم عمل الدراسة لعشرة مرضى يعانون من اعوجاج بالعمود الفقري وتم التدخل الجراحي لهم عن طريق تثبيت الفقرات الصدرية والقطنية باستخدام القضبان والمسامير (PS) من الخلف او باستخدام الشرائط (SB) وذلك في قسم جراحة الدماغ والاعصاب بالمستشفى الجامعي محمد السادس بمراكش من 2016 الى 2022. تم قياس زوايا الانحناء على الصورة الشعاعية الأمامية والخلفية، والجانبية للعمود الفقري بأكمله قبل وبعد الجراحة. تم استخدام استبيان رقم 22 لجمعية ابحاث اعوجاج العمود الفقري (SRS) لتقييم النتائج الوظيفية للمرضى مع متابعة المرضى لمدة لا تقل عن 12 شهرًا من الجراحة.

النتائج: في هذه الدراسة، أظهر 50% من الحالات جنف صدري (نوع I-nke 1-2)، و 50% جنف صدري - قطني (نوع 6-3 Lenke ). وقد حدث تحسن ملحوظ بعد التدخل الجراحي في متوسط القياسات التالي: تصحيح درجة الانحناء ب 67% والتوازن الاكليلي من 9.4 ملم إلى 3.3 ملم وزاوية انحناء الفقرات الصدرية (TK) من 19° الى26,3° و زاوية انحناء الفقرات القطنية (LL) من 50% الى65,6° و التوازن السهمي (SVA) من 13,8 ملم الى 5 ملم في حين لم يكن أي تغيير على مستوى زاوية انحراف الحوض (PI) وزاوية امالة الحوض (PT) وزاوية منحدر الحوض (SS).

قبل الجراحة، لم يُظهر تحليل الخصائص السريرية والإشعاعية للمرضى أي فرق كبير بين المجموعتين، مما سمح لنا بمقارنة فعالية كلاهما. بعد الجراحة، عند المرضى ذوي الجنف البزخي ( Hypokyphosis)، حدث تحسن كبير في متوسط زاوية انحناء الفقرات الصدرية ( TK) في مجموعة تثبيت الفقرات باستخدام الشرائط ( SB) بالمقارنة مع مجموعة تثبيت الفقرات باستخدام القضبان والمسامير ( PS) (من °12 إلى °25,2 مقابل °13.8 إلى 20,5°). بينما لم تكن أي اختلافات مهمة فيما يتعلق بزاوية انحناء الفقرات القطنية ( LL) والتوازن السهمي (SVA) بين المجموعتين. على المستوى الأمامي، تصحيح درجة الانحناء كان أفضل عند مرضى مجموعة تثبيت الفقرات باستخدام القضبان والمسامير. كما حدث تحسن في جميع مجالات الاستبيان ( SRS-22r) بعد التدخل الجراحي عند جميع المرضى. لم يظهر أي من المرضى في أي من المجموعتين اي حالات للعجز العصبي أو مضاعفات (PJK) أثناء المتابعة العلاجية.

**الاستنتاج:** تمكَّنَ التدخل الجراحي للعمود الفقري الجَنَفي من الحصول على تصحيح العمود الفقري في المستويين، الأمامي والسهمي، ومن استبقائه بعد استخدام تثبيت الفقرات. كما اوضحت الدراسة تحسن ملحوظ في جودة الحياة للمرضى ذوي اعوجاج العمود الفقري بعد التصحيح الجراحي.

**الكلمات الرئيسية:** التوازن السهمي، الجَنَف، الدمج الفقري الخلفي، جودة الحياة، استبيان رقم 22 لجمعية ابحاث اعوجاج العمود الفقري .

# **APPENDICES**

# **APPENDIX 1: PATIENT INFORMATION FORM**

### I. Identity of The Patient:

- Full Name	::		_		
- Patient Id	entification:		-		
- Date of ac	mission:				
- Phone nu	mber:		-		
- Gender:	$\square$ M	□ <b>F</b>			
- Age:					
- Professior	n/ occupation:				
II. Past Medica	al History:				
- Past or cu	rrent medical conditions	: 🗆 NO		YES	
- Previous s	surgeries:			YES	
- Medicatio	ns and allergies:			YES	
III. Reason for IV. Clinical Dat	Hospital Admission:				
<u>Clinical Pre</u>	sentation:				
-	Date of onset of sympto	oms:			
-	Neurologic symptoms:				
-	Back pain and stiffness:		□ NO		
-	Muscle fatigue from mu	scle strain a	nd comp	ensated pos	ture:
			□ NO		
-	Shortness of breath:		□ NO		
-	Family history of spinal	disorders:	□ NO	□ YES _	
Physical Ex	amination:				
1. Vital si	gns:				
	Height: cm	Weight:	I	٨g	Heart rate:bpm
	Resp. rate: per	min	Blood p	ressure:	mm Hg

### 2. Inspection:

### - Symmetry:

Shoulders asymmetry:	🗆 Left	🗆 Right
Trunk shift:	🗆 Left	🗆 Right
• Waist fold difference:	🗆 Left	🗆 Right
Pelvic obliquity:	🗆 Left	🗆 Right
- Limbs:		
Leg-length discrepancy:		
- Café au lait spots:		
- Axillary freckling.		

### 3. Examination of the spine:

- Spinal alignment / the contour of the spine:
- Adam's forward bend test:

•	Rib prominence:	🗆 Left	🗆 Right
•	Lumbar promincence:	🗆 Left	🗆 Right

### - Palpation of the spine and paraspinal muscles:

•	Tenderness:		□ YES
•	muscle spasms:		□ YES
•	masses:		□ YES
•	swelling:	□ NO	□ YES

### 4. Neurologic Examination:

- Motor strength:
- Reflexes:
- Sensory exam:
- Peripheral Nerve Examination:
- Coordination/gait:

### V. Radiographic Data

- 1. X-rays: Full spine standing anteroposterior (AP) and lateral views:
- Risser sign:
  stage 0
  stage 1
  stage 2
  stage 3
  stage 4
  stage 5
- Lenke type: \_\_\_\_\_
- Radiographic parameters:

PREOPERATIVE	
Coronal Cobb angle	Sagittal plane
Proximal thoracic:	тк:
Main thoracic:	LL:
Thoracolumbar curve:	SS:
	PT:
	PI:
	SVA:
	PI-LL:

- 2. CT scan: \_\_\_\_\_
- 3. MRI: \_\_\_\_\_

### VI. Operative Data

- Surgical procedure: \_\_\_\_\_
- Surgical time: \_\_\_\_\_ min
- Estimated blood loss (EBL): \_\_\_\_\_ ml
- Fusion levels: \_\_\_\_\_
- Length of hospital stay: \_\_\_\_\_ days
- Complications:
  - Intraoperative: \_\_\_\_\_
  - Perioperative: \_\_\_\_\_

### VII. Surgical Outcomes

- Radiographic outcomes:

At final follow-up
Coronal Cobb angle
Proximal thoracic:
Main thoracic:
Thoracolumbar curve:
Sagittal plane
ТК:
LL:
SS:
PT:
PI:
SVA:
PI-LL:

- Post-operative complications: \_\_\_\_\_
- Functional outcomes: \_\_\_\_\_

# APPENDIX 2 : RISSER GRAGING SYSTEM

- **Stage 0** : Bonny iliac apophysis not yet visible on radiographs.
- **Stage 1** : Initial < 25% ossification of the iliac apophysis.
- **Stage 2** : From 25% to 50% of the ossification of the iliac apophysis.
- **Stage 3** : From 50% to 75% ossification of the iliac apophysis.
- **Stage 4** : More than 75% ossification of the iliac apophysis.
- Stage 5 : Iliac apophysis is 1005 ossified and fuses to the iliac crest.



# APPENDIX 3 : SCOLIOSIS RESEARCH SOCIETY (SRS)-22r PATIENT QUESTIONNAIRE

Patient Name:
Today's Date:
Medical Record #:
Date of Birth:// (DD/MM/YYYY)
Age:

INSTRUCTIONS: We are carefully evaluating the condition of your back and it is IMPORTANT THAT YOU ANSWER EACH OF THESE QUESTIONS YOURSELF. Please CIRCLE THE ONE BEST ANSWER TO EACH QUESTION.

- 1. Which one of the following best describes the amount of pain you have experiencedduring the past 6 months?
  - None Mild Moderate Moderate to severe Severe
- 2. Which one of the following best describes the amount of pain you have experienced overthe last month?
  - None Mild Moderate Moderate to severe Severe
- 3. During the past 6 months have you been a very nervous person?
  - None of the time A little of the time Some of the time Most of the time All of the time
- 4. If you had to spend the rest of your life with your back shape as it is right now, how would you feel about it? Very happy Somewhat happy
Neither happy nor unhappy Somewhat unhappy Very unhappy

- 5. What is your current level of activity? Bedridden
  - Primarily no activity Light labor and light sports Moderate labor and moderate sports Full activities without restriction
- 6. How do you look in clothes?
  - Very good Good Fair Bad Very bad
- 7. In the past 6 months have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?
  - Very often Often Sometimes Rarely Never
- 8. Do you experience back pain when at rest?
  - Very often Often Sometimes Rarely Never
- 9. What is your current level of work/school activity?
  - 100% normal 75% normal 50% normal 25% normal 0% normal

- 10. Which of the following best describes the appearance of your trunk; defined as the humanbody except for the head and extremities?
  - Very good Good Fair Poor Very Poor
- 11. Which one of the following best describes your pain medication use for back pain?
   None
   Non-narcotics weekly or less (e.g., aspirin, Tylenol, Ibuprofen)

Non-narcotics daily Narcotics weekly or less (e.g. Tylenol III, Lorcet, Percocet) Narcotics daily

- 12. Does your back limit your ability to do things around the house?
  - Never Rarely Sometimes Often Very Often
- 13. Have you felt calm and peaceful during the past 6 months?
  - All of the time Most of the time Some of the time A little of the time None of the time
- 14. Do you feel that your back condition affects your personal relationships?
  - None Slightly Mildly Moderately Severely
- 15. Are you and/or your family experiencing financial difficulties because of your back? Severely Moderately

Mildly Slightly None

- 16. In the past 6 months have you felt down hearted and blue?
  - Never Rarely Sometimes Often Very often
- 17. In the last 3 months have you taken any days off of work, including household work, or schoolbecause of back pain?
  - O days 1 day 2 days 3 days 4 or more days
- 18. Does your back condition limit your going out with friends/family?
  - Never Rarely Sometimes Often Very often
- 19. Do you feel attractive with your current back condition?
  - Yes, very Yes, somewhat Neither attractive nor unattractive No, not very much No, not at all
- 20. Have you been a happy person during the past 6 months? None of the time A little of the time Some of the time Most of the time All of the time

- 21. Are you satisfied with the results of your back management? Very satisfied Satisfied Neither satisfied nor unsatisfied Unsatisfied Very unsatisfied
- 22. Would you have the same management again if you had the same condition? Definitely yes Probably yes Not sure Probably not Definitely not

Thank you for completing this questionnaire. Please comment if you wish.

END

# THE ARABIC VERSION OF SRS-22r

المعّدل في 11/12 /03	انبي في العمود الفقري /الَجَنَف:	استبيان مريض الميلان الج إصدار رقع 22
العمر:		اسم المريض/ المريضة: التاريخ:
6 أشهر سنةسنة	العلاج 3 أشهر	السجل الطبي#: الفحص: ما قبل
ختيار الجواب الأفضل لكل سؤال ما لم يُشر لخلاف ذلك.	مالة ظَّهرك قبل وبعد العلاج. الرجاء إ	يقوم أطبائك بتقييم دقيق ل
	يّة	جميع النتائج سوف تبقى سر
معرت به خلال الستة أشهر الماضية:	ة تصف بشكل أفضل مدى الألم الذي ش	1- أي من الإحتمالات التالي
	□ معتدل إلى حاد □ حاد	□ لم أشعر بالألم □ □ خفيف □ معتدل
للعرت به خلال الشهر الماضي؟	<b>ة تصف بشكل أفضل مدى الألم الذي ش</b> <ul> <li>□ معتدل إلى حاد</li> <li>□ حاد</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>2- أي من الإحتمالات التالي</li> <li>۵ أشعر بالألم</li> <li>۵ خفيف</li> <li>۵ معتدل</li> </ul>
	ستة الماضية عصبيًا/عصبية جًدا؟ <ul> <li>في ولا وقت</li> <li>في كل الأوقات</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>3- هل كنت خلال الأشهر ال <ul> <li>ي معظم الأوقات</li> <li>ي أوقات قليلة</li> <li>ي بعض الأوقات</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
ى، كيف يكون شعورك عندنذ ؟	ي بقية حياتك مع الشكل الحالي لظهر ل	4- إذا كان عليك أن تمضر
	<ul> <li>سعید جدا</li> <li>سعید إلى حد ما</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>غیر سعید إلى حد ما</li> <li>غیر سعید أبدا</li> </ul>

 <sub>]</sub> لا سعيد و لا حزين	

5- ما هو مستوى نشاطك الحالى؟ 🛽 طريح/ طريحة الفراش / كرسي متحرك الانشاط أساسا العمل الخفيف كالأعمال المنز لية 🗋 أشغال يدوية معتدلة ورياضات معتدلة كالمشي وركوب الدراجات 🗆 النشاطات كافة بدون قبود 6- كيف يبدو مظهرك مرتديا/مرتدية ملابسك؟ 🗆 جيد جدا 🗆 جيد 🗆 مقبول 🗆 غير جيد ے غیر جید جدا 7- هل شعرت فى الأشهر الستة الماضية بالإحباط إلى حد لا يمكن لشيئ أن يشرح صدرك؟ 🗆 نادً را فى كثير من الأحيان أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أ
 أأ
 أ
 أأ
 أأ
 أأ
 أأ
 أأ
 أأ
 أأ
 أأ
 □ أىدا □ أحبانًا 8- هل تشعر / تشعرين بالألم في ظهرك عند الجلوس او الإستلقاء ؟ 🗆 نادً را ے غالبًا جدا 🗆 غالبًا 🗆 ابدا احيانًا 9- ما هو المستوى الحالى لنشاطك فى العمل/ المدرسة? □ طبيعي 25% 🗆 طبيعي 100% 🗆 طبيعي 0% 🗆 طبيعي 75% 🗆 طبيعي 50% 10- الظهر هو جسم الإنسان باستثناء الرأس والأطراف ;أي من الإحتمالات التالية تصف بطريقة أفضل شكل ظهرك؟ 🗆 جيد جدا 🗆 سىء 🗆 سيء جدا 🗆 جيد 🗆 مقبول 11- أي من الإحتمالات التالية تصف بشكل أفضل استخدامك للدواء لأجل ظهرك؟ 🗆 لا شيئ أدوية غير مخدرة أسبوعيًا أو أقل (مثلا بار اسيتامول كتايلانول و لإبروفان) 🗆 أدوية غير مخدرة يومياً 🗆 ادوية مخدرة أسبوعيًا أو أقل (مثلا كوداي، نيو-كوداي، ألغا-كوداين، دفالغان – كوداين، بركوست) ادوية مخ درة يوميًا مختلف (الرجاء التحديد أدناه) الدواء :

كيفية الإستعمال (أسبوعيًا أو أقل أو يوميًا): 12- هل يحد ظهرك من قدرتك على القيام بأعمال منزلية؟ 🗆 غالبًا 🗆 أبدا 🗆 ناد ً را ے غالبًا جدا □ أحيانًا 13- هل شعرت بالهدوء والسكينة خلال الستة أشهر الماضية؟ ا فى أوقات قليلة ا في كل الأوقات ا في معظم الأوقات 🗆 في و لا وقت فى بعض الأوقات 14 - هل تشعر/ تشعرين أن حالة ظهرك تؤثر على علاقاتك الشخصية؟ 🗆 بشکل معتدل 🗆 أبدا 🗆 بشکل طفیف 🗆 بشکل حاد قليلاً 15- هل تعانى /تعانين أنت او أحد افراد عايُلتك من صعوبات مادية بسبب حالة ظهرك؟ 🗆 طفيفة 🗆 حادة □ لا صعوبات □ معتدلة 🗆 خفيفة 16- هل شعرت بالإحباط او بالإنقباض خلال الأشهر الستة الماضية؟ □ غالبًا 🗆 أبدا أدً را
 أحيانًا ے غالبًا جدا 17- هل أخذت خلال الأشهر الثلاثة الماضية إجازة مرضية من العمل /المدرسة بسبب ألم في ظهرك؟ إذا كان الأمر كذلك حدد/ حددى عدد الأيام: 🗆 4 أو أكثر 3 □ 1 🗆 2 🗆 0 🗆 18- هل تتنزه/ تتنزهين أكثر أو أقل من أصدقائك؟ 🗆 اقل 🗆 أكثر بكثير 🗆 أقل بكثير □ أكثر 🗆 بالتساوي 19- هل تشعر/ تشعرين أنك جذاب/ جذابة فى حالة ظهرك الحالية؟ الا، ليس كثيرا 🗆 نعم، کثیرا 🗆 لا، غير جذاب أبدا 🗆 نعم، إلى حد ما ال جذاب و لا غير جذاب 20- هل كنت سعيدا/سعيدة في الأشهر السنة الأخيرة؟ في معظم الأوقات 🗆 في ولا وقت

- ا في كل الأوقات 🛛 في أوقات قليلة
  - ا في بعض الأوقات

# 21- هل أنت راضي/ راضية عن نتايُج علاج ظهرك؟

راض جدا
 راض جدا
 راض
 راض
 لا راض ولا غير راضٍ

# 22- هل كنت ستتبع/ ستتبعين العلاج ذاته إذا مررت بنفس الحالة مجدًدا؟

على الأرجح لا	🗆 بالاکید بعم
بالتأكيد لا	🛯 على الأرجح نعم
	🗆 ليس بالتأكيد

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

#### 1. Berge C.

Heterochronic processes in human evolution: an ontogenetic analysis of the hominid pelvis. Am J Phys Anthropol. 1998 Apr;105(4):441-59.

#### 2. Upasani VV, Tis J, Bastrom T, Pawelek J, Marks M, Lonner B, et al.

Analysis of sagittal alignment in thoracic and thoracolumbar curves in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: how do these two curve types differ? Spine. 2007 May 20;32(12):1355-9.

#### 3. Post M, Verdun S, Roussouly P, Abelin–Genevois K.

New sagittal classification of AIS: validation by 3D characterization. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2019 Mar;28(3):551-8.

#### 4. Pasha S, Baldwin K.

Preoperative Sagittal Spinal Profile of Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis Lenke Types and Non-Scoliotic Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Spine. 2019 Jan 15;44(2):134-42.

## 5. Bess S, Boachie-Adjei O, Burton D, Cunningham M, Shaffrey C, Shelokov A, et al.

Pain and disability determine treatment modality for older patients with adult scoliosis, while deformity guides treatment for younger patients. Spine. 2009 Sep 15;34(20):2186-90.

#### 6. Cheng I, Kim Y, Gupta MC, Bridwell KH, Hurford RK, Lee SS, et al.

Apical sublaminar wires versus pedicle screws--which provides better results for surgical correction of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis? Spine. 2005 Sep 15;30(18):2104-12.

#### 7. Glassman SD, Berven S, Bridwell K, Horton W, Dimar JR.

Correlation of radiographic parameters and clinical symptoms in adult scoliosis. Spine. 2005 Mar 15;30(6):682-8.

#### 8. Duval-Beaupère G, Schmidt C, Cosson P. A

Barycentremetric study of the sagittal shape of spine and pelvis: the conditions required for an economic standing position. Ann Biomed Eng. 1992;20(4):451-62.

# 9. Legaye J, Duval-Beaupère G, Hecquet J, Marty C.

Pelvic incidence: a fundamental pelvic parameter for three-dimensional regulation of spinal sagittal curves.

Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 1998;7(2):99-103.

#### 10. Roussouly P, Gollogly S, Noseda O, Berthonnaud E, Dimnet J.

The vertical projection of the sum of the ground reactive forces of a standing patient is not the same as the C7 plumb line: a radiographic study of the sagittal alignment of 153 asymptomatic volunteers. Spine. 2006 May 15;31(11):E320-325.

## 11. Lafage R, Ferrero E, Henry JK, Challier V, Diebo B, Liabaud B, et al.

Validation of a new computer-assisted tool to measure spino-pelvic parameters. Spine J. 2015 Dec 1;15(12):2493-502.

# 12. Fleiderman Valenzuela JG, Cirillo Totera JI, Turkieltaub DH, Echaurren CV, Álvarez Lemos FL, Arriagada Ramos FI.

Spino-pelvic radiological parameters: Comparison of measurements obtained by radiologists using the traditional method versus spine surgeons using a semi-automated software (Surgimap). Acta Radiol Open. 2023 May 1;12(5):20584601231177404.

#### 13. Haidar RK, Kassak K, Masrouha K, Ibrahim K, Mhaidli H.

Reliability and validity of an adapted Arabic version of the Scoliosis Research Society-22r Questionnaire. Spine. 2015 Sep 1;40(17):E971-977.

#### 14. Mac-Thiong JM, Labelle H, Berthonnaud E, Betz RR, Roussouly P.

Sagittal spinopelvic balance in normal children and adolescents. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2007 Feb;16(2):227-34.

#### 15. Berthonnaud E, Dimnet J, Roussouly P, Labelle H.

Analysis of the sagittal balance of the spine and pelvis using shape and orientation parameters. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2005 Feb;18(1):40-7.

#### 16. Roussouly P, Nnadi C.

Sagittal plane deformity: an overview of interpretation and management. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2010 Nov;19(11):1824-36.

#### 17. Roussouly P, Berthonnaud E, Dimnet J.

[Geometrical and mechanical analysis of lumbar lordosis in an asymptomatic population: proposed classification]. Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot. 2003 Nov;89(7):632-9.

#### 18. Descamps H, Commare-Nordmann MC, Marty C, Hecquet J, Duval-Beaupere G.

Modifications des angles pelviens, dont l'incidence, au cours de la croissance humaine. In: Biométrie humaine et anthropologie [Internet]. 1999 [cited 2023 May 18]. p. 59-63. Available from: http://pascalfrancis inist fr/vibad/index.php?action=getRecordDetail&idt=1267950

francis.inist.fr/vibad/index.php?action=getRecordDetail&idt=1267950

## 19. Chanplakorn P, Wongsak S, Woratanarat P, Wajanavisit W, Laohacharoensombat W.

Lumbopelvic alignment on standing lateral radiograph of adult volunteers and the classification in the sagittal alignment of lumbar spine. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 May;20(5):706-12.

## 20. Roussouly P, Pinheiro-Franco JL.

**Biomechanical analysis of the spino-pelvic organization and adaptation in** pathology. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):609–18.

## 21. Schwab F, Lafage V, Patel A, Farcy JP.

Sagittal plane considerations and the pelvis in the adult patient. Spine. 2009 Aug 1;34(17):1828-33

## 22. Kessel L.

The physiology of the joints. Volume 3. The trunk and the vertebral column. I. A. Kapandji, Paris. Second edition.  $275 \times 220$  mm. Pp. 251, with 397 illustrations. 1974. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone. £4. BJS Br J Surg. 1975;62(5):419-419.

## 23. Palastanga N, Field D, Soames R.

6 - The head, neck and trunk. In: Palastanga N, Field D, Soames R, editors. Anatomy and Human Movement (Second Edition) [Internet]. Butterworth-Heinemann; 1994 [cited 2023 May 23]. p. 589-793. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780750609708500125

# 24. Boos N, Weissbach S, Rohrbach H, Weiler C, Spratt KF, Nerlich AG.

Classification of age-related changes in lumbar intervertebral discs: 2002 Volvo Award in basic science. Spine. 2002 Dec 1;27(23):2631-44.

#### 25. Pezowicz CA, Robertson PA, Broom ND.

Intralamellar relationships within the collagenous architecture of the annulus fibrosus imaged in its fully hydrated state. J Anat. 2005 Oct;207(4):299-312.

# 26. Niosi CA, Oxland TR.

Degenerative mechanics of the lumbar spine. Spine J Off J North Am Spine Soc. 2004;4(6 Suppl):202S-208S.

# 27. Rawls A, Fisher RE.

Development and Functional Anatomy of the Spine. In: Kusumi K, Dunwoodie SL, editors. The Genetics and Development of Scoliosis [Internet]. New York, NY: Springer; 2010 [cited 2023 May 18]. p. 21-46. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1406-4\_2

#### 28. Marketos SG, Skiadas P.

Hippocrates. The father of spine surgery. Spine. 1999 Jul 1;24(13):1381-7.

## 29. Vasiliadis ES, Grivas TB, Kaspiris A.

Historical overview of spinal deformities in ancient Greece. Scoliosis. 2009 Feb 25;4:6.

**30.** Marketos SG, Skiadas PK. Galen: a pioneer of spine research. Spine. 1999 Nov 15;24(22):2358-62.

## 31. Burwell RG.

Aetiology of idiopathic scoliosis: current concepts. Pediatr Rehabil. 2003;6(3-4):137-70.

## 32. Staheli LT.

Fundamentals of Pediatric Orthopedics. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008. 320 p.

Weinstein SL, Dolan LA, Cheng JCY, Danielsson A, Morcuende JA.
 Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Lancet Lond Engl. 2008 May 3;371(9623):1527-37.

# 34. Scoliosis Research Society [Internet].

[cited 2023 May 23]. Available from: https://www.srs.org/

35. Brink RC, Schlösser TPC, Colo D, Vavruch L, van Stralen M, Vincken KL, et al.

Anterior Spinal Overgrowth Is the Result of the Scoliotic Mechanism and Is Located in the Disc. Spine. 2017 Jun 1;42(11):818-22.

#### 36. Dickson RA, Lawton JO, Archer IA, Butt WP.

The pathogenesis of idiopathic scoliosis. Biplanar spinal asymmetry. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1984 Jan;66(1):8-15.

#### 37. Guo X, Chau WW, Chan YL, Cheng JCY.

Relative anterior spinal overgrowth in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Results of disproportionate endochondral-membranous bone growth. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2003 Sep;85(7):1026-31.

#### 38. Moramarco M, Weiss HR.

Congenital Scoliosis. Curr Pediatr Rev. 2015 Nov 17;

# 39. Vialle R, Thévenin-Lemoine C, Mary P.

Neuromuscular scoliosis. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res OTSR. 2013 Feb;99(1 Suppl):S124-139.

### 40. Nachemson AL, Sahlstrand T.

Etiologic Factors in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis. Spine. 1977 Sep;2(3):176.

## 41. Burwell RG, Cole AA, Cook TA, Grivas TB, Kiel AW, Moulton A, et al.

Pathogenesis of idiopathic scoliosis. The Nottingham concept. Acta Orthop Belg. 1992;58 Suppl 1:33-58.

#### 42. Grivas TB, Burwell RG, Purdue M, Webb JK, Moulton A.

A segmental analysis of thoracic shape in chest radiographs of children. Changes related to spinal level, age, sex, side and significance for lung growth and scoliosis. J Anat. 1991 Oct;178:21-38.

## 43. Burwell RG, Aujla RK, Grevitt MP, Dangerfield PH, Moulton A, Randell TL, et al.

Pathogenesis of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis in girls – a double neuro-osseous theory involving disharmony between two nervous systems, somatic and autonomic expressed in the spine and trunk: possible dependency on sympathetic nervous system and hormones with implications for medical therapy. Scoliosis. 2009 Oct 31;4:24.

#### 44. Grivas TB, Samelis P, Chadziargiropoulos T, Polyzois B.

Study of the rib cage deformity in children with 10 degrees-20 degrees of Cobb angle late onset idiopathic scoliosis, using rib-vertebra angles--aetiologic implications. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2002;91:20-4.

#### 45. Schlösser TPC, van der Heijden GJMG, Versteeg AL, Castelein RM.

How 'Idiopathic' Is Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis? A Systematic Review on Associated Abnormalities. PLoS ONE. 2014 May 12;9(5):e97461.

#### 46. Janicki JA, Alman B.

Scoliosis: Review of diagnosis and treatment. Paediatr Child Health. 2007 Nov;12(9):771-6.

#### 47. Burton MS.

Diagnosis and treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Pediatr Ann. 2013 Nov;42(11):224-8.

# 48. Hresko MT.

Clinical practice. Idiopathic scoliosis in adolescents. N Engl J Med. 2013 Feb 28;368(9):834-41.

# 49. Weinstein SL. Natural history.

Spine. 1999 Dec 15;24(24):2592-600.

#### 50. Grivas TB, Dangas S, Polyzois BD, Samelis P.

The Double Rib Contour Sign (DRCS) in lateral spinal radiographs: aetiologic implications for scoliosis. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2002;88:38-43.

#### 51. Feldman DS, Straight JJ, Badra MI, Mohaideen A, Madan SS.

Evaluation of an algorithmic approach to pediatric back pain. J Pediatr Orthop. 2006;26(3):353-7.

#### 52. Carpineta L, Labelle H.

Evidence of three-dimensional variability in scoliotic curves. Clin Orthop. 2003 Jul;(412):139-48.

#### 53. Luk KDK, Vidyadhara S, Lu DS, Wong YW, Cheung WY, Cheung KMC.

Coupling between sagittal and frontal plane deformity correction in idiopathic thoracic scoliosis and its relationship with postoperative sagittal alignment. Spine. 2010 May 15;35(11):1158-64.

#### 54. Barnes D, Stemper BD, Yogananan N, Baisden JL, Pintar FA.

Normal coupling behavior between axial rotation and lateral bending in the lumbar spine - biomed 2009. Biomed Sci Instrum. 2009;45:131-6.

#### 55. Eyvazov K, Samartzis D, Cheung JPY.

The association of lumbar curve magnitude and spinal range of motion in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a cross-sectional study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017 Jan 31;18(1):51.

#### 56. Mac-Thiong JM, Labelle H, Charlebois M, Huot MP, de Guise JA.

Sagittal plane analysis of the spine and pelvis in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis according to the coronal curve type. Spine. 2003 Jul 1;28(13):1404–9.

#### 57. Cheung JPY.

The importance of sagittal balance in adult scoliosis surgery. Ann Transl Med. 2020 Jan;8(2):35.

#### 58. Katsuura A, Hukuda S, Saruhashi Y, Mori K.

Kyphotic malalignment after anterior cervical fusion is one of the factors promoting the degenerative process in adjacent intervertebral levels. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2001 Aug;10(4):320-4.

# 59. Makino T, Kaito T, Sakai Y, Takenaka S, Yoshikawa H.

Health-related Quality of Life and Postural Changes of Spinal Alignment in Female Adolescents Associated With Back Pain in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis: A Prospective Cross-sectional Study. Spine. 2019 Jul 15;44(14):E833-40.

# 60. Cobb, Cobb J, Cobb J, Cobb J.

Outlines for the study of scoliosis. J Bone Joint Surg Am [Internet]. 1948 [cited 2023 May 18]; Available from: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Outlines-for-the-study-of-scoliosis-Cobb-Cobb/4e90f92a918301405d93fb1b90e69c1d8fffa767

# 61. Stokes IA.

Three-dimensional terminology of spinal deformity. A report presented to the Scoliosis Research Society by the Scoliosis Research Society Working Group on 3-D terminology of spinal deformity. Spine. 1994 Jan 15;19(2):236-48.

# 62. Labelle H, Aubin CE, Jackson R, Lenke L, Newton P, Parent S.

Seeing the spine in 3D: how will it change what we do? J Pediatr Orthop. 2011;31(1 Suppl):S37-45.

# 63. Abul-Kasim K, Overgaard A, Maly P, Ohlin A, Gunnarsson M, Sundgren PC.

Low-dose helical computed tomography (CT) in the perioperative workup of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Radiol. 2009 Mar;19(3):610-8.

# 64. Illés T, Tunyogi-Csapó M, Somoskeöy S.

Breakthrough in three-dimensional scoliosis diagnosis: significance of horizontal plane view and vertebra vectors. Eur Spine J. 2011 Jan;20(1):135-43.

# 65. Kalra MK, Quick P, Singh S, Sandborg M, Persson A.

Whole spine CT for evaluation of scoliosis in children: feasibility of sub-milliSievert scanning protocol. Acta Radiol Stockh Swed 1987. 2013 Mar 1;54(2):226-30.

# 66. Somoskeöy S, Tunyogi-Csapó M, Bogyó C, Illés T.

Clinical validation of coronal and sagittal spinal curve measurements based on threedimensional vertebra vector parameters. Spine J Off J North Am Spine Soc. 2012 Oct;12(10):960-8.

# 67. Al-Aubaidi Z, Lebel D, Oudjhane K, Zeller R.

Three-dimensional imaging of the spine using the EOS system: is it reliable? A comparative study using computed tomography imaging. J Pediatr Orthop Part B. 2013 Sep;22(5):409-12.

#### 68. Da G, J D, Po N.

Comparison of 3-dimensional spinal reconstruction accuracy: biplanar radiographs with EOS versus computed tomography. Spine [Internet]. 2012 Jul 15 [cited 2023 May 18];37(16). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22415001/

#### 69. Ilharreborde B, Sebag G, Skalli W, Mazda K.

Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis treated with posteromedial translation: radiologic evaluation with a 3D low-dose system. Eur Spine J. 2013 Nov;22(11):2382-91.

#### 70. Qiao J, Zhu Z, Zhu F, Wu T, Qian B, Xu L, et al.

Indication for preoperative MRI of neural axis abnormalities in patients with presumed thoracolumbar/lumbar idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Spine J. 2013 Feb;22(2):360-6.

#### 71. Davids JR, Chamberlin E, Blackhurst DW.

Indications for magnetic resonance imaging in presumed adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2004 Oct;86(10):2187-95.

#### 72. Diab M, Landman Z, Lubicky J, Dormans J, Erickson M, Richards BS, et al.

Use and outcome of MRI in the surgical treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2011 Apr 15;36(8):667-71.

#### 73. James JI, Lloyd-Roberts GC, Pilcher MF.

Infantile structural scoliosis. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1959 Nov;41-B:719-35.

#### 74. James JI.

The management of infants with scoliosis. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1975 Nov;57(4):422-9.

# 75. Ruiz G, Torres-Lugo NJ, Marrero-Ortiz P, Guzmán H, Olivella G, Ramírez N. Early-onset scoliosis: a narrative review. EFORT Open Rev. 2022 Aug 4;7(8):599-610.

#### 76. A Glossary of Scoliosis Terms D: Spine [Internet].

[cited 2023 May 18]. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/spinejournal/abstract/1976/03000/a\_glossary\_of\_scoliosis\_ter ms.8.aspx

#### 77. Horng MH, Kuok CP, Fu MJ, Lin CJ, Sun YN.

Cobb Angle Measurement of Spine from X-Ray Images Using Convolutional Neural Network. Comput Math Methods Med. 2019;2019:6357171.

#### 78. Negrini S, Grivas TB, Kotwicki T, Maruyama T, Rigo M, Weiss HR, et al.

Why do we treat adolescent idiopathic scoliosis? What we want to obtain and to avoid for our patients. SOSORT 2005 Consensus paper. Scoliosis. 2006 Apr 10;1:4.

#### 79. Lonstein JE.

Scoliosis: surgical versus nonsurgical treatment. Clin Orthop. 2006 Feb;443:248-59.

#### 80. Bunnell WP.

The natural history of idiopathic scoliosis. Clin Orthop. 1988 Apr;(229):20-5.

#### 81. Hawes MC.

Health and function of patients with untreated idiopathic scoliosis. JAMA. 2003 May 28;289(20):2644; author reply 2644-2645.

- 82. Zmurko MG, Mooney JF, Podeszwa DA, Minster GJ, Mendelow MJ, Guirgues A.
   Inter- and intraobserver variance of Cobb angle measurements with digital radiographs.
   J Surg Orthop Adv. 2003;12(4):208-13.
- 83. Mullender M, Blom N, De Kleuver M, Fock J, Hitters W, Horemans A, et al. A Dutch guideline for the treatment of scoliosis in neuromuscular disorders. Scoliosis. 2008 Sep 26;3:14.

#### 84. Ylikoski M, Tallroth K.

Measurement variations in scoliotic angle, vertebral rotation, vertebral body height, and intervertebral disc space height. J Spinal Disord. 1990 Dec;3(4):387-91.

#### 85. Carman DL, Browne RH, Birch JG.

Measurement of scoliosis and kyphosis radiographs. Intraobserver and interobserver variation. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1990 Mar;72(3):328-33.

#### 86. Morrissy RT, Goldsmith GS, Hall EC, Kehl D, Cowie GH.

Measurement of the Cobb angle on radiographs of patients who have scoliosis. Evaluation of intrinsic error. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1990 Mar;72(3):320-7.

#### 87. Goldberg MS, Poitras B, Mayo NE, Labelle H, Bourassa R, Cloutier R.

Observer variation in assessing spinal curvature and skeletal development in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 1988 Dec;13(12):1371-7.

#### 88. Langensiepen S, Semler O, Sobottke R, Fricke O, Franklin J, Schönau E, et al.

Measuring procedures to determine the Cobb angle in idiopathic scoliosis: a systematic review. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2013 Nov;22(11):2360-71.

#### 89. Ponseti IV, Friedman B.

Prognosis in idiopathic scoliosis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1950 Apr;32A(2):381-95.

#### 90. King HA.

Selection of fusion levels for posterior instrumentation and fusion in idiopathic scoliosis. Orthop Clin North Am. 1988 Apr;19(2):247-55.

#### 91. Cummings RJ, Loveless EA, Campbell J, Samelson S, Mazur JM.

Interobserver reliability and intraobserver reproducibility of the system of King et al. for the classification of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1998 Aug;80(8):1107-11.

#### 92. Lenke LG, Betz RR, Harms J, Bridwell KH, Clements DH, Lowe TG, et al.

Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a new classification to determine extent of spinal arthrodesis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2001 Aug;83(8):1169-81.

#### 93. Lenke LG, Edwards CC, Bridwell KH.

The Lenke classification of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: how it organizes curve patterns as a template to perform selective fusions of the spine. Spine. 2003 Oct 15;28(20):S199-207.

#### 94. Lenke LG, Betz RR, Clements D, Merola A, Haher T, Lowe T, et al.

Curve prevalence of a new classification of operative adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: does classification correlate with treatment? Spine. 2002 Mar 15;27(6):604-11.

#### 95. Abelin-Genevois K, Sassi D, Verdun S, Roussouly P.

Sagittal classification in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: original description and therapeutic implications. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2018 Sep;27(9):2192-202.

#### 96. Negrini S, Atanasio S, Fusco C, Zaina F, Negrini A.

3-DEMO classification of scoliosis: a useful understanding of the 3(rd) dimension of the deformity. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2008;135:139-53.

#### 97. Poncet P, Dansereau J, Labelle H.

Geometric torsion in idiopathic scoliosis: three-dimensional analysis and proposal for a new classification. Spine. 2001 Oct 15;26(20):2235-43.

## 98. Duong L, Mac-Thiong JM, Cheriet F, Labelle H. Three-dimensional subclassification of Lenke type 1 scoliotic curves. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2009 Apr;22(2):135-43.

- 99. Sangole AP, Aubin CE, Labelle H, Stokes IAF, Lenke LG, Jackson R, et al. Three-dimensional classification of thoracic scoliotic curves. Spine. 2009 Jan 1;34(1):91-9.
- Stokes IAF, Sangole AP, Aubin CE.
   Classification of scoliosis deformity three-dimensional spinal shape by cluster analysis.
   Spine. 2009 Mar 15;34(6):584-90.
- 101. Donzelli S, Poma S, Balzarini L, Borboni A, Respizzi S, Villafane JH, et al. State of the art of current 3–D scoliosis classifications: a systematic review from a clinical perspective. J Neuroengineering Rehabil. 2015 Oct 16;12:91.
- 102. Johnston CE, Richards BS, Sucato DJ, Bridwell KH, Lenke LG, Erickson M, et al. Correlation of preoperative deformity magnitude and pulmonary function tests in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2011 Jun 15;36(14):1096-102.
- 103. Ledonio CGT, Rosenstein BE, Johnston CE, Regelmann WE, Nuckley DJ, Polly DW. Pulmonary function tests correlated with thoracic volumes in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Orthop Res Off Publ Orthop Res Soc. 2017 Jan;35(1):175-82.
- 104. Newton PO, Faro FD, Gollogly S, Betz RR, Lenke LG, Lowe TG. Results of preoperative pulmonary function testing of adolescents with idiopathic scoliosis. A study of six hundred and thirty-one patients. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2005 Sep;87(9):1937-46.
- 105. Teles AR, St-Georges M, Abduljabbar F, Simões L, Jiang F, Saran N, et al. Back pain in adolescents with idiopathic scoliosis: the contribution of morphological and psychological factors. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2020 Aug;29(8):1959-71.

#### 106. Théroux J, Stomski N, Hodgetts CJ, Ballard A, Khadra C, Le May S, et al.

Prevalence of low back pain in adolescents with idiopathic scoliosis: a systematic review. Chiropr Man Ther. 2017;25:10.

#### 107. Yaszay B, Bastrom TP, Bartley CE, Parent S, Newton PO.

The effects of the three-dimensional deformity of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis on pulmonary function. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2017 Jun;26(6):1658-64.

#### 108. Wong AYL, Samartzis D, Cheung PWH, Cheung JPY.

How Common Is Back Pain and What Biopsychosocial Factors Are Associated With Back Pain in Patients With Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis? Clin Orthop. 2019 Apr;477(4):676-86.

109. Choudhry MN, Ahmad Z, Verma R. Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis. Open Orthop J. 2016;10:143-54.

#### 110. El-Hawary R, Chukwunyerenwa C.

Update on evaluation and treatment of scoliosis. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2014 Dec;61(6):1223-41.

#### 111. Wagner SC, Lehman RA, Lenke LG.

Surgical management of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Semin Spine Surg. 2015 Mar 1;27(1):33-8.

#### 112. Majdouline Y, Aubin CE, Robitaille M, Sarwark JF, Labelle H.

Scoliosis correction objectives in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Pediatr Orthop. 2007;27(7):775-81.

# 113. Bridwell KH. Surgical treatment of idiopathic adolescent scoliosis. Spine. 1999 Dec 15;24(24):2607-16.

#### 114. Sud A, Tsirikos Al.

Current concepts and controversies on adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: Part II. Indian J Orthop. 2013;47(3):219-29.

#### 115. Hwang SW, Samdani AF, Tantorski M, Cahill P, Nydick J, Fine A, et al.

Cervical sagittal plane decompensation after surgery for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: an effect imparted by postoperative thoracic hypokyphosis. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011 Nov;15(5):491-6.

### 116. Young E, Regan C, Currier BL, Yaszemski MJ, Larson AN.

At Mean 30-Year Follow-Up, Cervical Spine Disease Is Common and Associated with Thoracic Hypokyphosis after Pediatric Treatment of Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis. J Clin Med. 2022 Oct 14;11(20):6064.

# 117. Abelin-Genevois K, Estivalezes E, Briot J, Sévely A, Sales de Gauzy J, Swider P. Spino-pelvic alignment influences disc hydration properties after AIS surgery: a prospective MRI-based study. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2015 Jun;24(6):1183-90.

#### 118. Gioia G, Dubousset J, M'Rabet A.

Treatment of adolescent scoliosis by the Cotrel-Dubousset method. Ital J Orthop Traumatol. 1987 Dec;13(4):509-16.

#### 119. Suk SI, Lee SM, Chung ER, Kim JH, Kim SS.

Selective thoracic fusion with segmental pedicle screw fixation in the treatment of thoracic idiopathic scoliosis: more than 5-year follow-up. Spine. 2005 Jul 15;30(14):1602-9.

#### 120. Shah SA. Derotation of the spine. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2007 Apr;18(2):339-45.

#### 121. Suk SI, Lee CK, Kim WJ, Chung YJ, Park YB.

Segmental pedicle screw fixation in the treatment of thoracic idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 1995 Jun 15;20(12):1399-405.

# 122. Dubousset J, Cotrel Y.

Application technique of Cotrel-Dubousset instrumentation for scoliosis deformities. Clin Orthop. 1991 Mar;(264):103-10.

#### 123. Dubousset J, Cotrel Y.

[CD-instrumentation in the treatment of spinal deformities]. Orthopade. 1989 Apr;18(2):118-27.

#### 124. de Kleuver M, Lewis SJ, Germscheid NM, Kamper SJ, Alanay A, Berven SH, et al.

Optimal surgical care for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: an international consensus. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2014 Dec;23(12):2603-18.

#### 125. Acaroglu E, Doany M, Cetin E, Castelein R.

Correction of rotational deformity and restoration of thoracic kyphosis are inversely related in posterior surgery for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Med Hypotheses. 2019 Dec;133:109396.

#### 126. Addai D, Zarkos J, Bowey AJ.

Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Childs Nerv Syst ChNS Off J Int Soc Pediatr Neurosurg. 2020 Jun;36(6):1111-9.

#### 127. Dobbs MB, Lenke LG, Kim YJ, Luhmann SJ, Bridwell KH.

Anterior/posterior spinal instrumentation versus posterior instrumentation alone for the treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliotic curves more than 90 degrees. Spine. 2006 Sep 15;31(20):2386-91.

#### 128. Luhmann SJ, Lenke LG, Kim YJ, Bridwell KH, Schootman M.

Thoracic adolescent idiopathic scoliosis curves between 70 degrees and 100 degrees: is anterior release necessary? Spine. 2005 Sep 15;30(18):2061-7.

#### 129. McMaster MJ.

Luque rod instrumentation in the treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. A comparative study with Harrington instrumentation. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1991 Nov;73(6):982-9.

- 130. Lowenstein JE, Matsumoto H, Vitale MG, Weidenbaum M, Gomez JA, Lee FYI, et al. Coronal and sagittal plane correction in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a comparison between all pedicle screw versus hybrid thoracic hook lumbar screw constructs. Spine. 2007 Feb 15;32(4):448-52.
- 131. Watanabe K, Nakamura T, Iwanami A, Hosogane N, Tsuji T, Ishii K, et al. Vertebral derotation in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis causes hypokyphosis of the thoracic spine. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012 Jun 12;13:99.
- 132. Sucato DJ, Agrawal S, O'Brien MF, Lowe TG, Richards SB, Lenke L. Restoration of thoracic kyphosis after operative treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a multicenter comparison of three surgical approaches. Spine. 2008 Nov 15;33(24):2630-6.
- 133. Lonner BS, Lazar-Antman MA, Sponseller PD, Shah SA, Newton PO, Betz R, et al. Multivariate analysis of factors associated with kyphosis maintenance in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2012 Jul 1;37(15):1297-302.

## 134. Newton PO, Yaszay B, Upasani VV, Pawelek JB, Bastrom TP, Lenke LG, et al. Preservation of thoracic kyphosis is critical to maintain lumbar lordosis in the surgical

treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2010 Jun 15;35(14):1365-70.

## 135. Yilmaz G, Borkhuu B, Dhawale AA, Oto M, Littleton AG, Mason DE, et al. Comparative analysis of hook, hybrid, and pedicle screw instrumentation in the posterior treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Pediatr Orthop. 2012;32(5):490-9.

#### 136. Ferrero E, Pesenti S, Blondel B, Jouve JL, Mazda K, Ilharreborde B.

Role of thoracoscopy for the sagittal correction of hypokyphotic adolescent idiopathic scoliosis patients. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2014 Dec;23(12):2635-42.

#### 137. La Rosa G, Giglio G, Oggiano L.

The Universal Clamp hybrid system: a safe technique to correct deformity and restore kyphosis in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2013 Nov;22 Suppl 6(Suppl 6):S823-828.

#### 138. Kim YJ, Lenke LG, Kim J, Bridwell KH, Cho SK, Cheh G, et al

. Comparative analysis of pedicle screw versus hybrid instrumentation in posterior spinal fusion of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2006 Feb 1;31(3):291-8.

#### 139. Daffner SD, Beimesch CF, Wang JC.

Geographic and demographic variability of cost and surgical treatment of idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2010 May 15;35(11):1165-9.

#### 140. Vora V, Crawford A, Babekhir N, Boachie-Adjei O, Lenke L, Peskin M, et al.

A pedicle screw construct gives an enhanced posterior correction of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis when compared with other constructs: myth or reality. Spine. 2007 Aug 1;32(17):1869-74.

#### 141. Clement JL, Chau E, Kimkpe C, Vallade MJ.

Restoration of thoracic kyphosis by posterior instrumentation in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: comparative radiographic analysis of two methods of reduction. Spine. 2008 Jun 15;33(14):1579-87.

#### 142. de Jonge T, Dubousset JF, Illés T. Sagittal plane correction in idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2002 Apr 1;27(7):754-60.

#### 143. Fletcher ND, Hopkins J, McClung A, Browne R, Sucato DJ.

Residual thoracic hypokyphosis after posterior spinal fusion and instrumentation in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: risk factors and clinical ramifications. Spine. 2012 Feb 1;37(3):200-6.

#### 144. Barrey C, Jund J, Noseda O, Roussouly P.

Équilibre sagittal pelvi-rachidien et pathologies lombaires dégénératives : étude comparative à propos de 100 cas. Neurochirurgie. 2005 Nov;51(5):554.

#### 145. Le Huec JC, Thompson W, Mohsinaly Y, Barrey C, Faundez A.

Sagittal balance of the spine. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2019 Sep;28(9):1889-905.

## 146. Le Huec JC, Saddiki R, Franke J, Rigal J, Aunoble S.

Equilibrium of the human body and the gravity line: the basics. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):558-63.

## 147. Ozer AF, Kaner T, Bozdogan C.

Sagittal Balance in the Spine. Turk Neurosurg [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 18];24(1). Available from: http://turkishneurosurgery.org.tr/abstract.php?lang=en&id=1279

# 148. Jackson RP, Kanemura T, Kawakami N, Hales C.

Lumbopelvic lordosis and pelvic balance on repeated standing lateral radiographs of adult volunteers and untreated patients with constant low back pain. Spine. 2000 Mar 1;25(5):575-86.

# 149. Boulay C, Tardieu C, Hecquet J, Benaim C, Mouilleseaux B, Marty C, et al.

Sagittal alignment of spine and pelvis regulated by pelvic incidence: standard values and prediction of lordosis. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2006 Apr;15(4):415-22.

#### 150. Le Huec JC, Aunoble S, Philippe L, Nicolas P.

Pelvic parameters: origin and significance. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):564-71.

# 151. Mac-Thiong JM, Berthonnaud E, Dimar JR, Betz RR, Labelle H.

Sagittal alignment of the spine and pelvis during growth. Spine. 2004 Aug 1;29(15):1642-7.

# 152. Barrey C, Roussouly P, Le Huec JC, D'Acunzi G, Perrin G.

Compensatory mechanisms contributing to keep the sagittal balance of the spine. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2013 Nov;22 Suppl 6(Suppl 6):S834-841.

# 153. Barrey C, Roussouly P, Perrin G, Le Huec JC.

Sagittal balance disorders in severe degenerative spine. Can we identify the compensatory mechanisms? Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):626-33.

#### 154. Marty C, Boisaubert B, Descamps H, Montigny J, Hecquet J, Legaye J, et al.

The sagittal anatomy of the sacrum among young adults, infants, and spondylolisthesis patients. Eur Spine J. 2002 Apr;11(2):119-25.

## 155. Pesenti S, Lafage R, Stein D, Elysee JC, Lenke LG, Schwab FJ, et al.

The Amount of Proximal Lumbar Lordosis Is Related to Pelvic Incidence. Clin Orthop. 2018 Aug;476(8):1603-11.

## 156. Morvan G, Mathieu P, Vuillemin V, Guerini H, Bossard P, Zeitoun F, et al.

Standardized way for imaging of the sagittal spinal balance. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):602-8.

# 157. Vialle R, Levassor N, Rillardon L, Templier A, Skalli W, Guigui P. Radiographic analysis of the sagittal alignment and balance of the spine in asymptomatic subjects. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2005 Feb;87(2):260-7.

## 158. Schwab F, Patel A, Ungar B, Farcy JP, Lafage V. Adult spinal deformity-postoperative standing imbalance: how much can you tolerate? An overview of key parameters in assessing alignment and planning corrective surgery. Spine. 2010 Dec 1;35(25):2224-31.

# 159. Van Royen BJ, Toussaint HM, Kingma I, Bot SD, Caspers M, Harlaar J, et al.

Accuracy of the sagittal vertical axis in a standing lateral radiograph as a measurement of balance in spinal deformities. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 1998;7(5):408-12.

## 160. Van Royen BJ, De Gast A, Smit TH. Deformity planning for sagittal plane corrective osteotomies of the spine in ankylosing spondylitis. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2000 Dec;9(6):492-8.

### 161. Le Huec JC, Demezon H, Aunoble S.

Sagittal parameters of global cervical balance using EOS imaging: normative values from a prospective cohort of asymptomatic volunteers. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2015 Jan;24(1):63-71.

## 162. Jackson RP, McManus AC.

Radiographic analysis of sagittal plane alignment and balance in standing volunteers and patients with low back pain matched for age, sex, and size. A prospective controlled clinical study. Spine. 1994 Jul 15;19(14):1611-8.

## 163. Roussouly P, Pinheiro-Franco JL.

Sagittal parameters of the spine: biomechanical approach. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):578-85.

# 164. Roussouly P, Gollogly S, Berthonnaud E, Dimnet J.

Classification of the normal variation in the sagittal alignment of the human lumbar spine and pelvis in the standing position. Spine. 2005 Feb 1;30(3):346-53.

## 165. Legaye J, Duval-Beaupère G.

Sagittal plane alignment of the spine and gravity: a radiological and clinical evaluation. Acta Orthop Belg. 2005 Apr;71(2):213-20.

# 166. Mac-Thiong JM, Labelle H, Roussouly P.

Pediatric sagittal alignment. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):586-90.

# 167. Schwab F, Ungar B, Blondel B, Buchowski J, Coe J, Deinlein D, et al.

Scoliosis Research Society-Schwab adult spinal deformity classification: a validation study. Spine. 2012 May 20;37(12):1077-82.

# 168. Lafage V, Schwab F, Patel A, Hawkinson N, Farcy JP.

Pelvic tilt and truncal inclination: two key radiographic parameters in the setting of adults with spinal deformity. Spine. 2009 Aug 1;34(17):E599-606.

# 169. Glassman SD, Coseo MP, Carreon LY.

Sagittal balance is more than just alignment: why PJK remains an unresolved problem. Scoliosis Spinal Disord. 2016;11:1.

#### 170. Diebo BG, Varghese JJ, Lafage R, Schwab FJ, Lafage V.

Sagittal alignment of the spine: What do you need to know? Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2015 Dec;139:295-301.

#### 171. Le Huec JC, Charosky S, Barrey C, Rigal J, Aunoble S.

Sagittal imbalance cascade for simple degenerative spine and consequences: algorithm of decision for appropriate treatment. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Sep;20 Suppl 5(Suppl 5):699-703.

#### 172. Schwab FJ, Hawkinson N, Lafage V, Smith JS, Hart R, Mundis G, et al.

Risk factors for major peri-operative complications in adult spinal deformity surgery: a multi-center review of 953 consecutive patients. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2012 Dec;21(12):2603-10.

#### 173. Gelb DE, Lenke LG, Bridwell KH, Blanke K, McEnery KW.

An analysis of sagittal spinal alignment in 100 asymptomatic middle and older aged volunteers. Spine. 1995 Jun 15;20(12):1351-8.

#### 174. Hyun SJ, Han S, Kim YB, Kim YJ, Kang GB, Cheong JY.

Predictive formula of ideal lumbar lordosis and lower lumbar lordosis determined by individual pelvic incidence in asymptomatic elderly population. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2019 Sep;28(9):1906-13.

#### 175. Glassman SD, Bridwell K, Dimar JR, Horton W, Berven S, Schwab F.

The impact of positive sagittal balance in adult spinal deformity. Spine. 2005 Sep 15;30(18):2024-9.

#### 176. Schwab FJ, Blondel B, Bess S, Hostin R, Shaffrey CI, Smith JS, et al.

Radiographical spinopelvic parameters and disability in the setting of adult spinal deformity: a prospective multicenter analysis. Spine. 2013 Jun 1;38(13):E803-812.

# 177. Terran J, Schwab F, Shaffrey CI, Smith JS, Devos P, Ames CP, et al.

The SRS-Schwab adult spinal deformity classification: assessment and clinical correlations based on a prospective operative and nonoperative cohort. Neurosurgery. 2013 Oct;73(4):559-68.

# 178. Protopsaltis T, Schwab F, Bronsard N, Smith JS, Klineberg E, Mundis G, et al. TheT1 pelvic angle, a novel radiographic measure of global sagittal deformity, accounts for both spinal inclination and pelvic tilt and correlates with health-related quality of life. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014 Oct 1;96(19):1631-40.

## 179. Lazennec JY, Ramaré S, Arafati N, Laudet CG, Gorin M, Roger B, et al.

Sagittal alignment in lumbosacral fusion: relations between radiological parameters and pain. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2000 Feb;9(1):47-55.

## 180. Vaz G, Roussouly P, Berthonnaud E, Dimnet J.

Sagittal morphology and equilibrium of pelvis and spine. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2002 Feb;11(1):80-7.

## 181. Laouissat F, Sebaaly A, Gehrchen M, Roussouly P.

Classification of normal sagittal spine alignment: refounding the Roussouly classification. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2018 Aug;27(8):2002-11.

## 182. Bess S, Line B, Fu KM, McCarthy I, Lafage V, Schwab F, et al.

The Health Impact of Symptomatic Adult Spinal Deformity: Comparison of Deformity Types to United States Population Norms and Chronic Diseases. Spine. 2016 Feb;41(3):224-33.

183. Pellisé F, Vila-Casademunt A, Ferrer M, Domingo-Sàbat M, Bagó J, Pérez-Grueso FJS, et al.

Impact on health related quality of life of adult spinal deformity (ASD) compared with other chronic conditions. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2015 Jan;24(1):3-11.

# 184. Roussouly P, Labelle H, Rouissi J, Bodin A.

Pre- and post-operative sagittal balance in idiopathic scoliosis: a comparison over the ages of two cohorts of 132 adolescents and 52 adults. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2013 Mar;22 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S203-215.

# 185. Rothenfluh DA, Stratton A, Nnadi C, Beresford-Cleary N.

A critical thoracic kyphosis is required to prevent sagittal plane deterioration in selective thoracic fusions in Lenke I and II AIS. Eur Spine J. 2019 Dec 1;28(12):3066-75.

186. Pratali R de R, Hennemann SA, Amaral R, Silva LECT da, Carvalho MOP de, Daher MT, et al. STANDARDIZED TERMINOLOGY OF ADULT SPINE DEFORMITY FOR BRAZILIAN PORTUGUESE. Coluna/Columna. 2015 Dec;14:281-5.

#### 187. Pratali RDR, Luz CDO, Barsotti CEG, Dos Santos FPE, De Oliveira CEAS.

Analysis of sagittal balance and spinopelvic parameters in a brazilian population sample. Coluna/Columna. 2014;13:108-11.

#### 188. Yang C, Wei X, Zhang J, Wu D, Zhao Y, Wang C, et al.

All-pedicle-screw versus hybrid hook-screw instrumentation for posterior spinal correction surgery in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a curve flexibility matched-pair study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2012 May;132(5):633-9.

#### 189. Hwang SW, Samdani AF, Wormser B, Amin H, Kimball JS, Ames RJ, et al.

Comparison of 5-year outcomes between pedicle screw and hybrid constructs in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Neurosurg Spine. 2012 Sep;17(3):212-9.

#### 190. Crawford AH, Lykissas MG, Gao X, Eismann E, Anadio J.

All-pedicle screw versus hybrid instrumentation in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis surgery: a comparative radiographical study with a minimum 2-Year follow-up. Spine. 2013 Jun 15;38(14):1199-208.

#### 191. Wang W, Zhu Z, Zhu F, Sun C, Wang Z, Sun X, et al.

Different curve pattern and other radiographical characteristics in male and female patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2012 Aug 15;37(18):1586-92.

#### 192. Min K, Sdzuy C, Farshad M.

**Posterior correction of thoracic adolescent idiopathic scoliosis with pedicle screw instrumentation**: results of 48 patients with minimal 10-year follow-up. Eur Spine J. 2013 Feb;22(2):345-54.

#### 193. Davis JH, Dunn RN.

Limited pedicle screw constructs in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis surgery and clinical correlation. SA Orthop J. 2013 Jan;12(1):17-21.

#### 194. Ilharreborde B.

Sagittal balance and idiopathic scoliosis: does final sagittal alignment influence outcomes, degeneration rate or failure rate? Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2018 Feb;27(Suppl 1):48-58.

#### 195. lida T, Suzuki N, Kono K, Ohyama Y, Imura J, Ato A, et al.

Minimum 20 Years Long-term Clinical Outcome After Spinal Fusion and Instrumentation for Scoliosis: Comparison of the SRS-22 Patient Questionnaire With That in Nonscoliosis Group. Spine. 2015 Aug 15;40(16):E922-928.

#### 196. Yong MRNO, Izatt MT, Adam CJ, Labrom RD, Askin GN.

Secondary curve behavior in Lenke type 1C adolescent idiopathic scoliosis after thoracoscopic selective anterior thoracic fusion. Spine. 2012 Nov 1;37(23):1965-74.

#### 197. Izatt MT, Adam CJ, Verzin EJ, Labrom RD, Askin GN.

CT and radiographic analysis of sagittal profile changes following thoracoscopic anterior scoliosis surgery. Scoliosis. 2012 Aug 22;7:15.

#### 198. Zhu F, Qiu Y, Yeung HY, Lee KM, Cheng JCY.

Histomorphometric study of the spinal growth plates in idiopathic scoliosis and congenital scoliosis. Pediatr Int Off J Jpn Pediatr Soc. 2006 Dec;48(6):591-8.

#### 199. Liljenqvist UR, Link TM, Halm HF.

Morphometric analysis of thoracic and lumbar vertebrae in idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2000 May 15;25(10):1247-53.

#### 200. Liljenqvist UR, Allkemper T, Hackenberg L, Link TM, Steinbeck J, Halm HFH.

Analysis of vertebral morphology in idiopathic scoliosis with use of magnetic resonance imaging and multiplanar reconstruction. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2002 Mar;84(3):359-68.

#### 201. Archer IA, Dickson RA.

Stature and idiopathic scoliosis. A prospective study. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1985 Mar;67(2):185-8.

#### 202. Clément JL, Chau E, Vallade MJ, Geoffray A.

Simultaneous translation on two rods is an effective method for correction of hypokyphosis in AIS: radiographic results of 24 hypokyphotic thoracic scoliosis with 2 years minimum follow-up. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2011 Jul;20(7):1149-56.

#### 203. Blondel B, Lafage V, Schwab F, Farcy JP, Bollini G, Jouve JL.

Reciprocal sagittal alignment changes after posterior fusion in the setting of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Spine J. 2012 Oct;21(10):1964-71.

#### 204. Dumpa SR, Shetty AP, Aiyer SN, Kanna RM, Rajasekaran S.

Reciprocal Changes in Sagittal Alignment in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis Patients Following Strategic Pedicle Screw Fixation. Asian Spine J. 2018 Apr;12(2):300-8.

#### 205. Park SJ, Lee CS, Lee KJ, Lee JW, Park JS.

Analysis of the Change Patterns of Sagittal Alignment Values After Selective Thoracic Fusion in Lenke 1 Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis According to Preoperative Thoracic Kyphosis Status. Clin Spine Surg. 2020 Aug;33(7):E352-8.

#### 206. Jackson RP, Peterson MD, McManus AC, Hales C.

Compensatory spinopelvic balance over the hip axis and better reliability in measuring lordosis to the pelvic radius on standing lateral radiographs of adult volunteers and patients. Spine. 1998 Aug 15;23(16):1750-67.

#### 207. Xu XM, Wang F, Zhou XY, Liu ZX, Wei XZ, Bai YS, et al.

Sagittal Balance in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis: A Radiographic Study of Spinopelvic Compensation After Selective Posterior Fusion of Thoracolumbar/Lumbar (Lenke 5C) Curves. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015 Nov;94(45):e1995.

#### 208. Di Silvestre M, Lolli F, Bakaloudis G, Maredi E, Vommaro F, Pastorelli F.

Apical vertebral derotation in the posterior treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: myth or reality? Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2013 Feb;22(2):313-23.

#### 209. Clement JL, Chau E, Geoffray A, Vallade MJ.

Simultaneous translation on two rods to treat adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: radiographic results in coronal, sagittal, and transverse plane of a series of 62 patients with a minimum follow-up of two years. Spine. 2012 Feb 1;37(3):184-92.

#### 210. Ogawa H, Hori H, Oshita H, Akaike A, Koyama Y, Shimizu T, et al.

Sublaminar wiring stabilization to prevent adjacent segment degeneration after lumbar spinal fusion. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2009 Jul;129(7):873-8.

#### 211. Ilharreborde B, Pesenti S, Ferrero E, Accadbled F, Jouve JL, De Gauzy JS, et al.

Correction of hypokyphosis in thoracic adolescent idiopathic scoliosis using sublaminar bands: a 3D multicenter study. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2018 Feb;27(2):350-7.

#### 212. Pesenti S, Chalopin A, Peltier E, Choufani E, Ollivier M, Fuentes S, et al.

How Sublaminar Bands Affect Postoperative Sagittal Alignment in AIS Patients with Preoperative Hypokyphosis? Results of a Series of 34 Patients with 2–Year Follow–Up. BioMed Res Int. 2016;2016:1954712.

#### 213. Jouve JL, de Gauzy JS, Blondel B, Launay F, Accadbled F, Bollini G.

Use of the Universal Clamp for deformity correction and as an adjunct to fusion: preliminary results in scoliosis. J Child Orthop. 2010 Feb;4(1):73-80.

214. Sales de Gauzy J, Jouve JL, Ilharreborde B, Blondel B, Accadbled F, Mazda K. Use of the Universal Clamp in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2014 Jul;23 Suppl 4:S446-451.

#### 215. Mazda K, Ilharreborde B, Even J, Lefevre Y, Fitoussi F, Penneçot GF.

Efficacy and safety of posteromedial translation for correction of thoracic curves in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis using a new connection to the spine: the Universal Clamp. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2009 Feb;18(2):158-69.

#### 216. Asher M, Lai SM, Burton D, Manna B, Cooper A.

Safety and efficacy of Isola instrumentation and arthrodesis for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: two- to 12-year follow-up. Spine. 2004 Sep 15;29(18):2013-23.

#### 217. Imrie M, Yaszay B, Bastrom TP, Wenger DR, Newton PO.

Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: should 100% correction be the goal? J Pediatr Orthop. 2011;31(1 Suppl):S9-13.

218. Ilharreborde B, Even J, Lefevre Y, Fitoussi F, Presedo A, Penneçot GF, et al. Hybrid constructs for tridimensional correction of the thoracic spine in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a comparative analysis of universal clamps versus hooks. Spine. 2010 Feb 1;35(3):306-14.

#### 219. Schlösser TPC, Shah SA, Reichard SJ, Rogers K, Vincken KL, Castelein RM.

Differences in early sagittal plane alignment between thoracic and lumbar adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine J Off J North Am Spine Soc. 2014 Feb 1;14(2):282-90.

#### 220. Tanguay F, Mac-Thiong JM, de Guise JA, Labelle H.

Relation between the sagittal pelvic and lumbar spine geometries following surgical correction of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Spine J. 2007 Apr;16(4):531-6.

#### 221. Yong Q, Zhen L, Zezhang Z, Bangping Q, Feng Z, Tao W, et al.

Comparison of sagittal spinopelvic alignment in Chinese adolescents with and without idiopathic thoracic scoliosis. Spine. 2012 May 20;37(12):E714-720.

## 222. La Maida GA, Zottarelli L, Mineo GV, Misaggi B.

Sagittal balance in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: radiographic study of spino-pelvic compensation after surgery. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2013 Nov;22 Suppl 6(Suppl 6):S859-867.

## 223. Smith JS, Klineberg E, Schwab F, Shaffrey CI, Moal B, Ames CP, et al.

Change in classification grade by the SRS-Schwab Adult Spinal Deformity Classification predicts impact on health-related quality of life measures: prospective analysis of operative and nonoperative treatment. Spine. 2013 Sep 1;38(19):1663-71.

## 224. Sudo H, Ito M, Abe Y, Abumi K, Takahata M, Nagahama K, et al.

Surgical treatment of Lenke 1 thoracic adolescent idiopathic scoliosis with maintenance of kyphosis using the simultaneous double-rod rotation technique. Spine. 2014 Jun 15;39(14):1163-9.

## 225. hong J, Cao K, Wang B, Li H, Zhou X, Xu X, et al.

Incidence and Risk Factors for Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis After Correction Surgery: A Meta-Analysis. World Neurosurg. 2019 May 1;125:e326-35.

## 226. Ferrero E, Bocahut N, Lefevre Y, Roussouly P, Pesenti S, Lakhal W, et al.

Proximal junctional kyphosis in thoracic adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: risk factors and compensatory mechanisms in a multicenter national cohort. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2018 Sep;27(9):2241-50.

# 227. Kim YJ, Lenke LG, Bridwell KH, Kim J, Cho SK, Cheh G, et al.

Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis After 3 Different Types of Posterior Segmental Spinal Instrumentation and Fusions: Incidence and Risk Factor Analysis of 410 Cases. Spine. 2007 Nov 15;32(24):2731.

# 228. Rhee JM, Bridwell KH, Won DS, Lenke LG, Chotigavanichaya C, Hanson DS.

Sagittal plane analysis of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: the effect of anterior versus posterior instrumentation. Spine. 2002 Nov 1;27(21):2350-6.

# 229. Lee GA, Betz RR, Clements DH, Huss GK.

Proximal kyphosis after posterior spinal fusion in patients with idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 1999 Apr 15;24(8):795-9.

## 230. Wang J, Yang N, Luo M, Xia L, Li N.

Large Difference Between Proximal Junctional Angle and Rod Contouring Angle is a Risk Factor for Proximal Junctional Kyphosis. World Neurosurg. 2020 Apr 1;136:e683-9.

# 231. Helgeson MD, Shah SA, Newton PO, Clements DH, Betz RR, Marks MC, et al.

Evaluation of proximal junctional kyphosis in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis following pedicle screw, hook, or hybrid instrumentation. Spine. 2010 Jan 15;35(2):177-81.

# 232. Kim HJ, Yang JH, Chang DG, Suk SI, Suh SW, Kim JS, et al.

Incidence and Radiological Risk Factors of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis Following Pedicle Screw Instrumentation with Rod Derotation and Direct Vertebral Rotation: A Minimum 5-Year Follow-Up Study. J Clin Med. 2021 Nov 17;10(22):5351.

# 233. Yan C, Li Y, Yu Z.

Prevalence and Consequences of the Proximal Junctional Kyphosis After Spinal Deformity Surgery. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016 May 20;95(20):e3471.

# 234. Lonner BS, Ren Y, Newton PO, Shah SA, Samdani AF, Shufflebarger HL, et al.

Risk Factors of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis—The Pelvis and Other Considerations. Spine Deform. 2017 May 1;5(3):181-8.

# 235. Ohrt-Nissen S, Dahl B, Gehrchen M.

Choice of Rods in Surgical Treatment of Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis: What Are the Clinical Implications of Biomechanical Properties? – A Review of the Literature. Neurospine. 2018 Jun;15(2):123–30.

# 236. Glattes RC, Bridwell KH, Lenke LG, Kim YJ, Rinella A, Edwards C.

Proximal junctional kyphosis in adult spinal deformity following long instrumented posterior spinal fusion: incidence, outcomes, and risk factor analysis. Spine. 2005 Jul 15;30(14):1643-9.

# 237. Kim YJ, Bridwell KH, Lenke LG, Kim J, Cho SK.

Proximal junctional kyphosis in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis following segmental posterior spinal instrumentation and fusion: minimum 5-year follow-up. Spine. 2005 Sep 15;30(18):2045-50.

# 238. D'Andrea LP, Betz RR, Lenke LG, Clements DH, Lowe TG, Merola A, et al.

Do radiographic parameters correlate with clinical outcomes in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis? Spine. 2000 Jul 15;25(14):1795-802.

### 239. Wilson PL, Newton PO, Wenger DR, Haher T, Merola A, Lenke L, et al.

A multicenter study analyzing the relationship of a standardized radiographic scoring system of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis and the Scoliosis Research Society outcomes instrument. Spine. 2002 Sep 15;27(18):2036-40.

#### 240. Haher TR, Gorup JM, Shin TM, Homel P, Merola AA, Grogan DP, et al.

Results of the Scoliosis Research Society instrument for evaluation of surgical outcome in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. A multicenter study of 244 patients. Spine. 1999 Jul 15;24(14):1435-40.

## 241. Merola AA, Haher TR, Brkaric M, Panagopoulos G, Mathur S, Kohani O, et al.

A multicenter study of the outcomes of the surgical treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis using the Scoliosis Research Society (SRS) outcome instrument. Spine. 2002 Sep 15;27(18):2046-51.

## 242. Danielsson AJ.

What impact does spinal deformity correction for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis make on quality of life? Spine. 2007 Sep 1;32(19 Suppl):S101-108.

## 243. Asher M, Min Lai S, Burton D, Manna B.

The reliability and concurrent validity of the scoliosis research society-22 patient questionnaire for idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2003 Jan 1;28(1):63-9.

# 244. Crawford CH, Glassman SD, Bridwell KH, Berven SH, Carreon LY.

The minimum clinically important difference in SRS-22R total score, appearance, activity and pain domains after surgical treatment of adult spinal deformity. Spine. 2015 Mar 15;40(6):377-81.

# 245. Berliner JL, Verma K, Lonner BS, Penn PU, Bharucha NJ.

Discriminative validity of the Scoliosis Research Society 22 questionnaire among five curve-severity subgroups of adolescents with idiopathic scoliosis. Spine J Off J North Am Spine Soc. 2013 Feb;13(2):127-33.

# 246. Lai SM, Asher M, Burton D.

Estimating SRS-22 quality of life measures with SF-36: application in idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2006 Feb 15;31(4):473-8.

#### 247. Sabbah I, Drouby N, Sabbah S, Retel-Rude N, Mercier M.

Quality of Life in rural and urban populations in Lebanon using SF-36 Health Survey. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2003 Aug 6;1:30.
## 248. Mariconda M, Andolfi C, Cerbasi S, Servodidio V.

Effect of surgical correction of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis on the quality of life: a prospective study with a minimum 5-year follow-up. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2016 Oct;25(10):3331-40.

249. Scoliosis Surgical Treatment Outcomes With Relevance Of Quality Of Life (qol), Through Srs22; Clinical Recovery, Psycho-social Status And Management Satisfaction, IJSR – International Journal of Scientific Research(IJSR), IJSR | World Wide Journals [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 23]. Available from: https://www.worldwidejournals.com/internationaljournal-of-scientific-research-(IJSR)/article/scoliosis-surgical-treatment-outcomeswith-relevance-of-quality-of-life-qol-through-srs22-clinical-recoverypsychoandndash-social-status-and-managementsatisfaction/NzUyNg==/?is=1&b1=129&k=33

## 250. Hisam M, Siti N, Jou N, Ghaneshinee S, Shaharuddin A, Azmi B, et al.

Does the Quality of Life in Operated Patients with Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis correspond with the Radiographic Parameters? Malays Orthop J. 2015 Jul;9(2):37-40.

## 251. Newton PO, Parent S, Marks M, Pawelek J.

Prospective evaluation of 50 consecutive scoliosis patients surgically treated with thoracoscopic anterior instrumentation. Spine. 2005 Sep 1;30(17 Suppl):S100-109.

# 252. Lubicky JP, Hanson JE, Riley EH, Spinal Deformity Study Group.

Instrumentation constructs in pediatric patients undergoing deformity correction correlated with Scoliosis Research Society scores. Spine. 2011 Sep 15;36(20):1692-700.

# 253. Smucny M, Lubicky JP, Sanders JO, Carreon LY, Diab M.

Patient self-assessment of appearance is improved more by all pedicle screw than by hybrid constructs in surgical treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2011 Feb 1;36(3):248-54.

#### 254. Carreon LY, Sanders JO, Diab M, Sucato DJ, Sturm PF, Glassman SD, et al. The minimum clinically important difference in Scoliosis Research Society-22

The minimum clinically important difference in Scoliosis Research Society-22 Appearance, Activity, And Pain domains after surgical correction of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 2010 Nov 1;35(23):2079-83.

# 255. Ghandehari H, Mahabadi MA, Mahdavi SM, Shahsavaripour A, Seyed Tari HV, Safdari F. Evaluation of Patient Outcome and Satisfaction after Surgical Treatment of Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis Using Scoliosis Research Society-30. Arch Bone Jt Surg. 2015 Apr;3(2):109-13.

### 256. Ng BKW, Chau WW, Hui CN, Cheng PY, Wong CY, Wang B, et al.

HRQoL assessment by SRS-30 for Chinese patients with surgery for Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis (AIS). Scoliosis. 2015 Feb 11;10(2):S19.

### 257. Pellegrino LN, Avanzi O.

Prospective evaluation of quality of life in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis before and after surgery. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2014 Dec;27(8):409-14.

#### 258. Le Berre M, Guyot MA, Agnani O, Bourdeauducq I, Versyp MC, Donze C, et al.

Clinical balance tests, proprioceptive system and adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc. 2017 Jun;26(6):1638-44.

#### 259. Pasha S, Ilharreborde B, Baldwin K.

Sagittal Spinopelvic Alignment After Posterior Spinal Fusion in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Spine. 2019 Jan 1;44(1):41-52.



وأن أكونَ عَلى الدوَام من وسائِل رحمة الله، باذلة رِعَايَتي الطبية للقريب والبعيد،

للصالح والطالح، والصديق والعدو.

وأن أثابر على طلب العلم، وأسَخِّرَه لِنَفْعِ الإِنْسَان لا لأذَاه. وأن أُوَقِّرَ مَن عَلَّمَني، وأُعَلَّمَ مَن يَصْغرَني، وأكون أختَ لِكُلِّ زَميلٍ في المِهنَةِ الطِّبِّيَة مُتعَاونِينَ عَلى البرِّ والتقوى.

وأن تكون حياتي مِصْدَاق إيمَاني في سِرّي وَعَلانيَتي، نَقِيَّة مِمّا يُشينهَا تَجَاهَ الله وَرَسُولِهِ وَالمؤمِنِين. والله على ما أقول شهيدا



أطروحة رقم 285

سنة 2023